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I. COMMISSION BACKGROUND  
 

A. History and Mission of the Texas Forensic Science Commission  

The Texas Forensic Science Commission (“Commission”) was created during the 79th 

Legislative Session in 2005 with the passage of HB-1068.  The Act amended the Code of Criminal 

Procedure to add Article 38.01, which describes the composition and authority of the 

Commission.1  During subsequent legislative sessions, the Texas Legislature further amended the 

Code of Criminal Procedure to clarify and expand the Commission’s jurisdictional responsibilities 

and authority.2  

The Commission has nine members appointed by the Governor of Texas.3 Seven of the 

nine commissioners are scientists or medical doctors and two are attorneys (one prosecutor 

nominated by the Texas District and County Attorney’s Association and one criminal defense 

attorney nominated by the Texas Criminal Defense Lawyer’s Association).4 The Commission’s 

Presiding Officer is Jeffrey Barnard, MD. Dr. Barnard is the Chief Medical Examiner of Dallas 

County and Director of the Southwestern Institute of Forensic Sciences in Dallas. 

B. Commission Jurisdiction 

1. Investigations of Professional Negligence and Professional Misconduct 
Resulting from Laboratory Self-Disclosures 
 

Texas law requires the Commission to “investigate in a timely manner, any allegation of 

professional negligence or professional misconduct that would substantially affect the integrity of: 

(A) the results of a forensic analysis conducted by a crime laboratory;  

(B) an examination or test that is conducted by a crime laboratory and that is a 
forensic examination or test not subject to accreditation; or  

 
1 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01. 
2 See e.g., Acts 2013, 83rd Leg. ch. 782 (S.B. 1238) §§ 1-4 (2013); Acts 2015, 84th Leg. ch. 1276 (S.B. 1287) §§ 1-
7 (2015); TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art 38.01 § 4-a(b). 
3 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 3. 
4 Id.  
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(C) testimony related to an analysis, examination, or test described by paragraph  
      (A) or (B).”5   
 
The term “forensic analysis” is defined as a medical, chemical, toxicological, ballistic, or 

other examination or test performed on physical evidence, including DNA evidence, for the 

purpose of determining the connection of the evidence to a criminal action.6  

Crime laboratories must report professional negligence or professional misconduct to the 

Commission.7 The statute does not define the terms “professional negligence” and “professional 

misconduct.” The Commission defined those terms in its administrative rules.8 

“Professional misconduct” means the forensic analyst or crime laboratory, through 
a material act or omission, deliberately failed to follow the standard of practice that 
an ordinary forensic analyst or crime laboratory would have followed, and the 
deliberate act or omission would substantially affect the integrity of the results of a 
forensic analysis. An act or omission was deliberate if the forensic analyst or crime 
laboratory was aware of and consciously disregarded an accepted standard of 
practice required for a forensic analysis.  
 
“Professional negligence” means the forensic analyst or crime laboratory, through 
a material act or omission, negligently failed to follow the standard of practice that 
an ordinary forensic analyst or crime laboratory would have followed, and the 
negligent act or omission would substantially affect the integrity of the results of a 
forensic analysis. An act or omission was negligent if the forensic analyst or crime 
laboratory should have been but was not aware of an accepted standard of practice. 
 

2. Accreditation Jurisdiction 
 

The Commission is charged with accrediting crime laboratories and other entities that 

conduct forensic analyses of physical evidence.9  The term “crime laboratory” includes a public or 

 
5 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4(a)(3). 
6 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC.  art. 38.35(a)(4). 
7 Id. at § 4(a)(1)-(2) (2019).  (Pursuant to the Forensic Analyst Licensing Program Code of Professional 
Responsibility, members of crime lab management shall make timely and full disclosure to the Texas Forensic 
Science Commission of any non-conformance that may rise to the level of professional negligence or professional 
misconduct.) See, 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.219(c)(5) (2018). 
8 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.302 (7) and (8) (2020). 
9 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC.  art. 38.01 § 4-d(b). 



3 

private laboratory or other entity that conducts a forensic analysis subject to article 38.35 of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure.10

Though this report does not directly address accreditation matters, it is the first report that 

will be included in the TFSC-specific checklist against which all accredited laboratories will be 

assessed beginning in 2023. Of the ten recommendations issued in Section IX of this report, three 

have application across all laboratories subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction. To facilitate 

implementation of those with broad impact, a link to a proposed accreditation checklist for the 

universally applicable recommendations is attached as Exhibit A. The intent of the checklist is to 

enable members of the quality division in laboratories to easily evaluate the recommendations in 

this report and make policy or procedural changes, if needed.  

3. Licensing Jurisdiction

Under Texas law, a person may not act or offer to act as a forensic analyst unless the person 

holds a forensic analyst license issued by the Commission.11  While accreditation is granted to 

entities that perform forensic analysis, licensing is a credential obtained by individuals who 

practice forensic analysis. The licensing program took effect on January 1, 2019. It had not yet 

been implemented at the time of the criminal trial that is the subject of this report, but it was in 

effect during the post-conviction deposition discussed in this report. 

The law defines the term “forensic analyst” as “a person who on behalf of a crime 

laboratory [accredited by the Commission] technically reviews or performs a forensic analysis or 

draws conclusions from or interprets a forensic analysis for a court or crime laboratory.”12   

10 Id. at art. 38.35(a)(1).  
11 Id. at art. 38.01 § 4-a(b); 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.201(c) (2018). 
12 Id. at art. 38.01 § 4-a(a)(2). 
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Pursuant to its licensing authority, the Commission may take disciplinary action against a 

license holder or applicant for a license on a determination by the Commission that a license holder 

or applicant for a license committed professional misconduct or violated Texas Code of Criminal 

Procedure Article 38.01 or an administrative rule or other order by the Commission.13  If the 

Commission determines a license holder committed professional misconduct or violated an 

administrative rule or order by the Commission, the Commission may: (1) revoke or suspend the 

person’s license; (2) refuse to renew the person’s license; (3) reprimand the license holder; or (4) 

deny the person a license.14  The Commission may place on probation a person whose license is 

suspended.15  Disciplinary proceedings and the process for appealing a disciplinary action by the 

Commission are governed by the Judicial Branch Certification Commission.16 

4. Jurisdiction Applicable to the Disclosures  
 

Testimony related to the accredited discipline of forensic biology is subject to the 

investigative authority of the Commission.17  The two disclosing crime laboratories (Houston 

Forensic Science Center (“HFSC”) and Texas Department of Public Safety (“DPS”) are accredited 

by the Commission and the ANSI-ASQ National Accreditation Board (“ANAB”) under 

International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) standard 17025: 2017, and are subject to 

the Commission’s authority.18 The analyst involved in the disclosures, Stephen Adam Vinson, is 

a current forensic DNA analyst license holder, licensed by the Commission since December 6, 

2018.  Mr. Vinson’s license was renewed in 2020 and expires on December 5, 2022. 

 

 
13 Id. at art. 38.01 § 4-c; 37 Tex. Admin Code § 651.216(b) (2019). 
14 37 Tex. Admin Code § 651.216(b)(1)-(4) (2019). 
15 Id. at (c). 
16 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4-c(e); 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.216(d) (2019). 
17 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4(a)(3). 
18 See, https://www.txcourts.gov/fsc/accreditation/for a list of accredited laboratories. 

https://www.txcourts.gov/fsc/accreditation/
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C. Investigative Process  

The Commission’s administrative rules set forth the process by which it determines 

whether to accept a self-disclosure for investigation as well as the process used to conduct the 

investigation.19  The Commission’s rules also describe the process for appealing final investigative 

reports by the Commission and, separately, disciplinary actions by the Commission against a 

license holder or applicant.20 

In investigating this complaint, the Commission reviewed numerous documents including 

trial and deposition transcripts, affidavits, relevant standard operating procedures, bench notes and 

related information. Commission staff had telephone conferences with the leaders of HFSC, the 

DPS laboratory system, and the Office of Capital and Forensic Writs (“OCFW”). The investigative 

panel conducted an interview with Mr. Vinson on July 1, 2022.21  

D. Limitations of this Report  

The Commission’s authority contains important limitations. For example, no finding by 

the Commission constitutes a comment upon the guilt or innocence of any individual.22 The 

Commission’s written reports are not admissible in civil or criminal actions.23 The Commission 

does not have the authority to subpoena documents or testimony; information received during any 

investigation is dependent on the willingness of affected parties to submit relevant documents and 

respond to questions posed. Information gathered in this report was not subject to standards for the 

admission of evidence in a courtroom.  For example, no individual testified under oath, was limited 

 
19 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.304-307 (2019). 
20 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.309 (2019); Id. at § 651.216 (2019). 
21 Interview decisions depend on various factors. In this case, the Commission limited witness interviews due to the 
pendency of litigation.  
22  TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4(g). 
23 Id. at § 11. 
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by either the Texas or Federal Rules of Evidence (e.g., against the admission of hearsay) or was 

subject to cross-examination under a judge’s supervision.  

II. SUMMARY OF THE SELF-DISCLOSURE(S)

This report concerns a series of three laboratory self-disclosures, the first of which was

filed on April 7, 2022 by HFSC regarding trial testimony, post-conviction deposition testimony, 

and other official statements made by forensic analyst Stephen Adam Vinson (“Vinson”). The 

statements relate to the analysis of physical evidence performed in 2013 when Vinson was 

employed as a forensic biology screener at DPS in Houston.  By the time Vinson was asked to 

testify in the case, he had left DPS and was employed as a DNA analyst with HFSC.  

HFSC reviewed Vinson’s 2017 trial testimony, his 2019 voluntary statement, and his 

September 22, 2020 post-conviction deposition testimony, and expressed concerns related to 

Vinson’s “stated practice to testify solely from his laboratory report without reviewing his bench 

notes,” as well as his candor at trial and during post-conviction proceedings.  

DPS reviewed HFSC’s self-disclosure and submitted its own Quality Incident Report 

(QIR) on June 7, 2022.  The June QIR described evidence storage anomalies, provided a cause 

analysis and risk analysis, and described re-training related to proper storage conditions as well as 

the evolution of DPS’s quality management program.  On September 6, 2022, DPS submitted a 

supplemental QIR addressing concerns related to possible DNA degradation or contamination. 

The September QIR clarified and amended earlier representations regarding possible DNA 

degradation and contamination made by DPS in response to Colone’s post-conviction writ. 
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III. CRIMINAL CASE FACTS AND RECEIPT OF EVIDENCE AT DPS HOUSTON 

In May of 2017, defendant Joseph Colone was convicted and sentenced to death for the 

2010 murder of more than one person during the same criminal transaction.  On March 2, 2022, 

the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals granted Colone post-conviction habeas relief.24   

On July 31, 2010, a masked gunman killed Mary Goodman and her 16-year-old daughter, 

Briana.  When police arrived at Mary Goodman’s home, they found her body in the front doorway 

and Briana Goodman’s body in the backyard. They also found a dark knit glove lying outside the 

doorway to the bathroom and a towel outside the home.  

The glove, towel, and other items of physical evidence from the crime scene were initially 

sent to a private laboratory (Orchid Cellmark) and were subsequently returned and stored in a 

freezer at the Jefferson County Regional Crime Laboratory from 2010 until 2013.   

On October 1, 2013, the items were transported in a Styrofoam cooler from Jefferson 

County to the DPS regional crime laboratory in Houston.  The cooler had an external sticker 

marked “refrigerate upon arrival.” DPS employees received the evidence, reviewed the submission 

form and stored the evidence at room temperature based on the description of clothing items listed 

on the submission form.  The cooler also contained extracts requiring refrigeration, but they were 

not listed on the form. Evidence handling personnel did not open the cooler, but rather placed it in 

storage at room temperature. On October 31, 2013, forensic biology screening analyst Adam 

Vinson opened the cooler and began screening the items.  

Inside the Styrofoam cooler, Vinson observed a FedEx envelope containing four 9x12 

paper envelopes, one 6x9 paper envelope, and one clear plastic bag. At the bottom of the container 

were four melted ice packs and foul-smelling liquid. Among other things, Vinson unpacked the 

 
24 Ex parte Colone, 2022 Tex. Crim. App. LEXIS 134 (Tex. Crim. App. 2022). 
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evidence, performed certain presumptive tests and collected swabs for subsequent DNA analysis.  

Vinson documented his observations about the liquid in the cooler and the screening process in his 

bench notes. He issued a report documenting the biology screening activities in November 2013. 

DNA analyst Tanya Dean then performed DNA analysis and issued a report indicating that Joseph 

Colone could not be excluded as a contributor to the DNA mixture profiles obtained from the glove 

and blue towel. 

IV. TESTIMONY AND POST-CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS 
 

A. Vinson’s Trial Testimony 

When Vinson was called to testify in Colone’s capital murder trial in May 2017, he no 

longer worked for DPS Houston and was employed as a DNA analyst for HFSC. After some 

preliminary discussions, the following colloquy about the evidence occurred at trial: 

Q.   When you received all of the items in this case, did they come to you in a 
sealed condition? 

 
A.    I believe so.  If they were not sealed, it would have been noted in my 

laboratory notes. 
 
Q:   Okay.  And just for the jury’s knowledge, in State’s Exhibit 115, right here 

we see just a white cardboard box.  We have previously referred to this last 
week as a convenience container, basically something that’s large enough 
to hold all of the evidence that an agency may be submitting. 

 
A.        Yes, ma’am. 
 
Q.   And did you come into contact with this item as is designated by your 

unique initials, the cause number and the item number? 
 
A.   Yes. 
 
Q.  And if there had been something awry with it, had it not been sealed or 

something like that, you would have noted that, but you did not in this case?  
 
A.   The Houston DPS laboratory has an evidence-receiving department.  So, 

before any analyst upstairs in the laboratory actually sees the evidence, they 
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verify that it has been shipped correctly and it’s in a proper sealed state or 
else they don’t admit it to the laboratory. 

 
Q.   Okay.  And, again, just for purposes of the record, in State’s Exhibit 93, the 

same with this convenience container, which is a Styrofoam cooler.  Do you 
see there your markings and the date, as well? 

 
A.   Yes.  Yes. 
 
Q.  Same principle applies to this piece of evidence? 
 
A.   Yes, ma’am. 
 
Vinson then described his biology screening duties including presumptive testing on 

various items of evidence.  The prosecutor asked him if he had an opportunity to review his report 

and Vinson responded, “I have not seen my report in a while.” The prosecutor responded “Gosh, 

so, you’re doing this completely off memory.” The prosecutor then offered Vinson a copy for his 

use in refreshing his memory. Vinson testified to the presumptive testing he performed, DNA 

collection activities, and trace evidence collection activities on a few additional pieces of evidence. 

The State then passed him as a witness. 

On cross-examination, Vinson testified that he would have to reference the case file with 

his notes to answer questions about the total amount of time he spent on the serology work he 

performed in the case.  When asked if there were “some notes somewhere” that would show what 

work he performed on what actual day, Vinson replied that it would be in the case file, “[b]ut I’m 

no longer an employee of the State, so I do not have access to that information.” 25 

In a post-conviction affidavit, Assistant District Attorney (ADA) Ashley Molfino stated 

the following regarding preparation for trial:  

In preparation for trial, I relied upon my historically common practice of relying 
upon the issued report and a pretrial conference. As Mr. Vinson was no longer with 
DPS at the time of the trial, I provided him a copy of his report in advance. As a 
chain of custody and serology witness his testimony was not complicated, nor was 

 
25 See, Exhibit B:  Trial Testimony of Vinson dated 5.1.17. 
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his preparation. I did not request a copy of the DPS file, nor did Mr. Vinson ask 
that I make it available to him.26  

 
B. Post-Conviction Discovery of Bench Notes  

On May 8, 2019, Colone’s conviction and death sentence were affirmed on direct appeal.27 

The trial court appointed the Office of Capital and Forensic Writs (“OCFW”) to represent Colone 

for the purpose of investigating and preparing an application for writ of habeas corpus. OCFW is 

a judicial agency that serves as the Texas post-conviction public defender.  OCFW subpoenaed the 

DPS Houston case record. DPS’s response to OCFW’s discovery request was the first time any 

attorney for Colone requested or obtained the DPS case file, including bench notes.28  

OCFW discovered that Vinson created 47 pages of detailed bench notes documenting his 

2013 examination and testing of the evidence, including notes regarding the packaging of the 

evidence as received in the laboratory.  The first page of his notes documents the condition of the 

Styrofoam cooler containing various items of evidence, viz: 

Note:  Despite stickers indicating to “refrigerate on arrival”, I pulled this item from 
a regular shelf in the vault.  The packs were room temperature, the FedEx envelope 
is damp and soggy, and there is a foul-smelling water/liquid along the bottom of 
the container.  I will inquire as to why the storage instructions clearly indicated on 
the outside of [the Styrofoam cooler] were ignored.  The liquid will be soaked up 
with paper towels and discarded.” 

 
 Vinson’s notes further document that the “damp and soggy” FedEx envelope contained, 

among other things, the black glove from the hallway, part of the blue towel from outside of the 

house, and a portion of a black sleeveless undershirt collar “from suspect” Colone, all packaged in 

separate paper envelopes.   

 
26 See, Exhibit C: Affidavit of Ashley Chase Molfino dated 10.23.19 
27 Colone v. State, 573 S.W.3d 249 (Tex. Crim. App.  2019). 
28 Post-conviction affidavits from the trial prosecutors and the trial defense attorneys all contain statements 
indicating the bench notes were not discovered, reviewed, or produced prior to the trial. 
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Vinson did not take any contemporaneous photographs of the Styrofoam cooler, the FedEx 

envelope, or individual envelopes containing items of evidence. During interviews, he explained 

that at that time, photographs were at the discretion of the analyst and would not have been taken 

in a situation like this. He also did not initiate a quality incident regarding the storage of the 

Styrofoam cooler and its contents, though he asserted during his deposition and interview with the 

Commission that he recalls having spoken with someone in the DNA section about the melted ice 

packs. He does not recall with whom he spoke but believes the conversation likely would have 

been in person and not documented in the case record.  

C.  Post-Conviction Affidavits and Vinson’s Post-Conviction Deposition Testimony 
 

OCFW filed a post-conviction writ on behalf of Colone.  The State responded to the writ 

and attached affidavits from various trial participants, including Vinson and Houston DPS DNA 

Technical Leader Andrew McWhorter.  

1. Post-Conviction Affidavit of DNA Technical Leader McWhorter 

On October 2, 2019, McWhorter executed a post-conviction affidavit on behalf of DPS.29 

Relevant portions of his affidavit will be discussed later in this report.  

2. Post-Conviction Affidavit of Vinson 

On October 10, 2019, Vinson executed a post-conviction affidavit addressing his trial 

testimony.30   He met with representatives from the Jefferson County District Attorney’s Office 

during the course of preparing his affidavit. He did not speak with anyone from DPS. In response 

to a question during his Commission interview, Vinson stated that based on his conversations with 

the Jefferson County DA’s office, he understood that McWhorter’s affidavit would be consistent 

with his own affidavit in the following respects: (1) the storage conditions at DPS did not violate 

 
29 Exhibit D:  Affidavit of Andrew McWhorter dated 10.2.19. 
30 Exhibit E:  Affidavit of Stephen Adam Vinson dated 10.10.19. 
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any DPS policies; and (2) there was no concern regarding the impact of the liquid at the bottom of 

the cooler on the DNA analysis (e.g., degradation and/or contamination) because while the FedEx 

envelope was soggy, the inner envelopes containing the evidence were dry.  

In his affidavit, Vinson explained he testified at trial based only on his report, and he did 

not review his notes before testifying.  He maintained that it was common practice for him to 

testify from his report and to only reference notes if specifically instructed to do so by the 

prosecution or the defense.  Vinson stated he reviewed the “specific case note” regarding the state 

of the evidence and that it accurately reflects the condition of the outer packaging for the evidence.  

Vinson also stated it was common practice for him to note any irregularities in his bench notes and 

recounted that he testified at Colone’s trial that irregularities would have been captured in his 

notes.  Vinson averred that “the noted irregularity does not reflect a quality issue with the evidence 

itself, only the outer packaging in which it came to the laboratory.”  Vinson further maintained 

that even if he had reviewed the bench note prior to his testimony he would not have raised the 

note to the prosecutor’s attention as it “does not affect the evidence that I screened and pertains 

only to the outer packaging….” 

Vinson acknowledged he may have failed to directly answer the prosecutor’s question 

about any irregularities on the outer packaging. However, because he noted an irregularity in his 

bench notes, Vinson maintained that he did not testify falsely.  Vinson stated his belief that the 

irregularity did not affect the evidence he was screening, so it was not noted in his report or 

otherwise addressed. Vinson took the position that had the liquid in the cooler damaged any 

evidence, he would have noted it as unsuitable for testing in his bench notes and laboratory report.  

He did not discuss the bench notes with any of the attorneys before testifying. 
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3. Vinson’s Post-Conviction Deposition Testimony 

On September 20, 2020, OCFW took the post-conviction deposition of Vinson pursuant to 

a trial court order designating several controverted and unresolved factual issues raised in Colone’s 

writ of habeas corpus. Vinson was questioned about many aspects of his trial testimony, DPS 

policies, and issues surrounding improper storage of the evidence.31  

Vinson conceded the Styrofoam cooler, and the cuttings contained therein, were not stored 

in a refrigerated environment or protected from freezer moisture by a layer of plastic. When 

questioned about the standard operating procedure requiring an analyst to note instances where 

packaging or handling of the evidence creates a potential for contamination, he disagreed that the 

FedEx envelope presented potential for contamination because “the inner items were dry in the 

FedEx envelope, and there was no mold growth on the evidence to suggest moisture had affected 

the evidence in any such way.”  Vinson acknowledged his assertions during testimony that contents 

of the FedEx envelope were dry was based solely on the absence of any notes describing the 

opposite, i.e., moisture on the items. Vinson disagreed there was any potential for contamination 

based on what he observed.  When questioned about the portion of DPS’s standard operating 

procedure stating instances of potential contamination “should be brought to the attention of the 

supervisor, other involved examiners and the investigator,” Vinson maintained the procedure did 

not apply to the contents of the FedEx envelope in this case. 

Vinson was also questioned about the DPS Laboratory Operations Guide in effect at the 

time of his analysis dealing with a Quality Action Plan procedure for a “nonconforming event”.32   

Nonconforming event is when one or more characteristics or conditions are 
observed that do not conform to required specifications, procedure, or policies.  
Examples of nonconforming events may include contamination, failed control, 

 
31 See, Exhibit F: Deposition Testimony of Stephen Adam Vinson dated 9.20.20. 
32 See, Exhibit G: DPS Laboratory Operations Guide Quality Action Plan DRN:LOG-MDL Version 32, 
effective 9.16.13. 
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observations recorded inaccurately, incorrect conclusions/interpretations, sample 
switch, sample preparation error, and unsupported conclusions. 

 
Colone’s attorney asked Vinson to agree with the basic premise that evidence labeled with an 

instruction to refrigerate should not be left unrefrigerated.  Vinson asserted the question should be 

directed to the evidence receiving department.   

 Vinson did not include information regarding the storage condition of the Styrofoam cooler 

in his report. When questioned about the portion of the DPS Laboratory Operations Guide dealing 

with Laboratory Case Reports that “communicates to law enforcement, to attorneys, prosecutors 

and other a description of the items received and tested,” Vinson maintained his report did describe 

the items received, the outer packaging, and the item of evidence that was tested.  However, the 

report did not note the FedEx envelope was damp or soggy or that there was an unidentified foul-

smelling liquid present.  Vinson stated, “[w]e do not report on the condition of our outer packaging, 

inner packaging on our laboratory reports.” Vinson further testified that including that information 

would have been inconsistent with DPS procedures.   

Vinson was asked whether it would have been prudent for the prosecutors to have him 

review his bench notes prior to trial. Vinson declined to answer the question because he is not a 

prosecutor. 

  When asked by Colone’s attorney whether DPS would have provided the bench notes to 

him for review before trial, Vinson stated that he had testified many times while working for HFSC 

and has had folders and notes requested and provided to him for testimony.  “While I don’t have 

personal access to it, I believe DPS would absolutely provide materials to me if I needed them.” 

He added, “that should have been included in a discovery request.”  

 Colone’s attorney asked Vinson to review his trial testimony regarding the packaging of 

the evidence as received.  The prosecutor first asked him about the cardboard box, stating: “[h]ad 
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there been something awry with it, had it not been sealed or something like that, you would have 

noted that, but you did not in this case, correct?”  The prosecutor then switched subjects to the 

Styrofoam cooler and asked, “the same principle applies to this piece of evidence, correct?” The 

following colloquy occurred between Colone’s attorney and Vinson regarding this discussion at 

trial: 

Q.   Did you understand the prosecutor to be asking whether anything was awry 
with the cooler at all or just that you noted it? 

 
A.  Just that I noted it. 
 
Q.   So, you’re saying she only cared about whether or not the irregularities were 

noted, not whether any actually existed? 
 
A.  Well, if they are noted, then they did exist.  So those two are the same thing, 

I believe. … 
 
Q.   Is it your understanding she only cared whether or not you noted any 

irregularities? 
 
A.   Yes, I believe so. 
 
Q.   You didn’t think she wanted to discuss any of those irregularities in front of 

the jury? 
 
A.   No.  And we had not discussed any irregularities, as I think I made clear, I 

did not review my bench notes before testimony.   
 

 The court described this interaction as an example of Vinson parsing “his trial testimony 

in a way that ignored it’s obvious significance.”33  

Colone’s attorneys questioned Vinson about certain provisions of the Texas Code of 

Professional Responsibility for Forensic Analysts and Crime Laboratory Management. The 

Commission had not yet adopted the Code at the time of Colone’s 2017 trial, but it was applicable 

when Vinson provided deposition testimony in 2020.  Vinson denied violating any Code provision. 

 
33 See, Exhibit H infra at n. 36 – Trial Court Agreed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Relating to 
Article 11.071 Writ Application at p. 29 at Paragraph 57. 
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Ultimately, Vinson acknowledged the jury never heard about the cooler being left 

unrefrigerated for a month despite the label that said, “refrigerate upon arrival.” The jury also never 

heard about the damp and soggy FedEx envelope, or the unidentified foul-smelling liquid in the 

bottom of the cooler.  Of critical importance, OCFW asked Vinson whether, if he had reviewed 

his bench notes prior to testimony, the jury could have been provided the most complete and 

accurate testimony about the condition of the evidence.  Vinson replied: 

A. Had I reviewed my case notes before, I don’t believe I would have any 
reason to mention the outer packaging in my testimony as it didn’t reflect 
or affect the results of the items that were packaged in the inner envelopes.  
I don’t believe I would have mentioned it at all. 
…. 
 

A. No, because that—again, this is not the evidence.  This is the outer 
packaging – layered outer packaging for the evidence; and the evidence 
itself was preserved in a dry state, clearly packaged and separated with no 
apparent mold growth.  I would have no reason to note that out of context. 

 
And had I had any concern for contamination, mold growth, again, there 
would have been a quality report filed; and I would not have released results 
for these items. 

 
 Vinson was shown the post-conviction affidavit executed by DPS Houston DNA Technical 

leader Andrew McWhorter.  McWhorter also testified at Colone’s trial, but his testimony was 

limited to DNA interpretation (particularly STRmix) and not the forensic biology screening 

portion of the casework.34  McWhorter stated in his affidavit that “Because Vinson did not ask for 

a copy of the case notes, he was not able to provide the most complete and accurate testimony 

regarding the condition of the evidence.“  When asked by Colone’s attorney, Vinson stated he 

disagreed with this statement by McWhorter, commenting that “Perhaps Mr. McWhorter testifies 

from his case notes.  I testify from my laboratory report.” 

 
34 While some DNA laboratories issue a single report covering the biology screening work and the DNA analysis, 
Texas DPS issues separate reports: one or more for screening and one or more for DNA results. 
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 When questioned by a prosecutor during his deposition, Vinson maintained that he did not 

testify falsely.  He explained that the FedEx envelope “was there to protect the inner envelopes,” 

which are paper and contained the evidence items.  It is common for multiple items of evidence to 

be submitted together in an outer package because they are then packaged separately in inner 

packages.  Vinson agreed with the statement that the cooler was nothing more than a convenience-

type package containing the FedEx envelope.  He explained that the FedEx envelope has a waxy 

outside to protect it from environmental conditions, and that it was properly sealed with evidence 

tape.  The prosecutor posed the following questions: 

Q:   Is there any indication that the FedEx envelope with the actual evidence in 
it had any integrity issues that would have impacted, in your professional 
opinion, the testing that was to follow? 

 
A:   No, sir. 
 
Q:   No signs that it had been penetrated at all with sogginess or mold, correct? 
 
A:   No.  And again – I didn’t observe any mold: and you know, had mold been 

present on some of the items, I would have expected it to simply degrade 
the DNA – or any possible DNA that could have been on those items.  So, 
if anything, that would have helped to, perhaps, weaken the DNA. 

 
 The prosecutor then asked Vinson whether he agreed with an assertion made in a post-

conviction affidavit by McWhorter. The assertion, as recounted by the prosecutor, was that 

degradation, if any, “can cause a contributor’s DNA to not be detected in a mixture profile; 

however, it will not cause the opposite: a person’s profile to appear in a mixture.”  Vinson agreed. 

When asked, “there was no contamination of those inner items inside that cooler, was there?” 

Vinson replied that he had no cause to believe that a contamination event had occurred.  The 

prosecutor then asked: 

Q.   Did you find – would it be safe to say that you considered the condition of 
the cooler and the lack of contamination penetration of the inner contents, 
envelopes scientifically irrelevant to any test results, then? 
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A.   Oh yes.  Absolutely. 
… 
 
A. Yes. If I felt otherwise, there would have been a quality incident associated 

with this case: and I would not have proceeded with testing the evidence. 
 

 Colone’s attorney challenged Vinson about his assertion that the FedEx envelope had a 

waxy exterior.  He explained that this was a generalization based on prior experience, not an actual 

recollection in this particular case. Vinson reiterated that he believed the FedEx envelope in the 

Colone case was damp and soggy on the outside, but the inner contents were dry because he did 

not note otherwise in the bench notes. 

D. Trial Court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

On July 12, 2021, the trial court issued agreed findings of fact and conclusions of law 

relating to Colone’s Article 11.071 Writ of Habeas Corpus.  The trial court recommended Colone’s 

conviction be vacated, and his case be remanded for a new trial.  On March 2, 2022, the Court of 

Criminal Appeals issued a published opinion granting relief and set aside Colone’s conviction.35   

In a scathing and detailed 54-page Agreed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

Relating to Article 11.071 Writ Application, the trial court examined both the trial testimony and 

post-conviction testimony of Vinson.36 In sum, the trial court found that the glove and towel found 

at the scene of the murders were the centerpiece of the State’s case and the bench notes discovered 

after trial revealed that Vinson’s trial testimony was misleading, evasive, not candid and was false.  

 

 

 
35 Ex parte Colone, 134 LEXIS 1 (Tex. Crim. App. 2022). 
36 (See, Exhibit H – Trial Court Agreed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Relating to Article 11.071 
Writ Application, Ex parte Joseph Colone, Cause No 10-10213-A, In the 252nd District Court of Jefferson County, 
Texas, dated 7.12.21). 
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V. COMMISSION INVESTIGATION 
 

At its April 22, 2022, quarterly meeting, the Commission voted to form an investigative 

panel (“Panel”) to assist in determining whether information contained in the disclosures are 

supported by the facts and circumstances, available data, and related documentation.  The Panel 

included Bruce Budowle, Ph.D.,37 Nancy Downing, Ph.D., and Elected District Attorney Jarvis 

Parsons. 

A. Investigative Notice and Interview Request 

The Commission notified Vinson it accepted the complaint for investigation on April 29, 

2022.38  On June 1, 2022, the Commission extended Vinson an opportunity to interview with the 

Panel.39 Vinson accepted the interview request and was interviewed on July 1, 2022. 

B. Information Gathering and Document Review 

During the investigation, Commission staff spoke with Chief of the Crime Laboratory 

Division Brady Mills (DPS) and President and CEO Peter Stout (HFSC) regarding the disclosures 

and follow-up questions and/or information requests.  The Commission restricted collateral 

witness interviews due to the pendency of litigation.  Staff also reviewed the following materials: 

• Trial Court Findings and Facts and Conclusions of Law 

• Court of Criminal Appeals Opinion in Colone case 

• Trial Transcripts Related to Biology/DNA testing in the Colone case. 

• Post-Conviction Affidavits by Vinson and various other witnesses 

• Post-Conviction Deposition Testimony of Vinson and various other witnesses 

• Relevant DPS and HFSC Standard Operating Procedures 

 
37 Dr. Budowle retired from his position at UNTHSC/CHI and relocated to another state. Due to changed residency, 
his appointment, which expired on September 1, 2022, could not be extended by Governor Abbott. 
38 Exhibit I: Investigative Notice to Vinson dated 4.29.22.   
39 Exhibit J: Interview Request to Vinson dated 6.1.22.   
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• DPS casefile related to Colone criminal case 

• Quality documents associated with the original error and subsequent testimony 

• Additional unrelated testimony provided by Vinson while employed with HFSC. 

• Training materials on Commission report issued re: State of Texas v. Criner.  

C.  Interview of Stephen Adam Vinson 

The Panel interviewed Vinson on July 1, 2022. His demeanor was cooperative. He 

expressed an increased capacity for introspection and a greater willingness to concede error than 

he had during his deposition. 

VI. COMMISSION FINDINGS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 

Following are the Commission’s observations regarding Vinson’s actions and inactions at 

trial and during post-conviction proceedings. 

A. Vinson was professionally negligent when he appeared at trial unprepared.  

Vinson appeared at trial without a copy of his laboratory report. When asked, he admitted, 

“I have not seen my report in a while.” The prosecutor responded “Gosh, so, you’re doing this 

completely off memory,” and offered Vinson a copy for use in refreshing his recollection. Vinson 

also did not review the case record in preparation for trial, and he defended his decision not to 

review the record all the way through the post-conviction deposition.  

At the time of Colone’s trial, there was no standard expressly stating that adequate 

preparation for trial required a forensic biology screening analyst to review his report recently 

enough to be able to speak about it in an informed manner, nor was there a standard expressly 

stating that a forensic biology screening analyst needed to review a case record before testifying. 

However, there was an expectation in the accrediting body’s guiding principles that analysts 

present accurate and complete information in testimony. HFSC’s “Conduct Expectations” 
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provided a similar expectation: “Staff members have a moral obligation to see to it that others in 

the criminal justice system understand the evidence as it exists and to present it in an impartial 

manner.”40  

The Commission believes most, if not all, forensic analysts in Texas would consider it self-

evident that one cannot possibly comply with the expectations articulated by ANAB and HFSC 

without basic preparation. Vinson was aware the case was a capital murder in which a mother and 

her young daughter were killed. The State sought the death penalty. It is hard to imagine more 

serious stakes in any criminal proceeding than those present in this case.  

The Commission understands there is a range of what may constitute adequate preparation 

depending on the case, the forensic discipline, and the role of the analyst who performed the work. 

However, under no circumstances should an analyst walk into a courtroom without reviewing their 

report and without making every effort to review the case file. The Commission recognizes that 

Vinson met with the trial prosecutor at some point before trial, but the discussion during trial 

revealed that time had passed between that meeting and Vinson’s testimony—so much so that he 

was “speaking from memory” until the prosecutor handed him her copy of his report.  

Extensive experience testifying may cause an analyst to become complacent in pre-trial 

preparation.  It is also possible that individuals whose role is limited to biology screening may 

perceive the more “important” aspects of the case to sit with the DNA analysis itself. In this case, 

Vinson appears to have underestimated the importance of his role as a screening analyst.  It is 

imperative that analysts have full command of the work performed regardless of where they fall 

within the analytical process. It is also imperative that everyone (including the attorneys) 

 
40 See, Exhibit K:  HFSC Conduct Expectations Policy, Document ID 8340, issued 2.9.17. 
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appreciate that the forensic biology screening component of a case is no less important than the 

DNA analysis. 

The Commission finds Vinson committed professional negligence in failing to prepare 

adequately for trial. The fact that he walked into the courtroom without a timely review of his 

laboratory report or the case record demonstrates a failure to treat the proceedings with the 

solemnity they deserved. To ensure there is no ambiguity regarding expectations for trial 

preparation in Texas laboratories going forward, the Commission provides a specific 

recommendation regarding this issue in Section IX below.  

B. Vinson was professionally negligent in failing to acknowledge during trial that 
he had not reviewed the bench notes in response to the prosecutor’s question 
regarding what he would have done had something been “awry.”  

 
The compound questions posed by the prosecutor at trial regarding the condition of the 

evidence were not ideal, but Vinson’s trial testimony regarding the Styrofoam cooler was 

incomplete and therefore misleading.  He testified that “the same principle applies” to the cooler 

that applied to a white cardboard box convenience container, namely: “had there been something 

awry with it” he would have documented in it his case notes but he “did not in this case.”  The 

truth is Vinson had not reviewed his case notes and did not remember the condition of the evidence.  

Offering the statement anyway was careless and misleading because, as the court concluded, a 

juror could have easily understood his testimony to mean that he did not document anything awry 

in his bench notes when in fact the opposite is true.41  Once Vinson realized that he did not have 

actual knowledge sufficient to respond to the prosecutor’s inquiries in a complete and 

 
41 The term “false testimony” used by the court and the CCA in this case has legal significance that falls within the 
court’s sole province; Vinson’s overall credibility during testimony as characterized by the court and the CCA, are 
beyond the scope of this report. 
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straightforward manner, it was his obligation to inform the parties he just did not know because he 

had not reviewed the file, instead of offering incomplete and misleading testimony.   

Vinson was asked a question on cross-examination regarding whether there were “some 

notes somewhere” that would detail what work he did on a particular day.  He answered: “Yes.  It 

would be in our case file.”  Vinson then added, “But I’m no longer an employee of the State, so I 

do not have access to that information.” This statement by Vinson was factually inaccurate.  DPS 

would have given a copy of the case file to Vinson had he asked for it, a fact he later admitted 

during his post-conviction deposition. Advising the parties to essentially “check his notes” is 

insufficient and inconsistent with his duties as a forensic analyst. 

During his interview, Vinson indicated that he believed someone in the case (other than 

him) would have looked at the case record and raised concerns had they been present, such as the 

attorneys for either side. He was disturbed that Colone’s defense counsel either never sought or 

never received discovery of the case record. “The defense has every right to question everything I 

do, and if I could do it differently, I would want to make sure they had that opportunity.” The 

Commission is unsure why it took until OCFW’s post-conviction appointment for the case file to 

finally be reviewed by the state or the defense. But this gap in lawyering, however disappointing, 

does not relieve Vinson of the duty to admit that what he was saying was not based on actual 

knowledge but rather a series of “check my notes” assumptions. 

C. Vinson committed professional misconduct and violated the Code of Professional 
Responsibility by refusing to acknowledge the impact of his failure to prepare 
when given the opportunity to do so. 

 
Between the Colone trial and Vinson’s September 2020 post-conviction deposition, 

expectations for forensic analysts evolved significantly. By the time Vinson was deposed, he was 

licensed as a DNA analyst and the Code of Professional Responsibility for Forensic Analysts and 



   
 

24 
 

Crime Laboratory Management was adopted by the Commission.42 In addition to these 

developments, in August 2019 (for the Forensic Biology Section) and again in September 2019 

(for the entire laboratory) HFSC provided specific training to analysts, including Vinson,43 on a 

Commission report in State of Texas v. Criner that concerned a DNA analyst’s inadequate trial 

preparation and associated failure to take responsibility.44  

On September 30, 2022, HFSC provided the Commission with a video link to the 

September training, which included many admonitions directly relevant to this case. Following are 

examples of statements made by laboratory leadership: 

By Chief Executive Officer Dr. Peter Stout: It’s not the mistake that creates the problem; 

it’s the reaction to the mistake. Owning the mistake, being forthcoming…that makes all the 

difference. 

By DNA Technical Leader Robin Guidry: She [the analyst in Criner] couldn’t be sure of 

her answer to a question by the prosecutor. And instead of saying, “I don’t know,” she answered 

it, “I think it was two swabs….” It is not okay to give an answer even if you say you’re unsure, 

 
42 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.219 (2019), (The Code of Professional Responsibility for Forensic Analysts and 
Crime Laboratory Management took effect January 1, 2019). 
43 HFSC provided an attendance sheet for the August 27, 2019 FBIO section meeting showing Vinson signed into 
the meeting. The FBIO meeting included a longer and more in-depth discussion of the Criner report than the 
September meeting. IT audit logs also show Vinson was on-site during the September “company” meeting, though 
company meetings did not have attendance sign-in sheets. Management also emailed the slide deck for the Criner 
presentation to FBIO staff, and IT logs show that Vinson opened both the meeting agenda email and the follow-up 
email with the slides. HFSC also provided an April 25, 2019 testimony training with documentation that Vinson 
attended, during which the importance of reviewing case notes before trial and offering clear and unambiguous 
testimony were both discussed.  
44 See, Texas Forensic Science Commission Final Report dated August 16, 2019 on Self-Disclosure by The Texas 
Department of Public Safety (Austin) regarding testimony of D. Jody Koehler (Forensic Biology/DNA) concerning 
her testimony in State of Texas v. Criner. The Criner report was of particular interest to the DNA community in 
Texas and nationally because it was one of the first STRmix admissibility hearings in Texas. It was also the only 
time in modern DPS history that a trial court excluded DNA analysis and related testimony on scientific grounds. 
The only other time a trial court excluded DPS DNA analysis was on Sixth Amendment grounds (i.e., the fact that 
the analyst was unavailable to testify led to Confrontation Clause concerns).  
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because the jury will hear the answer anyway. If you cannot answer a question accurately, don’t 

answer the question.”  

Guidry also recognized that, “It is one thing when you say something on the stand, that’s a 

very difficult position to be in.” But the analyst in Criner would not accept responsibility even 

after having time to reflect. Guidry further noted that the analyst in Criner did not review the full 

case record before testifying, which resulted in her being unprepared. “The lesson here is—you 

need to be familiar with your case file before you go to testify.” 

HFSC’s General Counsel Akilah Mance: “Once you go into court, everybody in there is 

relying on you as an expert.” “Once you know something is wrong…you didn’t prepare...it is 

incumbent upon you as the expert to stop the show.”  “The Commission is saying that as an expert, 

you need to be able to do that, even if you’re on the stand.”  

“Control what you can. You can’t control how prepared or competent the lawyers are, or 

how they pose the questions. But what you can control is how you prepare. We are needing you to 

look in your case record and anticipate, this could be an issue.” Ms. Mance summarized her 

guidance by encouraging analysts to “be active listeners,” and to “take the role seriously.” She also 

made clear that “if it is beyond what you can accurately testify to…then don’t.” 

The HFSC training also called special attention to the following observations made in the 

Commission’s 2019 report in Criner:  

As one witness the panel interviewed observed: You don’t have forensic science 
without testimony.” The panel believes that it is imperative that [the analyst] and 
all analysts involved in the criminal justice system, prepare and approach his or her 
role with the solemnity demanded by the task being performed and recognize the 
impact that an analyst’s work can have on the crucial and life-altering matters being 
resolved by the criminal justice system.  
 
The panel is concerned whether the analyst can rise above her defensiveness in this 
instance and truly be self-reflective. Her continued shifting of blame and deflecting 
responsibility is troubling.  
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During his 2020 deposition which was one year after HFSC’s training on the Criner report, 

Vinson attempted to justify his lack of pre-trial preparation by referencing his common practice of 

testifying from his report and only referencing his notes “if instructed to do so by the prosecution 

or defense.” While conceding his memory of the 2013 analytical work was not fresh when he 

testified in 2017, he doggedly maintained “I do not testify from bench notes.” This statement 

missed the point about the need for preparation by at least reviewing the notes, and resulted in the 

following circular post-trial contention by Vinson: (1) had there been a quality event it would be 

in the lab report; (2) since there was nothing in the lab report there was no quality event; and (3) 

since there was nothing in the lab report regarding a quality event, he did not find it necessary to 

review his notes.  It also begs the question of whether he was paying any attention at all during 

the August and/or September 2019 post-Criner report presentations given to employees at HFSC.   

Vinson’s failure to take responsibility during post-conviction testimony violated three 

provisions of the Code of Professional Responsibility. First, he did not present accurate and 

complete data during testimony. Because the Commission does not define the term “data” in its 

administrative rules, we look to the common definition. Merriam-Webster defines “data” as 

“factual information used as a basis for reasoning, discussion, or calculation.”45 The factual 

information missing from his presentation to the court was that he had not actually reviewed his 

notes in preparation for trial and thus could not answer a number of questions posed based on his 

actual knowledge. Vinson also failed to testify in a manner which is clear, straightforward and 

objective, and avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased or misleading manner. As the 

court explained, a candid response would have been either that he could not recall the actual 

condition of the evidence containers or that he had no memory of what his notes said. 

 
45 Data, MERRIAM-WEBSTER (11th online-only ed. 2022). 
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Vinson also failed to communicate honestly and fully with all parties as required by the 

Code of Professional Responsibility. During his statement to HFSC during the course of their 

internal investigation, he wrote, “I did not testify that I had not noted anything awry with the 

cooler, and I did in fact make bench notes discussing what I observed at the time of testing.” Yet 

he went to great lengths to argue during his post-conviction deposition testimony that there actually 

was nothing awry with the cooler as far as he was concerned. He made the following claim in his 

sworn affidavit:  

Had I reviewed my case file prior to testimony, I would not have brought up the 
note to ADA Molfino, as the note does not affect the evidence that I screened and 
pertains only to the outer packaging in which the evidence was received.  
 
Vinson cannot have it both ways, and his perpetual attempts to do just that raise serious 

concerns about his ability to accept responsibility for his part when errors or omissions occur in 

the laboratory or at trial.  Because forensic science is a human endeavor, things will go wrong from 

time to time whether in the laboratory or at trial.  Perfection is not expected, but what is expected 

is a transparent and open-minded acknowledgment of issues when they are raised by criminal 

justice partners whose perspectives and responsibilities vary.  

The Commission acknowledges there is a layer of complexity to assessing the testimony 

of a witness later determined to have offered incomplete or misleading statements.  Analysts are 

rarely deposed, and they have little control over the clarity (or lack thereof) of courtroom or post-

conviction proceedings.  Questioning occurs in real time in an adversarial setting; the Commission 

recognizes a retrospective transcript review is fertile ground for criticism after-the-fact and may 

not capture various contributing factors during trial.  

Notwithstanding these complexities, the Commission concludes Vinson deliberately failed 

to follow the standard of practice that an ordinary forensic analyst or crime laboratory would have 
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followed when he refused to admit, during post-conviction proceedings, that his failure to review 

the case record before trial led to an incomplete picture being provided to the jury. The HFSC 

training was crystal clear in setting expectations for analysts after the Criner report was issued. 

This leads the Commission to conclude that aggravating factors are present in this case; Vinson’s 

defensive posturing during the deposition was deliberate. Not only should he have known better, 

he did know better. 

As McWhorter stated in his affidavit, “because Mr. Vinson did not ask for a copy of the 

case notes, he was unable to provide the most complete and accurate testimony regarding the 

condition of the evidence.”  This should not be a controversial statement. Yet, even when Colone’s 

attorney offered an easy question, asking Vinson to concede that if he had reviewed his bench 

notes prior to testimony, the jury could have been provided the most complete and accurate 

testimony about the condition of the evidence, he refused to acknowledge this as a possibility. His 

persistent reticence to recognize such a basic concept displays a lack of candor and defensive bias, 

and remarkably, it was wholly unnecessary. His posturing was a deliberate choice to place his own 

self-interest over the needs of the criminal justice system. It substantially affected the integrity of 

the results because it was one of the bases for the court’s adverse credibility findings, and those 

findings contributed to the court’s conclusion that Colone’s constitutional rights were violated at 

trial. 

D. Vinson was professionally negligent in asserting conclusively there was no 
possible risk of contamination given the microclimate created by the pooled 
liquid at the bottom of the cooler; DPS clarified and amended prior assertions 
regarding potential impact of storage conditions in its September 2022 QIR. 

 
Forensic science service providers must be independent and refrain from making ipse dixit 

representations that exceed the limits of science. In this case, for example, it would have been 

reasonable and appropriate for a DNA analyst or biology screener to:  
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• Explain the basis for proceeding with biology screening, DNA analysis and 
interpretation despite the presence of liquid at the bottom of the cooler (e.g., it 
did not appear at least visually, that the inner envelopes were impacted by the 
liquid); and 

 
• Explain what specific indicators of carryover contamination or degradation 

analysts looked for in the data generated and explain why they did or did not 
observe those indicators.   

 
What is not reasonable or scientifically supportable, however, is for an analyst or laboratory 

to make the following assertions given the specific facts of the cooler conditions in this case:  

• DPS handled the glove, towel, and swabs in a manner that would prevent 
degradation and contamination;  

 
• The evidence storage at DPS was compliant with the Biological Evidence 

Preservation Handbook: Best Practices for Evidence Handlers (NISTIR 7928); 
 
• A reagent blank contamination check is sufficient in itself to detect carryover 

contamination;  
 
• Sample degradation leading to loss of DNA can be assumed to benefit the 

defendant (this would not be true when sample degradation leads to the loss of 
a foreign minor contributor); and 

 
• Sample degradation could not impact the assessment of number of contributors 

in a way that could also adversely impact the defendant in a case. 
 

Given the facts of this case, and accurate and candid statement would include one or more 

of the following:  

• DPS evidence handling personnel did not follow the instructions written on the 
outside of the cooler based on a mistaken assumption that the external 
instructions were not informative because coolers are reused by agencies and 
often have old stickers affixed to them;  
 

• DPS evidence handling personnel relied on the evidence submission form 
which was incomplete because it listed only the type of items stored at room 
temperature and did not specify there were extracts in the cooler; 
 

• No one in evidence handling opened the cooler to check whether the instruction 
on the cooler applied to its contents or to check for ice packs that needed 
removal (note: this is not a policy violation; evidence handling personnel do not 
typically open packages for safety reasons and to reduce contamination risk); 
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• No one in evidence handling contacted the submitting agency to inquire about 

the cooler or its contents; and 
 

• While there are no red flags in the profile data to raise concerns about carryover 
contamination, it is not scientifically possible to know conclusively whether the 
storage conditions at DPS resulted in either degradation or contamination. 
 

 The September 2022 supplemental disclosure by DPS recognizes each of the assertions 

listed above. First, the laboratory failed to handle the evidence properly when staff placed the 

Styrofoam cooler on a shelf in an unrefrigerated vault despite the refrigeration instructions on the 

outside of the container.  The storage conditions at DPS introduced risks of contamination and 

degradation of the DNA evidence that could not conclusively be dispelled.  DPS acknowledged 

that quality control procedures designed to detect contamination from samples in other cases in 

the same batch are not dispositive of questions regarding contamination that may be present due 

to improper storage conditions of evidence.  There is no existing technology to determine whether 

any degradation was the result of storage conditions or of normal environmental insults that 

degrade DNA from the time of deposit to collection and analysis. 

 The Commission commends DPS for the candor displayed in its supplemental disclosure 

in September 2022.  The supplemental disclosure is signed by McWhorter in his capacity as the 

Houston laboratory’s DNA technical leader. Because aspects of the QIR contradict McWhorter’s 

post-conviction affidavit, the Commission encourages DPS to work with the parties in the criminal 

case to revise the contents of McWhorter’s post-conviction affidavit which was filed on behalf of 

the agency, so that the case record contains the most accurate and up-to-date information. This is 

especially important if the case is to be re-tried. 
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E. Vinson violated the Code of Professional Responsibility by asserting conclusively 
there was no risk of contamination, and oversimplifying the possible impact of 
degradation on the analytical results. 
 

During Vinson’s deposition, Colone’s attorney asked him the following question:  

Q: So you agree, though, that based on your opinion that it wasn’t necessary, you 
did not note in your notes any potential for contamination?  

A: No, and I still do not believe there was. [emphasis added] 

The only scientifically supportable claim is that one cannot say conclusively whether 

contamination or degradation occurred given the storage conditions at DPS. It would be 

appropriate and reasonable for an analyst or laboratory to list the factors that weigh against 

contamination having occurred, such as an apparent lack of moisture or staining of the internal 

envelopes, a lack of low-level contributor in the evidentiary data, or other fact-based observations. 

It is not scientifically supportable, however, to state there was no potential at all.  

Commission staff forwarded both DPS QIR documents to Vinson on September 12, 2022; 

staff did not receive a response regarding the information contained in those documents. As of this 

writing, his position remains that there was no potential for contamination. This position does not 

allow room for the uncertainty introduced by storage conditions and thus exceeds the limits of 

science. The Commission finds Vinson violated the Code of Professional Responsibility standard 

requiring analysts to present accurate and complete data based on good scientific practices and 

valid methods. The fact that DPS stored biological evidence in a humid microclimate—even if 

done inadvertently—is not good scientific practice, and Vinson had an obligation to be honest 

about this fact.  

F. Vinson and DPS should have initiated a quality incident related to the 2013 
evidence handling conditions.  

 
 In 2013, when Vinson first examined the Styrofoam cooler, he should have alerted 

management who should have initiated a quality incident.  The cooler was stored at room 
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temperature for approximately one month despite instructions to refrigerate, had a foul-smelling 

liquid inside, and a damp, soggy FedEx envelope contained the evidentiary items.  The failure to 

initiate a quality incident led directly to the downstream consequences that ensued. Had a quality 

incident been initiated, it would have been reflected in the laboratory report, which would have 

prompted Vinson to review the issue and (presumably) offer more complete and accurate 

testimony at trial. 

The 2013 DPS Laboratory Operations SOPs contained specific guidance to address the 

process for initiating a quality action plan when a nonconforming event was identified.  

“When a non-conforming event46 has been identified, the individual responsible for 
the work must halt testing and/or calibration (and withhold test or calibration 
reports as necessary) until the scope of the incident has been determined.”47    

 
 The condition of the cooler when initially examined by Vinson should have been 

considered a nonconforming event.  Proper storage of biological evidence is critical to preserving 

it for future analysis, protecting it from contamination, and maintaining its integrity.48 Under DPS 

policy at the time, analysts were instructed to “note instances where packaging or handling of the 

evidence creates a potential for contamination” and instructed that “instances of potential 

contamination should be brought to the attention of the supervisor, other involved examiners and 

the investigator.”49 Analysts were instructed to evaluate the evidence to consider, among other 

things, “whether the evidence is moldy and/or putrefied,” and the “possibility and effect of cross-

 
46 A nonconforming event is when one or more characteristic(s) or condition(s) are observed that do not conform to 
required specifications in standards, procedures, or policies.  Examples of nonconforming events may include 
contamination, failed control, observations recorded inaccurately, incorrect conclusions/interpretations, sample 
switch, sample preparation error, and unsupported conclusions.  (See, Exhibit G - DPS Lab Operations Guide 
QAP provisions). Note: QAP and QIR are two acronyms for the same document—Quality Action Plan was the 
predecessor to the current Quality Incident Report. 
47 Id. 
48 See, Exhibit L – DPS Standard Operating Procedures DNA-Evidence Handling, effective 7.1.09.    
49 See, Exhibit M – DPS Standard Operating Procedures DNA- Physical Evidence Examination, effective 
10.16.12.   
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contamination.”50  Analysts were also directed to visually examine the evidence and document as 

appropriate “a description of the outer evidence packaging and condition of the evidence, 

especially relevant factors to the preservation of the biological material.”51  

 The contention by both Vinson and McWhorter in their post-conviction affidavits that the 

evidence storage conditions did not violate DPS policy was fundamentally flawed because, even 

if the evidentiary items were dry in their individual breathable paper envelopes contained in the 

damp and soggy FedEx package, the evidence was stored in a container that was not temperature 

controlled and which created a microclimate of humidity and condensation as the ice packs thawed.  

The liquid in the cooler smelled foul, an indication that some undesirable chemical process had 

occurred inside the container.  There is no way an analyst could have known, based on a visual 

examination alone, that the humid microclimate created in the cooler had no degrading or 

contaminating effect on the DNA evidence contained inside the container. Contamination and 

degradation are not visible to the naked eye. 

 Vinson recalls having discussions about the condition of the cooler with other members of 

the laboratory, but the discussions were not documented. Because they were not documented, there 

is no way to know whether they actually occurred. DPS’s QIR “sought to address the laboratory’s 

failure to recognize and document the issues.” Giving Vinson the benefit of the doubt that he raised 

the issue with individuals in his section, the Commission declines to issue a negligence finding 

here, instead directing the reader to the formal corrections made by DPS in its QIR documents, 

attached as Exhibits O and P to this report. 

 

 
50 See, Exhibit N – DPS Standard Operating Procedures DNA – Physical Evidence Examination – 
Case/Evidence Evaluation, effective 10.16.12. 
51 Id. 
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VII. DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
On a determination by the Commission that a license holder violated a rule or order of the 

Commission under Article 38.01, Code of Criminal Procedure, the Commission may: (1) revoke 

or suspend the person’s license; (2) refuse to renew the person’s license; (3) reprimand the license 

holder; or (4) deny the person a license. 

Factors considered in determining the appropriate disciplinary action against a license 

holder may include: (1) the seriousness of the violation; (2) the prevalence of misconduct by the 

individual; (3) the person’s conduct history, including any investigative history by the 

Commission; (4) the harm or potential harm to the laboratory or criminal justice system as a whole; 

(5) attempts to conceal the act by the individual; and (6) any other relevant factors. 

The Commission also may decide one or more of the following factors warrants less severe 

or less restrictive disciplinary action in a particular investigation: (1) candor in addressing the 

violation, including self-reported and voluntary admissions of the misconduct or violation; (2) 

acknowledgement of wrongdoing and willingness to cooperate with the Commission; (3) changes 

made by the individual to ensure compliance and prevent future misconduct; (4) rehabilitative 

potential; (5) other relevant circumstances reducing the seriousness of the misconduct; or (6) other 

relevant circumstances lessening responsibility for the misconduct.  

Vinson’s failure to acknowledge the impact of his trial testimony post-conviction and his 

failure to acknowledge valid scientific questions regarding the potential impact of evidence storage 

conditions was serious because it caused a trial judge to question his credibility as a witness.  There 

was harm to the criminal justice system because Vinson’s lack of preparation and candor 

contributed to the parties failing to consider the potential impact of the storage conditions at trial, 

which may have affected the jury’s assessment of guilt or innocence had they heard the 
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information. It also contributed to the trial judge’s findings and conclusions that the defendant’s 

constitutional rights were violated and thus he was entitled to relief, a result which was 

subsequently adopted by the Court of Criminal Appeals. 

Mitigating Factors: Vinson is an experienced analyst with no other conduct history. By the 

time of his Commission interview, he was cooperative and self-reflective, and recognized the 

defendant had a constitutional right to Brady information. During his interview, Vinson stated that 

this experience has taught him to be hyper-aware of questions asked on the stand.  He offered an 

apology for any harm caused by his testimony, however, the fact is there were multiple points at 

which Vinson could have acknowledged these the issues earlier in the case, yet he did not take that 

opportunity until his interview.   

Other relevant circumstances that may tend to lessen Vinson’s responsibility for his post-

conviction stance are: (1) During the process of preparing his post-conviction affidavit, Vinson 

received information from the DA’s office that DPS supported the position that evidence storage 

policies were followed and there was no concern for contamination or degradation of the evidence; 

(2) Vinson’s education of disclosure requirements related to exculpatory and impeaching 

information and the significance of bench notes evolved over time; and (3) DPS could have been 

more proactive by: (a) reviewing the forensic biology portion of the case file knowing Vinson was 

no longer employed at the laboratory; or (b) sending the materials to Vinson knowing he was set 

to testify in the case; or (c) both.   

Vinson’s forensic analyst license expires on December 5, 2022.  In light of the observations 

and findings contained in this report and the fact that Vinson’s license status is currently 

undesignated due to his separation from HFSC, the Commission hereby suspends Vinson’s license 

for a period of sixty (60) days, until the day after license expiration on December 6, 2022. Were 
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Vinson to obtain new employment as a DNA analyst in Texas and seek to renew his license, the 

Commission may deny or adopt conditions on licensure at that time.   

VIII. OTHER IMPORTANT ISSUES OBSERVED DURING THIS INVESTIGATION 

A. Implications of Undisclosed Information: Michael Morton Implementation 
Challenges for Forensic Laboratories  

  
 The Court of Criminal Appeals reversed Colone’s conviction based, in part, on a claim that 

“the State suppressed material evidence showing that the DPS Crime Laboratory had mishandled 

the glove and towel prior to their being subjected to DNA testing.” The trial court found that 

information regarding storage conditions of the evidence was not disclosed to the defense, was 

favorable to the defense, and was material.  

 Under a Texas law known as the Michel Morton Act,52 discovery shall be produced to a 

defendant as soon as practicable “after receiving a timely request from the defendant.”53  However, 

notwithstanding any other provision of the discovery statute, “the state shall disclose to the 

defendant any exculpatory, impeachment, or mitigating document item or information in the 

possession, custody, or control of the state…”54  Exculpatory, mitigating, and impeaching 

evidence is commonly referred to as Brady information.55 The government has a duty to disclose 

Brady material even in the absence of a request by the defense.56 

The facts of the Colone case demonstrate a real and recurring risk for crime laboratories 

and analysts testifying in any case where discovery was not requested by the defense or produced 

by the State and the laboratory has possession of exculpatory, impeachment or mitigating 

 
52 Since January 1, 2019, the Commission has provided training to forensic analysts on the Michael Morton Act in 
connection with analyst licensing both through its general forensic exam which covers the topics Brady v. Maryland 
and the Michael Morton Act and through its licensing requirement for completion of legal and professional 
responsibility training each license renewal cycle.    
53 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 39.14(a). 
54 Id. at (h). 
55 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 
56 Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 279 (1999). 
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information that a defendant is entitled to know. What makes the risk particularly acute is the fact 

that the decision about whether information in the possession of the laboratory may be exculpatory, 

impeachment or mitigating falls within the province of the court, not the crime laboratory in 

possession of the information. Indeed, crime laboratories may not even be aware of case facts or 

legal theories that may have a bearing on whether information would be classified as exculpatory, 

impeachment or mitigating. 

For example, the court dismissed Vinson and McWhorter’s position (which was later 

amended) regarding the insignificance of the bench notes as follows:  

“…Mr. Vinson and Mr. McWhorter’s opinions did not definitively dispel the issues 
raised by the bench note. Thus, this Court finds that the issues raised by the bench 
note should have been resolved by the jury in its role as the ultimate fact finder at 
trial.”57  
 
The court is sending analysts and laboratories a clear message here, which is that forensic 

analysts and forensic laboratories should not substitute their own judgment of what may be 

“significant” for Brady purposes for the judgment of the court and/or jury. The Commission 

acknowledges that forensic analysts and laboratories often must make judgment calls to perform 

their work. But when a fundamental question is raised in a bench note, such as “I will inquire as 

to why the storage instructions clearly indicated on the outside of Item 01 were ignored,” and when 

the note includes a description of “foul-smelling water/liquid,” it is not difficult to understand why 

a court would object strongly to any forensic analyst or laboratory glossing over this anomalous 

storage condition as “insignificant.” The Commission does not take a position about whether it  

was actually significant, but rather alerts laboratories that the decision must be left to the court and 

the jury in its role as factfinder. 

 
57See, Exhibit H:  Trial Court Agreed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at p. 26. 
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B. The Importance of Proactive Outreach to Former Employees  

There are two important issues laboratories should consider with respect to actions they 

need to take when an employee leaves the laboratory. There are few professions where an 

individual departs employment and even after leaving, may be required to perform a serious and 

solemn duty on behalf of the former employer. Because crime laboratory departure is not 

necessarily a full and permanent departure due to the need for testimony, laboratory management 

should endeavor to promote proactive and cooperative relations with departing employees to the 

extent possible. Laboratories should adopt clear policies about steps they are committed to taking 

to ensure a former employee has direct and secure access to any material he or she may need for 

post-departure testimony. The need for this is highlighted in the Colone case by the remarkable 

fact that the case folder was sitting in the hallway outside the courtroom with DPS representatives 

while Vinson was testifying.  

Additionally, laboratories should consider the extent to which they need to review case 

records pertaining to the work of former employees, so that potential issues of concern may be 

flagged early. Efforts on this front may help mitigate an unfortunate scenario where a departed 

employee is less inclined to take pre-trial preparation and testimony as seriously as he or she 

otherwise would. The Commission feels this issue is especially important for laboratories to 

consider because we have seen this problematic post-departure dynamic produce serious 

consequences in two capital murder cases (Criner and Colone). 

IX. RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following four recommendations are specific to the analysts and laboratories 

discussed in this report:  

1. To the extent Vinson remains involved in any Colone-related proceedings as a 
witness, he should participate with candor and issue any corrections the parties 
may deem necessary;  
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2. DPS should amend the biology screening report in the case to indicate there was 

an evidence-handling irregularity. DPS should also work with appropriate 
stakeholders to amend or update McWhorter’s post-conviction affidavit if 
needed to address inconsistencies in the record; 

 
3. DPS should continue its work in evaluating how to flag evidence-handling and 

other irregularities in the body of the laboratory’s reports so that stakeholders 
are alerted that further information regarding the irregularity is contained within 
the case record; 

 
4. DPS and HFSC should work collaboratively with the Harris County Public 

Defender’s Office in vetting Vinson’s past cases (in Harris and surrounding 
counties) to the extent such a review is requested by legal stakeholders. 

The following recommendations have universal applicability:  
 
5. All analysts should prepare adequately for testimony. Preparation should 

include, at a minimum, review of relevant case records including analytical data 
and bench notes associated with the analyses. Expectations regarding other 
items for pre-trial review should be set in clear terms by laboratory policy. 
Laboratories should regularly check OSAC Registry standards to determine 
whether they may help provide a framework for this assessment. 

 
Assessment Checklist Item: Accredited laboratories should assess the extent to 
which their existing policies set clear and specific expectations about what 
constitutes adequate preparation for trial. Subject areas and specific items 
should be described on a discipline-by-discipline basis. For reference, one 
example of a detailed set of expectations for forensic biology screeners and 
DNA analysts developed by Texas DPS is attached as Exhibit Q.58 

 
6. Laboratories should adopt policies stating expectations for departing 

employees59 who may need to testify regarding a case they analyzed while 
previously employed, and this should include specific proactive steps by the 
laboratory to provide case records in a secure manner regardless of whether the 
former employee requested them;  

 
Assessment Checklist Item: Accredited laboratories should review their 
policies and entry/exit interview documentation to assess whether expectations 
are clearly stated and acknowledged. Expectations should include the level of 
review of the case records the discipline determines should be undertaken, and 
approaches for when the departed employee may no longer be competent to 
provide adequate testimony due to the passage of time or other factors.  

 
58 This guidance was developed after the Commission issued its report in the Criner investigation.  
59 The Commission understands that laboratories have little leverage over individuals who have departed but 
requiring acknowledgment at the exit interview stage at least ensures the laboratory made a reasonable effort. 
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7. Laboratories should adopt policies that make it as easy as possible for new 
employees to prepare adequately and testify appropriately regarding analyses 
performed on behalf of their previous employer;
Assessment Checklist Item: Accredited laboratories should review their policy 
documentation and ensure managers understand the importance of allowing 
employees flexibility to attend to pre-trial preparation and related testimony 
regarding analytical work performed on behalf of a previous employer, to the 
extent permitted by local rules.

8. The Texas Association of Crime Laboratory Directors (TACLD) should 
consider whether it is possible for Texas laboratories to agree to a cooperative 
approach/set of expectations for supporting analysts when they leave to a new 
laboratory but are still required to testify in cases worked while employed at 
their prior employer. If the TACLD is able to accomplish this, the agreement 
can be reflected in laboratory policy;

9. DPS submitted a legislative appropriation request for a statewide lab portal 
that gives authorized attorneys access to case records and related material that 
would typically be obtained through discovery.  If the Legislature supports 
DPS's request, incorporation of this advanced technology will help ensure 
crime laboratory compliance with the letter and spirit of the Michael Morton 
Act in every case; and

10. The Texas Forensic Science Commission will host an online training to discuss 
the trial court’s Brady and Michael Morton Act-related findings in this case and 
their potential implications for forensic laboratories. Continuing forensic 
education credits will be available for licensees who attend the training.



EXHIBIT A



Click here to go to TFSC’s “Other Reports” web page, then click on “TFSC-Specific Accreditation 
Checklist” for the latest version of the list. 

https://www.txcourts.gov/fsc/publications-reports/other-reports/


EXHIBIT B 
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MRS. CHASE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  The 

State calls Adam Vinson.

(WITNESS ENTERS COURTROOM) 

THE COURT:  Good morning, sir.  How are 

you?  

THE WITNESS:  Good.

THE COURT:  If you'll please raise your 

right hand. 

(WITNESS SWORN) 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may have a 

seat.  

You may proceed.

MRS. CHASE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

STEVEN ADAM VINSON,

having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MRS. CHASE:

Q. Good morning, Adam.  Would you please introduce 

yourself to the jury.  

A. Good morning.  My name is Steven Adam Vinson, 

and I am a forensic DNA analyst with the Houston 

Forensic Science Center. 

Q. Can you briefly describe a little bit about 

your education and training that led you to being a 

forensic scientist? 
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A. Yes.  I have my Bachelor's of Science degree in 

forensic science from Baylor University, Waco, Texas; 

and I have extensive training from Orchid Cellmark, a 

Dallas laboratory that is no longer operating, but in 

forensic serology and in data basing.  I went on to be 

an employee of the Texas Department of Public Safety's 

crime laboratory out of Houston, Texas, where I received 

further training in forensic serology, as well as 

forensic DNA analysis.  

Q. You are currently employed with the?  

A. Houston Forensic Science Center.  I am a DNA 

analyst, a quality designee for the department, and I am 

the principle laboratory trainer for the downtown lab. 

Q. Okay.  Back in September, October of 2013, were 

you employed in your position as a forensic analysis -- 

analyst, I'm sorry, with Texas Department of Public 

Safety? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And that's a laboratory located on West Road in 

Houston; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have an opportunity to have some 

involvement in a laboratory case HOU-1310-09111?

A. I believe so. 

Q. Okay.  Just so that we can be on the same page, 
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at some point in time, did the lab change over from 

designating cause numbers as an L2H number to a HOU 

number? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  So, if I showed you a piece of 

evidence -- 

MRS. CHASE:  If I may, Your Honor.  

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  -- State's 106, you see here 

that it originally had an L2H-213609 cause number?

A. Yes. 

Q. And that was received back in March of 2011.  

When you handled this item, you then designated the 

updated laboratory number HOU-1310-9111? 

A. Yes, ma'am.  

Q. Those numbers basically to all the rest of us 

are the same number.  It's just a different way -- the 

lab changed the designation of the same items? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When you received all of the items in this 

case, did they come to you in a sealed condition? 

A. I believe so.  If they were not sealed, it 

would have been noted in my laboratory notes. 

Q. Okay.  And just for the jury's knowledge, in 

State's Exhibit 115, right here we see just a white 

cardboard box.  We have previously referred to this last 
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week as a convenience container, basically something 

that's large enough to hold all of the evidence that an 

agency may be submitting?

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. And did you come into contact with this item, 

as is designated by your unique initials, the cause 

number and the item number? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And had there been something awry with it, had 

it not been sealed or something like that, you would 

have noted that, but you did not in this case?

A. The Houston DPS laboratory has an evidence 

receiving department.  So, before any analyst upstairs 

in the laboratory actually sees the evidence, they 

verify that it has shipped correctly and it's in a 

proper sealed state or else they don't admit it to the 

laboratory. 

Q. Okay.  And, again, just for purposes of the 

record, in State's Exhibit 93, the same with this 

convenience container, which is a Styrofoam cooler.  Do 

you see there your markings and the date, as well? 

A. Yes.  Yes. 

Q. Same principle applies to this piece of 

evidence?

A. Yes, ma'am.
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Q. Or this convenience container.  

Okay.  Can you describe to the jury briefly 

what your role was in processing this case, specifically 

L2H-213609, that then became also designated 

HOU-1310-09111? 

A. Yes.  My principle duties in this case are 

forensic serology, and that is the identification of 

what could possibly be human blood or human semen, the 

collection of hairs and fibers or any sort of touch 

evidence that gets left behind when your skin cells come 

in contact with an item. 

Q. There has been previous testimony, Mr. Vinson, 

that both a phenolphthalein test and a KM test are used 

in presumptive testing for blood.  Which one of those 

tests would you use at DPS? 

A. I actually use both of those tests at DPS 

Houston.  We use TMB and PHT, and those tests can be 

referred to as the Kastle-Meyer test, as well. 

MRS. CHASE:  Okay.  May I approach, again, 

Your Honor?  

THE COURT:  Sure. 

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  In State's Exhibit No. 95, 

which has been admitted into evidence, do you recognize, 

again, your unique initials and the date on this 

packaging? 
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A. Yes, ma'am.  

Q. And if I submit to you that this -- included in 

this packaging is a black glove, did you have an 

opportunity to process a black glove in this case for 

the presence of blood?  In other words, did you conduct 

a presumptive test on this item? 

A. I believe I did. 

Q. Okay.  Do you recall -- have you had an 

opportunity to review your report? 

A. I have not seen my report in a while. 

Q. Gosh.  So, you're doing this completely off 

memory.  Okay.  If I allowed you to take a quick look at 

your report, would that help refresh your memory? 

A. Yes, ma'am.

MRS. CHASE:  May I, Your Honor?

THE COURT:  Sure. 

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  I'm sorry.  This is a copy 

with my notes on it.  

A. Yes.  So, I did process a black glove for the 

screening of presumptive blood. 

Q. And did you locate any? 

A. I did not. 

Q. Okay.  And would you find this to be uncommon, 

Adam, if there had been testimony that in previous tests 

of this item, say, in the year 2010, 2011, there were 
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some areas where presumptive blood was detected, but 

then, yet, when you tested it in 2013, there was no 

presumptive blood detected?  Does that surprise you?

A. It doesn't surprise me.  This evidence has been 

tested multiple times by different laboratories.  As you 

test evidence and collect it with moistened swabs, if 

there is any blood or touch DNA present, it's collected 

by the swabs.  The more you swab it, the less there is 

of the original stain there.  

So, by the time it got to me, I wasn't 

surprised that I didn't find anything.  But, again, this 

is a presumptive test.  It tells you what an item could 

be, not a confirmatory test, which tells you what an 

item is.  And our presumptive testing chemicals are only 

sensitive to very strong amounts of blood.  So, it 

doesn't surprise me that I didn't find anything. 

Q. So, if the sample size, for instance, would 

have been diminished in this item, Exhibit No. 95, that 

could be a reasoning for why you were able to -- not 

able to find anything with a presumptive test; correct? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. In your opinion, based on your experience as a 

forensic serologist, would that negate any previous test 

that did show presumptive blood and any confirmatory 

test that may have been conducted and previously 
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testified to? 

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  I'm gonna show you, also, for your 

identification what I've marked as State's Exhibit No. 

91 and ask if you recognize your initials and labeling 

on there (tendering)? 

A. Yes.  I have the case number, my initials, the 

date that I handled it and the item number, as well as 

my evidence tape sealing it back. 

Q. Okay.  And, again, on State's Exhibit No. 91A 

(tendering)? 

A. I also have my label and my seal on this item. 

Q. I'll just let you keep this if you don't mind.  

I will refer -- did you do any conducting on these -- 

conduct any testing on these items, which I believe are 

marked as item No. 15 from the Jefferson County Regional 

Crime Lab?  It'd be the next page (indicating).  

A. Yes.  On this item, I didn't observe any stains 

having any appearance of blood, so I didn't test for 

anything.  But I simply collected samples for DNA 

analysis. 

Q. Okay.  Can you explain to the jury how you go 

about collecting a sample for DNA?  

A. When I collect a sample for DNA analysis, I 

take a sterile swab, like a little Q-tip swab, something 
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similar to what you might see when you go to your 

doctor's office, and I moisten that with sterilized 

water.  And once I do that, I pass it over an item, and 

that moistened cotton actually helps to absorb cells or 

possible blood, any sort of touch DNA that could be 

present, and it takes it from the item that you're 

swabbing and it collects it onto that cotton swab so we 

can process it for DNA analysis down the line. 

MRS. CHASE:  Your Honor, at this time, I 

would tender State's Exhibit No. 91 and its content, 

which is State's Exhibit 91A.  

MR. LOPER:  Judge, I have no objection. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  It's admitted. 

(STATE'S EXHIBITS NO. 91 AND 91A ADMITTED)

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  Again, Adam, just so that the 

jury can be clear, this is a pocket knife that was 

contained within this box.  You did not find any 

apparent blood detected on this item, but you did swab 

it for DNA so that an analyst down the line could 

process that; correct? 

A. Yes, ma'am.  

Q. Did you also have an opportunity to observe 

what I have marked as State's Exhibit No. 114 

(tendering)? 

A. Yes.  My label and my seal is on this item. 
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Q. Okay.  And how did -- this relates to Jefferson 

County Regional Crime Lab number -- Item 16.  Can you 

inform the jury what type of testing you conducted on 

that item? 

A. I did blood testing on this item.  Apparent 

blood was detected on this item.  I collected samples of 

this for DNA analysis, and I did not observe any trace 

material on it.  So, I simply tested for the presence of 

blood and then collected the positive stains. 

Q. And, again, you collected them in the same 

fashion, and then they were then available for the next 

analyst to perform DNA on them; correct? 

A. For an item such as a tissue, I likely took -- 

instead of a swab of a tissue since it would tear the 

tissue apart with something like that, we can take a 

small cutting and just cut out the tissue paper and test 

that sample directly for DNA analysis. 

Q. Okay.  And that would make sense, because if 

you put a wet Q-tip on a Kleenex, it's gonna dissolve it 

or -- 

A. Yes.  Yes. 

MRS. CHASE:  Your Honor, at this time, I 

would tender State's 114 and its contents.  

MR. LOPER:  No objection, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  It's admitted.  
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(STATE'S EXHIBIT NO. 114 AND CONTENTS ADMITTED)

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  And in State's Exhibit No. 

126, which would be Jefferson County Crime Lab No -- - 

Exhibit No. 20, ask you, again, to take a look at that 

(tendering) and ask if you recognize it with your use 

identifiers? 

A. Yes.  My label is on the back, and my tape is 

on the side. 

Q. Okay.  Can you describe for the jury the type 

of testing you conducted on this item?

A. Which was this again?

Q. No. 20.  

A. 20.  I examined this item for bloodstains, but 

I did not observe any.  I collected some trace evidence 

from this item.  This simply gets packaged with the 

evidence.  I'm not a trace analyst, so I can't test it 

any further from there.  And I collected a few items 

from this -- a few samples from this item for DNA 

analysis. 

MRS. CHASE:  At this time, Your Honor, I 

tender State's Exhibit 126 and its contents.  

MR. LOPER:  No objection, Judge. 

THE COURT:  It's admitted.  

(STATE'S EXHIBIT NO. 126 AND CONTENTS ADMITTED)

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  Lastly, Adam, I think it's 
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been testified in this case previously, and you're 

probably aware just based on the number of reports, 

several items of evidence were processed through Orchid 

Cellmark, also through DPS in 2012, and then, again, 

returned to DPS in 2013.  

Specifically, on October 1st of 2013, did 

you have an opportunity, then subsequently on November 

the 1st of 2013, to examine what I have marked as 

State's Exhibit No. 106? 

THE COURT:  What was the number? 

MRS. CHASE:  106.  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  And my label is on the 

back of this.  I think my tape has been cut off. 

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  Well, we see your markings 

here (indicating).  

A. Yes.  

Q. Correct?

A. I see, yes. 

Q. If -- from inspection of this item, it appears 

that it has both been handled by Ms. Dean from Texas 

Department of Public Safety, as well as submitted by 

Jefferson County.  Is it possible based on the second 

submission of this item that you simply took a look at 

it and made sure that it was in a sealed condition, 

marked it then with the new HOU-1310 number and 
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forwarded it on down the line for processing? 

A. Yes, which explains why my tape is not present 

on it.  

MRS. CHASE:  Okay.  Your Honor, at this 

time, the State will tender -- 

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  Sorry.  One more question.  

Best of your recollection, Adam, you did not involve 

yourself with items included herein.  Did you, in fact, 

note everything on the outside of the packaging and note 

that it was in a sealed condition and then transfer it 

down the line for additional processing, if need be? 

A. Yes.  Yes. 

MRS. CHASE:  Your Honor, at this time, I 

would tender State's Exhibit 106 and its contents, which 

I will recite for the record if there's no objection. 

MR. LOPER:  Judge, we'd just renew our 

previously stated objections. 

THE COURT:  What is -- 

MR. LOPER:  106. 

MRS. CHASE:  Would you like me to recite?  

MR. LOPER:  Would you like me to approach?  

MRS. CHASE:  I think it may help, Your 

Honor, if I recite the contents to you. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MRS. CHASE:  State's Exhibit 106 would be 
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what we have marked as State's Exhibit No. 141, which 

was testified to by Ms. Altamirano as her Exhibit 13.9; 

State's Exhibit 142, again testified to by            

Ms. Altamirano as Exhibit 13.6B.  I believe these were 

items, Your Honor, that would be coming out of the white 

cloth.  State's Exhibit No. 143, which would be lab item 

No. 13.8. 

THE COURT:  I just need the exhibit 

numbers. 

MRS. CHASE:  Okay.  State's Exhibit 144, 

146, 147, 148 and 145.  They're out of order.  I'm 

sorry. 

THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.  

State's 106 and its contents, which include 141, 142, 

143, 144, 145, 146, 147 and 148 are all admitted. 

(STATE'S EXHIBITS NO. 106 AND CONTENTS, 141-148, 

ADMITTED)

Q. (BY MRS. CHASE)  After completing these 

additional presumptive tests and collecting DNA from 

various items of this evidence in this case, Mr. Vinson, 

did you have any opportunity to further conduct analysis 

in this particular case number? 

A. I didn't do any other analysis in this case. 

Q. Thank you so much for coming.  I appreciate it.  

MRS. CHASE:  I pass the witness, Your 
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Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mrs. Chase.  

Mr. Loper?  

MR. LOPER:  Thank you, Judge.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. LOPER:  

Q. Hi, Mr. Vinson.  

A. Good morning. 

Q. My name is Bob Loper.  I don't think we've ever 

met, have we?  

A. No, sir.

Q. Okay.  You've testified in other courts on 

these types of cases, have you not?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I just don't recognize you.  

Now, you still have the report that you 

were looking at a minute ago? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You're at the Houston Forensic Science Center 

now; correct?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. How long have you been there? 

A. About a year and a half. 

Q. Before that, you were working at DPS? 

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. Okay.  What I've just done, just so you know, 

is I was gonna have a few questions for you.  

A. Okay. 

Q. But I was gonna get a copy that didn't have any 

of the lawyer's notes on it to ask you from.  But before 

I get started, and if I come back up here to ask you 

questions, does this appear to be the report that 

reflects the work that you did in this case? 

A. Yes.  And my electronic signature's on the 

back, as well. 

Q. Okay.  Good.  Very good.  

So, back to being at DPS in September and 

October of 2013.  At that time, were you a forensic 

analyst or were you a serologist?  What were you doing? 

A. I've been a forensic analyst the entire time.  

So, at DPS Houston, we break our cases up.  Some people 

do serology testing.  Some people do DNA testing.  Some 

people take a whole case all the way through.  Others 

just do a part of it.  So, this is just the part that I 

was assigned during this case. 

Q. Okay.  Is -- when they do those types of 

assignments, is it -- does it have to do with the case 

itself, does it have to do with you and the amount of 

workload that you have, or do you know how it's done? 

A. We're randomly assigned cases by our 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

SUMMER TANNER, CSR, RPR
252ND DISTRICT COURT

46

supervisor. 

Q. Okay.  So, you could have been assigned to do 

this entire case all the way through; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And it could have been assigned to someone else 

in the lab to do the serology part of it, and you might 

have been assigned to do the DNA analysis part? 

A. Yes.  We're all accredited scientists, so we 

all do the same work.  So, for DPS, it doesn't actually 

matter who does the work. 

Q. Okay.  And of the work that you did in this 

case, which I understand was for the most part the 

serology part; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Because you said you did not do any of the DNA 

analysis?  

A. No, sir.

Q. Someone else would have done that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  All of the work you did then that is in 

this report that's dated in 2013, what -- give the jury 

some idea of the amount of time that it would take to do 

that work.  

A. I'm not sure the amount of time on that.  I'd 

have to reference the case file with my lab notes.  But 
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looking at the amount of evidence, I'm thinking it would 

have taken me several days to get through that work. 

Q. Okay.  There's some notes somewhere that would 

show what actual -- what actual work you did on what 

actual day, I would guess; correct? 

A. Yes, it would be in our case file.  But I'm no 

longer an employee of the State, so I do not have access 

to that information. 

Q. Okay.  Now, you talked a little bit about 

State's Exhibit 95.  And that is this, which, again, as 

you stated earlier, you agree was the -- 

A. The glove. 

Q. -- a glove; correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. All right.  When -- when evidence like this is 

brought to you, to your lab, you don't necessarily have 

the benefit of any evidence or testimony or witness 

statements or anything like that, do you? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. In fact, you probably specifically don't have 

access to that type of information, do you? 

A. It's -- the testing we do is mainly a sort of 

blind testing.  It's unbiassed testing.  I don't see 

anyone else's notes to guide me.  I just know what type 

of offense it is and whether I'm looking for blood or 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

SUMMER TANNER, CSR, RPR
252ND DISTRICT COURT

48

semen or both, and I process the evidence based on what 

I'm looking for. 

Q. Okay.  And, so, it would never occur, I would 

guess, either back there on even now -- and you're with 

Houston Science Center -- that evidence would come in 

with a note that would say a detective says we sure hope 

you find something on this piece of evidence; right?

A. Well, get requests like that all the time.  

It's not like they hope you would find something on it.  

But we're looking for blood in this case, specifically 

test these items for blood.  And it's a contract the 

State does with a police department, so we -- we'll test 

for or look for items that the detectives want us to 

look for. 

Q. Right.  There might be a note asking you to 

look; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But there's not a note instructing you that you 

better find it on this piece of evidence; right? 

A. No.

Q. Because they're the detectives and they do 

their part -- or the agency does their part -- the 

police agency does their part, and you're the forensic 

scientist who's doing your part; correct?

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. And, so, whether you find it or you don't find 

it, it's based upon your strict protocols and your 

training; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  Likewise, on the back end after you've 

done the serology work and you find blood or you don't 

find blood -- and there's lots of explanations there on 

that -- you don't necessarily opine or give some opinion 

as to, Well, this solves this crime.  We know who did 

it; right? 

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  Now, talking about that presumptive test 

that was on State's 95, I understood your testimony to 

be that you did not find any blood in 2013 when you 

looked; correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Using presumptive testing? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Okay.  And you also admitted that that may have 

been contrary to what a previous analyst might have -- a 

previous serologist might have found; correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  Would you have been the person that 

would have been involved in authoring this report that 

would have gone back to the police agency? 
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A. Yes.  My electronic signature is on the back. 

Q. So, this literally is your report? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And, so, the person that you would have sent it 

back to -- don't know if you know that person personally 

or not -- would be Memling Altamirano? 

A. Yes.  The Jefferson County Regional Crime Lab. 

Q. Okay.  And you also said you wouldn't be 

surprised if previous testing showed blood and then your 

testing showed no blood; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  And it has to do with the size of -- 

size of the stains that you're looking for.  Say if you 

have a shirt soaked with blood, it would be easy to test 

for blood hundreds of times and get a positive result.  

If it's a very small area, then once that item is 

collected, we might not find anymore. 

Q. And it's because you said the more that you 

test for blood with a presumptive test, the sample size 

diminished; correct? 

A. Yes.

Q. Sample size diminishes; correct? 

A. When you swab something, you consume a part of 

that stain for testing.  So, the more you test it, the 

more labs that test it, there's fewer and fewer stain 

size remaining. 
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Q. So, if you reach the point in 2013, I guess 

October, because your report's dated November -- October 

or so, in 2013, that you were not able to find blood on 

State's Exhibit 95 -- which is the glove -- 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. -- is because the sample size had diminished, 

is it logical to say that any testing after November, 

2013 would also probably not find blood? 

A. Yes.  I wouldn't expect to find blood on the 

item afterwards.  

Q. You also had State's Exhibit 91, and now that 

it's in evidence, this is -- 91 is a knife box, correct, 

or what we call a knife box? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And 91A would -- is labeled "pocket knife"; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And, so, I understood you to say you actually 

pulled this knife out of whatever packaging it was in -- 

this packaging and tested it; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And you did or did not find any evidence of 

blood? 

A. I'd have to reference my report one more time.  

I don't believe I did.  What was the number -- I'm on 
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it -- 

Q. Well, we go by court exhibit number, but you'd 

probably find the number on here.  

A. 2-12, pocket knife.  I didn't observe any 

bloodstains on this item. 

Q. Okay.  And because you didn't observe any -- 

A. I didn't test. 

Q. -- you didn't test any? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. I'm sorry.  

But you did obtain samples from it to be 

passed on for someone else to look to see if any DNA was 

present; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And would that also indicate -- would further 

testing indicate from the samples you obtained from 91A, 

which is the knife itself, whether there was any blood 

on it, as well? 

A. It wouldn't -- further testing wouldn't show if 

there's blood or not.  The DNA analysis would simply 

show if there's human DNA present.  So, that could be 

blood, it could be contact, it could be sweat, skin 

cells.  It could be any of that.  It won't tell you what 

it was, but it will tell you if it was human or not. 

Q. So, if you have biological evidence or DNA 
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evidence or touch DNA present on an item or an exhibit, 

that does not necessarily mean that it's blood then; is 

that right?

A. It doesn't mean that it's blood.  If we don't 

test it, it doesn't mean that it wasn't blood.  If blood 

is present in a strong enough concentration, our 

chemicals can't detect it anyway.  So, there could have 

been a small amount of blood there, but I would never be 

able to tell you one way or the other.  I could just say 

that I didn't observe it.

Q. But stated another way, DNA could come from 

other things -- from things other than blood; is that 

right?

A. Oh, yes, sir.  Yes, sir. 

Q. Where else can DNA come from if not from blood? 

A. Like I just said.  It comes from your skin.  It 

comes from saliva.  It can come from semen.  It can come 

from your hair.  We're -- humans are constantly shedding 

skin cells and hair.  Your sweat has DNA in it.  

Anything you touch, you can leave behind your DNA 

evidence. 

Q. Okay.  And then just moving forward, State's 

Exhibit 114 was the one that contained the tissue; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. And I believe you said that you did detect 

blood on it and that you did obtain samples to forward 

for the next person to do any analysis, if any; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And do you know -- would you know at the time 

in 2013 if that analysis would have been done at or near 

the time just after you finished your work, would that 

have been done later, or would you know?  

A. It's commonly done later.  With the Houston 

crime lab, there's a backlog of DNA testing because 

there's only so many analysts in the state, and there's 

too much evidence for us to work.  So, it's not uncommon 

for the serology testing to be done, and then a year, 

maybe even two years later for the DNA analysis to be 

done. 

Q. When you said the Houston crime lab, are you 

talking about DPS's Houston Crime Lab -- 

A. The DPS -- 

Q. -- or the crime lab where you work now? 

A. The DPS Crime Lab. 

Q. Okay.  And, so, you wouldn't then necessarily 

know, and I don't think this report could tell us, when 

that next level of analysis would have been done; is 

that right? 

A. No, sir.  My -- my report is purely for the 
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serology, and it doesn't reference anything in the 

future. 

Q. And, likewise, unless you actually spoke to one 

of the DNA analysts who did the work -- and I believe 

they're here.  Unless you spoke to one of them, you 

wouldn't necessarily know of your own personal knowledge 

what the findings were, would you? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. And that's done for a purpose, isn't it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Because you do the serology, and the next 

person does the analysis -- 

A. Unless --

Q. I'm sorry.  I'm interrupting you.  Unless you 

do the whole case through? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Okay.  And then we have State's Exhibit No. 

126, which is marked "white cloth"; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that's one of the items that you looked at; 

correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And my understanding is that you did not detect 

any blood; is that right? 

A. I believe so. 
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Q. I'm sorry (tendering).

A. Yes.  I didn't observe any blood.  I didn't 

test, but I did not observe any blood. 

Q. Okay.  But you did obtain some samples for 

further testing, if any; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And then this is State's Exhibit No. 106, and 

there are a lot of smaller containers inside of it.  I 

wanted to make sure that I was clear on what you did.  

Did you look at the contents, or did I 

understand you to say that you didn't even open the 

container? 

A. So, I didn't even open the container.  My label 

is on it, so I acknowledged the presence of this 

container, but you'll see my evidence tape isn't on this 

so I didn't actually seal this back.  So, I never 

actually opened this container.

Q. Okay.  So, this came to you along with some 

other items.  What would you have actually done with 

this then? 

A. I would have documented that it was probably 

sealed and left it with the rest of the evidence.

Q. This writing that's on the back would not be 

your writing?

A. No, sir, it's not. 
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Q. Would that writing have been there when it came 

to you? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Okay.  But when you said you didn't examine it, 

you didn't -- I think what you just said is open it and 

make sure what's written on the outside is also on the 

inside? 

A. I didn't open this. 

Q. Thank you, Mr. Vinson.  

MR. LOPER:  Pass the witness. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Loper.  

Mrs. Chase?  

MRS. CHASE:  I have nothing further, Your 

Honor.  May he be excused to return to Houston?  

MR. LOPER:  No objection. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Vinson.  You are 

excused. 

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

(WITNESS EXITS COURTROOM)

THE COURT:  You may call your next witness. 

MR. LONG:  Andrew McWhorter.  

(WITNESS ENTERS COURTROOM)

THE COURT:  Good morning. 

THE WITNESS:  Good morning. 

THE COURT:  Please raise your right hand. 
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EXPARTE 

IN THE 252ND"DISTRICT COURT 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, TEXAS 

TRIAL CAUSE NO. 
10-10213-A· 

JOSEPH COLONE, 
APPLICANT. 

) 
) 
) 
) WRIT CAUSE NO. WR-89,538-01 

AFFIDAVIT 

My name is Ashley Chase Molfino. lhave been a licensed attorney since May 2000. I 
have spent my entire career as a prosecutor with the Jefferson County District Attorney's 
Office. I am dedicated to public service, fairness and justice. I have been a continual 
member in.good standing with both the State Bar of Texas and the Jefferson County Bar. 
I have practiced in each of the criminal courts in Jefferson County, in front of many 
judges, both misdemeanor and felony. I believe I have an excellent working relationship 
with the courts, staff and defense bar. My integrity is of the utmost importance to:me and 
I take pride in the oath that it is my dµty to see that justice is done r~ther than to s'.ecure 

· convictions. ! 
I 

I was a member of the prosecution team that tried the capital murder styled State of Texas 
v. Joseph Colone. I am giving this affidavit in response to the claims asserted by the 
Office of Capital Writs. One of my primary roles in preparing the case was to gain a solid 
working knowledge of the physical and forensic evidence. The fact that the case was 
prosecuted almost seven years after the date of the offense naturally led to the evidence 
being subjected to the continual updating of DNA technology and reporting methods. As 
such, multiple reports were issued by both the Orchid Cellmark and Texas Department of 
Public Safety Crime Laboratories. 

The offense occurred on July 31,-2010, with numerous items of evidence collect~d, 
including both physical evidence and swabbirigs of physical evidence. On August 26, 
2010, in order to expedite results, ten items of evidence were sent to Orchid Cellfuark. 
Among these items were a black glove (Ex.2), known samples from the victims and· 

· defendant (Ex.6A,7A,9), a blue towel (Ex. 10), a cutting from a black sleeveless 
undershirt (Ex. 11.3A) and swabs collected from a white dodge charger believed ;to be . 

· associated with the offense (Ex. 13.3,13.5,13.6A,13.7 with multiple swabs taken ;:it each 
of these noted locations). Orchid Cellmark conduced both "rush" and normal turrtaround 

. . . I 

testing, and issued reports on August 31, 2010 and September 30, 2010. The items of 
evidence, the unanalyzed swabbings, and the extracts generated as part of the analysis 
were packaged separately, placed into.a large Federal Express envelope, and then placed 
into a styrofoam cooler. The sealed cooler and its contents were returned via Feder 1 
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Express to the Jefferson County Regional Crime Lab, with an arrival date of February 18, 
2011. Although the only items that would require refrigeration were the analyzed 
extracts, the styrofoam cooler and all of the items within were stored in the Jefferson 
County Regional Crime Laboratory_freezer. 

With respect to the styrofoam cooler,_it is important to understand the packaging of the 
contents. The cooler itself is considered the outside packaging or convenience container. 
Contained within the styrofoam cooler were a ziplock bag containing Orchid paperwork 

. and a large sealed Federal Express envelope. Inside of the Federal Express envelope 
were four (4) 9x12 envelopes, one (1) 6x9 envelope, and a sealed ziplock bag coritaining 
the following: 

b 
1. 9x12 envelope containing Exhibit 2 (glove) 

2. · 9 x12 envelope containing Exhibit 10 (towel) 

3. 9x 12 envelope containing: 
Exhibit 6A inside of a coin envelope that was inside of a 6x9 envelope 
Exhibit 7 A inside of a coin envelope that was inside of a 6x9 envelope 
Exhibit 9 inside of a coin envelope that was inside of a 9xl4, folded envelope 
Exhibit 13.6A inside of a coin envelope that was inside of a 6x9 envelope 

4. 9x12 envelope containing: 
Exhibit 13 .3 inside of a coin envelope 
Exhibit 13 .5 inside of a coin envelope 
Exhibit 13. 7 inside of a coin envelope 

5. 6x9 envelope containing: 
Exhibit 11.3A inside of a coin envelope 

6. Sealed ziplock bag containing the Orchid analyzed extracts 

Pursuant to the ordinary course of the investigation the DPS crime lab was also utilized 
. I 

for forensic testing. On March 4, 2011 the known samples (listed above 6A, 7 A, 9,) along 
with additional evidence, including cuttings and swabbings that were not previou'sly 
submitted to Orchid Cellmark, were submitted to DPS. (Note at.this point Exhibit 13.6A 
remained in the packaging described_ above within the styrofoam cooler at the 
JCRCL).Results of this submission are detailed in the September 20, 2011 serology/DNA 
report of Tanya Dean. 

I 
l 

I 
On September 18, 2013 the Court ordered that all items of evidence in this case that had 

I 

not been previously tested by an accredited crime lab be submitted for biological testing·. 
On October l, 2013 the cooler along with an additional box of evidence was submitted in 

-person to the DPS Houston lab by Jefferson County Regional Crime Laboratory 
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personnel. The labeling instruction indicated that the cooler be refrigerated. On October 
31, 2013 S. Adam Vinson, at the time a forensic scientist with DPS, came into th¢ testing 
process in the role of forensic serologist. Despite the aforementioned instruction, ihe 
cooler had not been refrigerated. This information was not noted within the official 
laboratory report authored and. issued by Vinson. The fact was documented in working 
lab notes ("bench notes") taken by Vinson. My first knowledge of this bench note was 
upon my review of the OCW writ. The bench note was never in the possession of the 
prosecution, nor did I have any knowledge of it. Clearly this is regrettable, but by no 
means was it intentional. Had I known of this bench note I would have certainly made it 
available to defense counsel. I would have questioned Mr. Vinson about it on direct 
examination, and the jury would have been made aware that the lack of refrigeration was 
of no concei:n to Vinson as it affected only tlie Federal Express envelope packaging and 
not the evidence (packaged as detailed above) that he went on to screen for presumptive 
blood, trace, and collect for possible DNA analysis. There would be no reason to 
intentionally "hide" or suppress such a note as its contents were clearly not harmful and 
could have been very easily explained. 

In preparing Mr. Vinson for trial I relied upon my historically common practice of 
relying upon the issued report and a pre-trial conference. As Mr. Vinson was no longer 
with DPS at the time of trial, I provided him with a copy of his report in advance. As a 
chain of custody and serology witness his testimony was not complicated, nor was his 
preparation. I did not request a copy of the DPS file, nor did Mr. Vinson ask that I make . . 

it available to him. This fact was not unusual. He states that had he reviewed his notes 
prior to his testimony he would not have brought up the note, as the note did not affect 
the evidence that he screened and pertained only to the Federal Express envelope Within 
the cooler and not the packaging within that envelope (detailed above). 

The OCW associates the bench riote with inpartthe claim that Mr. Vinson testified 
falsely. · 

Mr. Vinson did not testify falsely. I asked a poorly phrased question that was directed at 
I 

the condition of the seals on the packaging. This is common when questioning a1chain of 
custody witness. Generally the questions are about the sealed condition of the evidence 
upon the lab receiving it, and about the unique identifiers such as initials, lab numbers 
and colors of evidence tape. See excerpt below: 

(RR pg. 33) 
Q: And did you come into contact with this item, as is designated by your unique 
initials, the cause number and the item number? : · 
A:Yes 
Q: And had there been something awry with it, had it not been sealed or i 
something like that, you would have noted that, but you did not do so in this case? 

. . 



A: The Houston DPS laboratory has an evidence receiving department. Stj, before 
any analyst upstairs in the laboratory actually sees the evidence, they veri(y that it 
has shipped correctly and its' in a proper sealed state or else they don't admit it to 
the laboratory;. 
Q: Okay. And, again just for purposes of the record, in State's exhibit 93, the 
same with this convenience contajner, which is a Styrofoam cooler. Do yciu see 
there your markings and the date, as well? 
A: Yes. Yes. 
Q: Same principle applies to this pieye of evidence?·. 
A:Yesma'am. · 

In a review of the transcript it is clear that my question was directed at the seals and 
identifying markings. Had I known of the bench note I would have NOT stated in the 
question ''but you did not do so in this case?" I would have addressed the "something 
awry" (ie: lack of refrigeration and ensuing liquid at the bottom of the container) with the 
witness directly. I take offense to the OCW's position that this leading question infers 
that I ha:d "previously investigated the topic ... and had knowledge of the analyst's notes". 
I did not Mr. Vinson was testifying from memory. He had not reviewed his lab notes 
nor had the subject of the bench note come up in any conversation. When the question 
was asked he clearly did not recall that in fact he had documented that "something awry" 
in the note. · 

The OCW claims that the prosecution suppressed exculpatory information that the cri_me 
scene evidence had been mishandled and was potentially altered by degradation or 
contamination. The defense did not make an issue of the DNA and the findings i~sued in 
multiple reports from 2010 to 2014 (Minifiler) to 2017 (STRmx). With re~pect to 
contamination, Mr. Vinson states the noted irregularity (bench note) does not reflect a 
quality issue with the evidence-itself but only the Federal Express envelope packaging. 
He states that he takes quality seriously and would not issue results for items damaged by 
water or mold. Had there been contamination, the testing (serology/trace) and collections 

. (for possible DNA an~lysis) conducted at this stage of the process would not-have been 
forwarded down the line for DNA analysis. The contamination would have been 
documented and the process·halted. It is common to see in serology reports that an item 
may be "unsuitable for DNA testing", yet this not found in the November 14, 2013 report 
with respect to the glove, towel or swabbings. Additionally the extracts collected and 
tested by Orchid were NOT used by DPS therefore any contamination or degradation of. 
those extracts is moot. 

' 
According to Andrew McWhorter, DNA Section Supervisor with DPS Houston, DPS 

. I 

handled the glove, towel, and swabs in a manner that would prevent degradation '.and 
contamination, and no indications of contamination were observed using the quality 



control steps during processing. Mc Whorter goes on to note that degradation can ~ause a 
contributor's DNA to not be detected in a mixture profile; however, it will not caµse the 
opposite: a person's profile to appear in a mixture. This information suggests that if in 
fact there was any degradation in the evidence in the cooler, that would fact have: 
benefited the defendant as the reported inclusion numbers would have actually been 
lower. 

I understand that it is my responsibility as a prosecutor to have knowledge of and,disclose 
potentially exculpatory information to the defense. I take this seriously. I was not 
informed by Mr. Vinson of the existence of this bench note. I am confident in the 
conclusion of DPS that the evidence in this case was analyzed appropriately and that the 
conclusions drawn appear to be scientifically sound and aligned with current national 
guidelines and standard operating procedures. I am also confident that at all times during 
the preparation and prosecution of the case that I conducted myself with the ethics and 
integrity that is required of all members of the Texas Bar. 

Affiant 

SWORN AND SUBSCRIBED to before on this the J_,?J r~ay of O ~-t1) b er , 
2019. 

The State of Texas 
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STATE OF TEXAS 

JOSEPH COLONE 
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AFFIDAVIT 

My name is Andrew P. Mc Whorter. I am 42 years old and of sound mind. I 
am a DNA Section Supervisor/Technical Leader and have been employed with the 
Texas Department of Public Safety for approximately 15 years. I am trained and 
qualified in Forensic DNA analysis. I am providing this affidavit (with supporting 
attachments) on behalf of the Texas Department of Public Safety Crime Lab in 
response at the request of the Jefferson County District Attorney's Office to the 
capital murder writ filed in connection with Ex parte Joseph Colone, Writ Cause 
No. WR-89,538-01 (Trial Cause No. 10-10213-A). 

Andre P. Mc Whorter 
DNA Section Supervisor/Technical 
Leader 

? rd A,_.._, 
Sworn to before me on this _v __ day oll.AA])\)e{ , 2019. 

NOTARYPUBLIC: ~Q-% 

EXHIBIT. 
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1. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that improper storage of the glove,:towel, and 

swabs from the suspect's girlfriend's car led to potential DNA degra,dation and contamination of 

the samples. 

DPS can only speak to the integrity of the evidence while it was under the control of the laboratory. 

Degradation and contamination could have occurred prior to submission to the laboratory. DPS handled 

the glove, towel, and swabs in a manner that would prevent degradation and contamination and no 

indications of contamination were observed using the required quality control steps during processing. 

The physical evidence was listed as a glove, towel, and swabs from the car of the suspect's girlfriend, all 

of which were in separate envelopes within the FedEx envelope and would not require refrigeration in 

accordance with the Biological Evidence Preservation Handbook: Best Practices for Evidence Handlers 

{NISTIR 7928) and DPS policy. The analyst noted that the FedEx envelope was soggy but made no 

notation about moisture or liquid coming into contact with the inner envelopes.· Additionally, the cooler 

contained DNA extracts from Orchid Cellmark and these extracts were in sealed plastic tubes that were 

sealed into a plastic baggie within the FedEx envelope, making them impermeable to any liquid from the 

outside. This layer of packaging would have also prevented any liquid contained in the extract tubes 

from leaking onto any other evidence within the FedEx envelope: Additionally, DPS did not use the DNA 

extracts from Orchid Cell mark to make any reported conclusions in this case but they shoul_d have been 

stored refrigerated or frozen for preservation if liquid was present for preservation for future testing if 

needed. 

Regarding the false testimony allegation and the excerpt of testimony provided, the questions appear to 

be directed to the exterior container and the status of the seals, not the state of the inner contents. A 

review of the transcript of the testimony of Mr. Vinson regarding the exterior container an~ the status 

of the seals revealed that Mr. Vinson was testifying from memory. He was no longer employed by DPS 

at the time of his testimony, and he did not request or receive a copy of his notes for this case. He 

instead told the court that he no longer had access to the notes. Had DPS been asked, they would have 

provided Mr. Vinson with a copy of his notes prior to testimony. The questions asked by the prosecutor 

were focused on the presence or absence of seals on the container. Mr. Vinson correctly responded 

that DPS has an evidence receiving department, and this department would not let the evidence into 

the laboratory without a proper seal. He then responded later on to the prosecutors vague question 

concerning "had there been something awry with it, had it not been sealed or something like that" _that 

he would have noted this in the case record. This testimony is true because he did in fact note that 

something was awry with the evidence in his case notes. However, because Mr. Vinson did not ask for a 

copy of the case notes, he was unable to provide the most complete and accurate testimony regarding 

the condition of the evidence. 

There was no documented follow up by Mr. Vinson on the note in the case record concernjng the 

damaged envelope. ! 

Tanya Dean and Andrew McWhorter testified in this trial on the same day as Mr. Vinson. They were in 

possession of the hard copy of the case record at that time and would have provided the case record to 

Mr. Vinson had he asked for it. However, Mr. Vinson did not ask to review the contents of the folder at 

any time prior to or during the trial. 



2. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts the following regarding misinterpretation of 

number of contributors: the effect of adding more contributors into the mixture wtjuld make it a 

5-person mixture and this would have caused DPS to not analyze the sample. Degradation could 

cause DPS to incorrectly identify the number of contributors in a mixture and could·mean that 

additional, unknown people could have contributed to the mixtures. 

DNA analysts can never know for certain the true number of contributors in a mixture; however, the 

number of contributors is assessed by a qualified DNA analyst based on characteristics in the DNA 

profile. Overestimating the number of contributors in a mixture increases the risk of a false inclusion 

and underestimating the number of contributors increases the risk of a false exclusion. 

Degradation can cause a contributor's DNA to not be detected in a mixture profile; however, it will not 

cause the opposite: a person's profile to appear in a mixture. 

Assigning a number of contributors in a mixture is a necessary step in DNA interpretation. An analyst 

can never definitively know how many individuals contributed DNA to evidence samples so they must 

make an assumption during interpretation about number of contributors that is based on characteristics 

observed in the DNA profile and the assumption is documented in the case record. DNA analysts 

performed validation studies and analysts continue to perform studies during training to learn how DNA 

mixture profiles behave; this is a way of limiting subjectivity in assigning the number of contributors. 

The DNA report communicates that the profile is interpreted as a single source or interpreted as a 

mixture of 2, 3, or 4 people; the report includes the assumptions used to report a conclusion. 

Changing the number of contributors can change whether the mixture is interpreted with or without the 

use of probabilistic genotyping software·such as STRmix. Studies have shown that overestimating the 

number of contributors (adding more contributors than what there actually are in the sample) will 

increase the risk of falsely including a person's DNA in the profile. This happens because assuming extra 

potential contributors allows the interpretation to consider more possible allele combinations that 

result in more possible profile contributions. (Reference 1: Biedermann et al, Inference about the 

number of contributors to a DNA mixture: Comparative analyses of a Bayesian network approach and 

the maximum allele count method. FSI: Genetics 6 (2012), 689-696. Also Reference 2: Buckleton et al, 

Towards understanding the effect of uncertainty in the number of contributors to DNA stains. FSI: 

Genetics 1(2007) 20-28.) DPS has restricted interpretation for complex mixture profiles so that if a 

manual interpretation is done, a mixture of 4 or more people is not interpreted. If a STRmix 

interpretation is done, a mixture of 5 or more people is not interpreted; in the case of STRmix 

interpretations, the limitation is due to the power of the computers in use and not due to limitations of 

the software. 

3. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts the following regarding a mismatch, between 

DNA data and STRmix software: lowering AT allowed potential noise or artifacts to lbe included 

in consideration of the DNA, and DPS programmed STRmix so that it could not dist(nguish 
' between noise and actual DNA. 

This assertion is inaccurate. DPS did not program STRmix so that it could not distinguish b~tween noise 

and actual DNA. Artifacts commonly occur in PCR-based DNA analysis. DNA analysts are trained to 



I 

I 
recognize artifacts and remove them. 

artifacts are present. 

If they are not removed, STRmix diagnostics can indiJate that 
I 

I 

In response to recommendations in the forensic community regarding interpretation of DNA mixtures, 

DPS began an evaluation of the analytical threshold (AT) and a second threshold called the stochastic 

threshold in 2013. In 2015 after numerous validation studies, it was determined that the AT in use at 

the time filtered out information that was actual DNA rather than noise or artifacts. The study 

supported lowering the AT from 100 RFU to 50 RFU (See Reference 3: Summary of Evaluation of Dual 

Threshold for Use in Casework Houston.) The AT was lowered to 50 RFU and an additional stochastic 

threshold was implemented along with updated mixture interpretation policies; this occurred prior to 

and independent of DPS purchasing STRmix software. The determination of an analytical threshold 

appears in the Scientific Working Group for DNA Analysis Methods (SWGDAM) guidelines independently 

of probabilistic genotyping requirements. This document cautions against setting the AT too high 

because it will cause loss of allelic data (See Reference 4: Scientific Working Group on DNA Analysis 

Methods Interpretation Guidelines for Autosomal STR Typing by Forensic DNA Testing Laboratories p 9). 

The guidelines also point out that the AT should be set using empirical data that will help the lab 

determine what is signal from DNA and what is noise. Additionally, one of the first steps to validating 

STRmix software in the guide from the manufacturer is to determine an AT; the number for the AT is 

then input into the software for future studies (Reference 5: STRmix V2.4 Implementation <!nd 

Validation Guide p 10). The AT is evaluated for each amplification kit used and with each new 

instrument model purchased to account for differences in chemistry and instrument sensitivity. 

In order for STRmix to function properly, the analyst has to remove artifacts and noise peaks prior to 

entering the data into the software (Reference 6: STRmix V2.3 User's manual p 11). Extensive validation 

work and training has been undertaken in order for DPS to identify artifacts and noise. If artifacts and 

noise are not properly removed from the profile prior to STRmix entry, the software has po.st-run 

diagnostics that indicate issues within the run. A common cause of post-run diagnostic problems is 

failure to remove artifacts and noise from the profile (Reference 6: STRmix V2.3 User's manual p 112-

114). Profiles and post-run diagnostics are reviewed by the analyst and a technical reviewer for every 

run in every case. There was no "mismatch between DNA data and STRmix software;" DPS.validation 

studies support lowering the AT to allow the use of more data. Additionally, the validation studies led to 

development of standard operating procedures that ensure removal of any artifacts and noise from the 

data (Reference 7: Texas DPS Standard Operating Procedures Manual Autosomal STR Interpretation 

Guidelines p 1-6. Also Reference 8: Texas DPS Standard Operating Procedures STRmix Autosomal STR 

Interpretation Guidelines p 1-3 and 10-12. Also Reference 9: Texas DPS DNA Training Manual Capillary 

Electrophoresis (CE) Instrument Operation, Analysis, and Troubleshooting p 4-8.) 

4. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that DPS did not provide a study indicating that 

they had tested whether analysts could obtain reliable results when they applied a, lower 

threshold to data g_enerated prior to lowering AT. i 

This assertion is accurate, DPS did not provide this study; there was no documented discov'ery request 

received the laboratory. 

The laboratory was not requested at the time to provide this study. The validation for the lowering of 

the AT and the manual mixture deconvolution validation was done independently of the STRmix 

validation. This study along with the competency tests that analysts were required to take: in order to 
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use the method demonstrate that the analysts are able to obtain reliable results when they/I apply a 

lower AT to data irrespective of when the data was generated. (See Reference 3: Summary of 

Evaluation of Dual Threshold for Use in Casework Houston, p 63-91 for a comparison of the'.same data 

analyzed using a 100 RFU AT and then a 50 RFU AT.) 

5. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that this was the first time STRmix was used on 

the Minifiler kit 

STRmix was used in State v Skinner which occurred prior to the trial of Joseph Colone; therefore, this 

assertion is inaccurate. 

This was not the first time STRmix was used on the Minifiler kit, and the application of STRmix to DNA 

results generated by this kit was not unprecedented. DPS fully validated the interpretation of Minifiler 

data with the STRmix software prior to using it on casework samples. Additionally, STRmix software was 

used to interpret Minifiler DNA data in State of Texas v Skinner. This is a death penalty case where the 

conviction and death sentence were upheld on appeal in 2016. Part of the evidence presented during 

the appeal was developed using the Minifiler amplification kit and interpreted using STRmix by Texas 

DPS (Reference 10: Henry Watkins Skinner, Appellant, v The State of Texas June 8, 2016). 

6. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that DPS does not appear to have tested and 

confirmed that STRmix would get reliable results if used with DNA data generated when the 

analytic threshold was 100 RFU. 

While this assertion is accurate, it was unnecessary for DPS to test and confirm that STRmix would get 

reliable results if used with DNA data generated when the analytical threshold was 100 RFU because 

DPS had already validated and was using a lowered threshold to interpret samples before DPS ever 

started using STRmix. 

DPS did not test or confirm that STRmix would get reliable results if used with DNA data generated when 

the analytic threshold was 100 RFU. This is because DPS had previously determined through validation 

work that an analytical threshold of 100 RFU was high resulting in some allelic DNA to be ignored (See 

Reference 3: Summary of Evaluation of Dual Threshold for Use in Casework Houston). DPS 

demonstrated through extensive validation that STRmix provides reliable results if used with DNA data 

generated when the analytical threshold was 50 RFU. The validation work used what is known as 

"ground-truth samples." These samples are single donor and mixture samples of varying concentrations 

and proportions that are made in the laboratory from various body fluids. Because the body fluids were 

collected from known donors and used in the laboratory by analysts to make samples of differing 

concentrations and proportions, the correct answer is known. DPS used these samples to test the 

STRmix software including the precision, sensitivity, reproducibility, and ability to separate mixture 

proportions. The software performed as expected and was shown to be reliable (Reference 11: 
I 

Laboratory System Validation Report Internal Validation of STRmix v2.3.07 for the Minifiler: Kit and the 
I 

3130-Series Genetic Analyzer). : 

7. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that if the source code were examined, defense 

could have established that STRmix is not sufficiently reliable to be admitted in court. 
I 

I 
I 



The source code for STRmix was available at the time of Mr. Colone's trial; the process invo
1

1ves a 

request to see the source code via the STRmix website. 1 

STRmix developers give instructions on how to request access to the source code for the software; this 

access has been available since 2016. (http:ljstrmix.esr.cri.nz/assets/Uploads/Defence-Access-to­

STRmix-April-2016.pdf) STRmix is reliable and had already been admitted in court several times prior to 

Colone's trial. Examples of cases are found as follows: 

Reference 12: State of Texas v Smith, 2016 (appeal 2017} 

Reference 10: State of Texas v Skinner, appeal 2016 

Reference 13: State of Texas v Clack, 2016 

Reference 14: State of Texas v. Crawford, 2016 

8. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts: Relatedness calculations would show that Mr. 

Colone's uncle is included in the mixture on the glove 

DPS has not validated the relatedness calculations for STRmix; therefore, DPS cannot comment on this 

point. 

9. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts in regards the PCAST report: probabilistic 

genotyping requires "careful scrutiny" to determine reliability and limitations of prpgram. 

This is accurate. Careful scrutiny of any technique is necessary prior to its use in Forensic DNA testing 

and the references below show that DPS applied this scrutiny to the STRmix software prior to use. 

Any technology/method used in a forensic laboratory requires "careful scrutiny" to determine reliability 

and limitations. This is why the FBI Quality Assurance Standards and the SWGDAM guidelines require 

that a technology/method that is newly implemented in a forensic laboratory be subjected.to validation 

studies prior to use in casework (See Reference 15: Scientific Working Group on DNA Analysis Methods 

Guidelines for the Validation of Probabilistic Genotyping Systems. Also see Reference 16: The FBI 

Quality Assurance Standards Audit for Forensic DNA Testing Laboratories p 49-55). Validation generally 

consists of using samples and conditions similar to those found in casework in order to determine if the 

technology/method is functioning correctly in the laboratory. This involves studies to determine 

precision, accuracy, reproducibility, contamination assessment, sensitivity, and establishment of 

operating parameters. DPS perf'.ormed extensive validation of STRmix with multiple amplification kits 

prior to using it on casework samples (See Reference 11: Laboratory System Validation Report Internal 

Validation of STRmix v2.3.07 for the Minifiler Kit and the 3130-Series Genetic Analyzer). Additionally, 

some of this validation data was used in a publication in a forensic journal that compiled STRmix 

validation data from multiple user labs to show that the software is reliable. (See Reference 17: Internal 

validation of STRmix-A multi laboratory response to PCAST. Also Reference 18: The Probabilistic 
Genotyping Software STRmix: Utility and Evidence for its Validity. Journal of Forensic Scien~es). 

' ! 
10. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that STRmix did much of the interpreting for 

DPS's analysts 

STRmix is a tool that each Forensic Analyst uses to help with mathematical calculations; given the 

amount of calculations needed to interpret some of the more complex DNA profiles, it would be 

impractical to perform these calculations by hand. 



The purpose of STRmix software is to aid the analyst when performing DNA interpretation. I The value of 

the software is that it uses biological modeling to test multiple allele combinations through
1
out the 

profile and determine which ones are most representative of the DNA profile data. The sorware is 

capable oftesting possible combinations much quicker and more thoroughly than a humani analyst can 

process. However, even though STRmix is testing these combinations and proposing an interpretation, 

the analyst is still involved with the software. The analyst must evaluate the software output including 

post-run diagnostics, mixture proportions, and allele combinations in relation to the profile data in order 

to determine that the software ran properly. The analyst also has to have extensive knowledge of how 

the software performs its interpretation and be able to apply that knowledge to case analysis. In this 

regard, the analyst is still responsible for interpretation of the data because they have the ability to 

decide if a run by the software was not optimal and might need to be repeated (See Reference 8: Texas 

DPS Standard Operating Procedures STRmix Autosomal STR Interpretation Guidelines p 5 and 10-12). 

11. The Office of Forensic and Capital Writs asserts that DPS failed to adequately validate STRmix's 

use in this case. 

DPS thoroughly and adequately validated STR.mix software prior to using it in casework; therefore, the 

assertion is inaccurate. 

DPS adequately validated STRmix's use in this case as evidenced by the validation studies p,erformed 

prior to using STRmix on casework samples (See Reference 11: Laboratory System Validatiqn Report 

Internal Validation of STRmix v2.3.07 for the Minifiler Kit and the 3130-Series Genetic Analyzer). 

Additionally, DPS mixture interpretation and probabilistic genotyping protocols and validations have 

been reviewed by the Forensic Science Commission. 

Conclusion: The evidence in this case was analyzed appropriately and the conclusions drawn 

appear to be scientifically sound and aligned with current national guidelines and standard 

operating procedures. 
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STATE OF TEXAS § 
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON § 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 

Case# I;0-10213 
I 

I 

Before me, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared, Stephen Adam Vinson, who after being 
by me first duly sworn on his oath, deposes and says: 

My name is Stephen Adam Vinson. I am thirty-two years old. I came to the Jefferson County Criminal 
District Attorney's Office on Thursday, October 10, 2019, to meet with Investigator Lauren Kemp regarding 
my testimony during the Joseph Colone trial. I am providing this statement to Investigator Kemp freely and 
voluntarily. 

I have my Bachelors of Science Degree in Forensic Science from Baylor University in Waco, Texas. I have 
. extensive on-the-job training from Orchid Cellmark in Dallas, Texas, The Texas Department of Public Safety 
Crime Laboratory in Houston, Texas, and the Houston Forensic Science Center in Houston, Texas. I am 
currently employed as a Forensic Analyst with HFSC, where my main role is DNA interpretation. 

On October 01, 2013, the DPS Houston Laboratory received evidence for the Joseph Colone case. I performed 
serology testing on that evidence, the findings of which are summarized in my Laboratory Report dated 
November 14, 2013. 

I was recently contacted by Assistant District Attorney, Ashley Molfino of the Jefferson County Criminal 
District Attorney's Office who indicated that she needed to meet with me regarding my testimo1;1y in this case. 
She advised me that this case was being appealed and that she needed to discuss some information brought up 
in the appeal. My testimony during the trial was brief, and I testified based on my report only. At the time of 
my testimony, I was no longer employed by Texas DPS, and I testified to the information in my Laboratory 
Report that was generated during the normal course of business at DPS. I did not testify from my lab notes, and 
I did not review1liem prior to my testimony. The Laboratory Report sums up my findings in the case, and it is 
Technically Reviewed as well as Administratively Reviewed by two other qualified Forensic Scientists before 
being released as an official record ofmy serology findings. It is common practice for me to testify from my 
report alone, and only reference notes if specifically instructed to do so by the prosecution or the defense. It 
was brought to my attention when discussing this case recently with ADA Molfino that one of my notes in the 
case file was mentioned in the Writ Application. I have reviewed that specific case note, and it appropriately 
reflects the condition of the outer packaging for the evidence. It was my common practice while I screened at 
DPS to note any irregularities in my bench notes. I appropriately testified that any irregularities would have 
been captured in my notes. However, the noted irregularity does not reflect a quality issue with the evidence 
itself, only the outer packaging in which it came to the laboratory. Although there was mention ofliquid being 
in the evidence packaging, a complete review on my bench notes did not reveal any mention of mold being on 
the other items that I examined. Had there been any quality concern with the actual items of evidence that I 
examined, I would have explicitly mentioned that in my bench notes. Had I reviewed my case file prior to 
testimony, I would not have brought up the note to ADA Molfino, as the note does not affect the evidence that 
I screened and pertains only to the outer packaging in which the evidence was received. 

I take quality seriously, and would not issue results for items damaged by water or mold. My bench notes were 
thorough because as a forensic scientist, I note all details that I observe in every case. On review of my 
transcript, I may have failed to directly answer ADA Molfino's question about any irregularities on the outer 
packaging. However, I did in fact note an irregularity in my bench notes. I did not testify falsely. That 
irregularity was not reported or addressed otherwise as it did not affect the evidence that I was screening. If the 
liquid in the cooler had in fact damaged any evidence, it would not have been taken forward to DNA analysis 
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and it would have been noted as not suitable for testing in my bench notes and my laboratory report. The note 
is not a technical issue, and I testified truthfully to my process. To my knowledge, my bench rtotes were not 
subject to review by the prosecution or the defense, nor did I discuss my bench notes with eithet party prior to 
my testimony. I can say with certainty, if this specific bench note was brought to my attention prior to 
testimony, I would have explained the insignificance of this bench note to both parties. Th~s explanation 
would have surely eliminated any concern regarding the integrity of the evidence. · 

I have read each page of this statement consisting of page( s ), each page of which bears my: signature, and 
corrections, if any, bear my initials, and I affirm that the facts contained herein are true and correct. I will 
] to these facts in cou 

Signature of Affiant 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this JO day of, <{b- 201 / 
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REPORTER'S RECORD

VOLUME 24 OF 37

CAUSE NO. 10-10213-A 

CCA NO. WR-89,538-01

EX PARTE

JOSEPH KENNETH COLONE,

APPLICANT

*
*
*
*
*
*
*

 IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF 

 JEFFERSON  COUNTY, TEXAS  

 252ND  JUDICIAL DISTRICT   
  

------------------------------

ORAL DEPOSITION OF STEPHEN ADAM VINSON 

SEPTEMBER 22, 2020

(Reported Remotely) 

------------------------------ 

ORAL DEPOSITION OF STEPHEN ADAM VINSON, produced as 

a witness at the instance of the Office of Capital & 

Forensic Writs, and duly sworn, was taken in the 

above-styled and numbered cause on the 22nd day of 

September, 2020, from 9:36 a.m. to 11:28 a.m., via 

Zoom, before Cristy Burnett Smith, CSR, RPR, in and for 

the State of Texas, reported by machine shorthand, at 

the offices of the Jefferson County Courthouse, 1085 

Pearl Street, Beaumont, Texas, pursuant to the Texas 

Rules of Civil Procedure, the Emergency Order regarding 

the COVID-19 State of Disaster, and the provisions, if 

any, stated on the record or attached hereto.
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A P P E A R A N C E S

FOR THE STATE VIA ZOOM:  

MR. WAYLN THOMPSON 
SBOT NO. 19959725
Assistant District Attorney 
Jefferson County Courthouse 
1085 Pearl Street 
Beaumont, Texas 77701 

FOR THE DEFENDANT/APPLICANT, JOSEPH COLONE, VIA ZOOM:

MR. MARO SEA ROBBINS
SBOT NO. 24109243
MS. KELSEY PEREGOY 
SBOT NO. 24118493
MR. MARK E. FULLER
SBOT. NO. 24105640
Attorneys at Law 
Office of Capital & Forensic Writs
1700 Congress Avenue, Suite 460
Austin, Texas 78701

MR. GRAYSON SUNDERMEIR
MR. JOSEPH WARDEN 
MR. MICHAEL J. BALLANCO
MS. NITIKA GUPTA FIORELLA  
Attorneys at Law 
Fish & Richardson, P.C.
222 Delaware Avenue, 17th Floor
Wilmington, Delaware 19801
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THE REPORTER:  Any stipulations on the 

record, please?  

MR. ROBBINS:  There are no stipulations. 

THE REPORTER:  What about signature?  

MR. ROBBINS:  Oh, right.  Let me just 

jump in.  Mr. Vinson?  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

MR. ROBBINS:  Just because -- my name is 

Maro Robbins.  I'm one of the lawyers representing 

Mr. Colone. 

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir. 

MR. ROBBINS:  Mr. Sundermeir is actually 

going to be doing the questioning, but let me just tell 

you this formality about -- because we're proceeding by 

depositions instead of in a live court evidentiary 

hearing, the rules let witnesses have -- can receive a 

copy of the transcript, once it's prepared, and, you 

know, check is for any mis- -- like errors or that 

things were transcribed wrong, something like that.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

MR. ROBBINS:  And -- or you know, sign  

on -- certifying that it's correct; or you can just 

waive that process and not get the copy of it and just 

let the process go forward.  So, it's up to you what 

you wanted to do.
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THE WITNESS:  I'll definitely take a 

copy. 

STEPHEN ADAM VINSON,

having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MR. SUNDERMEIR: 

Q. Good morning, Mr. Vinson.  How are you today? 

A. Good.  How are you?  

Q. Doing well, thank you.  

You understand you are under oath, 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you understand that your testimony today 

is just as important as if you were testifying in 

court, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. So, you understand you must give truthful, 

accurate and complete testimony, right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And of course, you'll do that, right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Is there any reason, medical or otherwise, 

that you cannot give truthful and accurate testimony? 

A. No.  

Q. If that changes for any reason, you must let 
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me know immediately.  All right? 

A. Perfect.  Will do.  

Q. I want to start with some background, if you 

don't mind.  Where do you currently work?

A. I currently work at the Houston Forensic 

Science Center? 

Q. And what is your job title? 

A. I am a forensic DNA analyst.  

Q. And you used to work as a forensic analyst at 

the Department of Public Safety in Houston; is that 

right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. When was that? 

A. That was from 2011, the Fall, to 2015, the 

Fall.  About four years in total.  

Q. Why did you leave? 

A. I left for a better job opportunity.  

Q. In your time at DPS, did you have any other 

job titles besides forensic analyst? 

A. I don't believe my DPS title was forensic 

analyst.  I believe there were Forensic Scientist 1, 

Forensic Scientist 2; and when I left, i just hit the 

Forensic Scientist 3 mark.  

Q. You started as a Forensic Scientist 1? 

A. Yes.  
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Q. What's your job description as a forensic 

scientist? 

A. As a forensic scientist for DPS, you're -- the 

job description is to screen evidence for the presence 

of biological material; and not just screen the 

evidence but you are also collecting evidence -- such 

as, trace hairs and fibers that I can't test because 

I'm not a trace analyst but also swabbing things for 

the presence of contact DNA -- skin cells that get left 

behind, saliva, things that we don't test for at DPS, 

per se, but things that carry biological material.  

Q. Okay.  And how many items of evidence do you 

think you handled in an average day when you were at 

DPS? 

A. That depends.  If it's a -- it could be 

anywhere from a comforter that could take you a whole 

week to work, or it could be multiple sexual assault 

kits a day.  It just depends on the case and the 

complexity of the case.  I worked a lot of cases at 

DPS.  

Q. Did anyone report to you as a forensic 

scientist? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And who did you report to? 

A. My direct supervisor was Kristi -- oh, gosh.  
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I'm trying to think of -- I can't remember Kristi's 

last name.  It's been awhile.  She was my -- she is the 

current supervisor at DPS right now.  And then over her 

was our technical leader, Andrew McWhorter.  

Q. Now, within the lab at DPS, who is responsible 

for quality assurance? 

A. Everybody, really.  I mean, quality is the -- 

quality is the basis behind what we do for collecting 

evidence in forensic cases.  

Q. So, if you had a quality issue, you would take 

that to Cindy (sic) first? 

A. That would be directly to Andrew McWhorter.  

He's our technical leader.  So, he -- he responds to 

technical issues within the DNA section.  So, any 

quality event would be -- would have gone through him.  

Q. Now, while you were working at DPS, you were 

asked to conduct serology testing for evidence in a 

case involving Joseph Colone; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. That was around October of 2013? 

A. Yes, it was.  

Q. And you summarize that testing in a laboratory 

report; is that right? 

A. I did.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  And am I able to share 
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my screen with files, or do you have to do that?  

THE REPORTER:  Yes.  I would much prefer 

you do it.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  Can you see my screen?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Mr. Vinson, do you recognize this document? 

A. I believe that's my laboratory report for this 

case.  

Q. This is the one you submitted November 14th of 

2013? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. It's a fair and accurate copy of your 

laboratory report? 

A. From the page that I can see, yes, sir.  

Q. Okay.  

A. I should have a digital signature on my report 

on close to the last page.  Yeah, there it is.  

Q. Okay.  So, this is your signature on Page 6? 

A. Yes, sir.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  I would like to move to 

admit what's been marked as Exhibit 158. 

(APPLICANT'S EXHIBIT NO. 158 OFFERED)  

MR. THOMPSON:  No objection.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  And also, I think it's 

Exhibit 23A.  
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Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  All right.  On the first 

page on the top right, do you see where it says 

laboratory number? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And this is the case number for Mr. Colone's 

case; is that right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And with respect to the evidence you tested 

under Submission Information, in the center of the 

page, it describes, 1, a large Styrofoam container and, 

2, a white box; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And both of these were delivered to DPS on 

October 1st, 2013; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. So, about one month before your report? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And under Evidence Description on the same 

page, Results of Analysis and Interpretation, the first 

item listed is a Styrofoam container, right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. So, is it right that every item that begins 

with this 01 indicates that it was contained within the 

large Styrofoam container? 

A. Yes.  
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Q. And so, looking at this list under the large 

Styrofoam container, that means the black glove, 

01-01-AA-01, was in the Styrofoam cooler? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And the part of the baby blue towel from the 

crime scene was also in the Styrofoam cooler? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And a cutting of a black sleeveless undershirt 

from the suspect was also in the Styrofoam cooler? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And it's true that you testified in 

Mr. Colone's trial about the contents of your report; 

is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And that was in May of 2017? 

A. You would have to refresh me on the exact 

date, but that sounds right to me.  

Q. Okay.  And that would have been about three 

years since you wrote the report; is that right? 

A. You said May 2017?  

Q. Yes, sir.  

A. Yeah.  That looks like -- when did this report 

go out?  

Q. I can scroll up.  November 14, 2013? 

A. Perfect.  
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Q. You've been an analyst those whole three 

years; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you handled a lot of evidence in that time 

frame, I bet? 

A. I probably did.  

Q. Is it fair to say that at the time of your 

2013 testimony your memory of the 2013 analysis you 

performed was not fresh? 

A. I could definitely say that it would not have 

been fresh.  

Q. Right.  It faded over time.  Is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. So, by the time of your testimony in May of 

2017, you were relying on what was written in your 

laboratory report; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Which you reviewed before testifying, correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. But apart from what's in your report, it's 

fair to say you have no independent memory of the 

analysis you had done three years before? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. No, that's right; or no, that's not correct? 

A. No, that would be correct.  I didn't review my 
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bench notes.  

Q. And of course, if you had remembered something 

that was important to your analyst that wasn't in your 

report, you would have testified about that during 

trial, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  And could I clarify?  If it was 

important to the analysis, it would be contained in the 

body of my report or else I would not have released 

results on an item.  

Q. Okay.  You mentioned a bench note, I think? 

A. Yes.  

Q. What is a bench note? 

A. Bench notes are my extremely detailed notes of 

every item of evidence from what I see on the outer 

packaging, all the way through to the levels of inner 

packaging with stickers, initials, any kind of labeling 

condition, as well as all the way down to the evidence 

items themselves with descriptions of the evidence 

items, any testing that I did on that item, how an item 

was collected and stored and if I did biological 

testing with reagents for blood or semen.  Those bench 

notes also contain my controls that were tested in the 

laboratory for the day I did the testing. 

Q. Okay.  And it's safe to say you have a bench 

note for every piece of evidence you test, correct? 
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A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Do you see my screen? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. I would like to introduce what's been marked 

as Exhibit 152.  I'll note for the record this is also 

duplicative of Applicant's 1B.  

Mr. Vinson, do you recognize this 

document?  

A. Yes.  This is my bench note from this case.  

Q. And in the top right corner, the lab case 

number that matches the same number on your report; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. This is a fair and accurate copy of your 

laboratory information sheets from October 31st of 

2013? 

A. Yes.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  I move to admit 

Exhibit 152. 

(APPLICANT'S EXHIBIT NO. 152 OFFERED)  

MR. THOMPSON:  No objection.  It's 

already part of the evidence. 

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  The first item listed on 

this first page here is this large Styrofoam container.  

Do you see that? 
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. This is the same large Styrofoam container 

that we were just talking about in your report? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And under this first paragraph, it says FTC, 

do you see that? 

A. Yes.  

Q. What is FTC mean? 

A. Found to contain.  It's an abbreviation.  

Q. So, that means that within this large 

Styrofoam container there was one white Fed Ex envelope 

and four Nordic ice cold packs, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  And at the bottom you have this note 

here.  I know you've probably been over this plenty of 

times, but I just want to understand some aspects about 

the cooler.  

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. So, you note that you pulled it off the shelf 

in the vault.  Do you see that? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. What is the vault? 

A. The vault is a secure location where we keep 

evidence for testing.  There is several vaults at DPS 

for evidence.  When it's received, it goes into the 
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different disciplines for the sections that are going 

to work the evidence.  

So, this is an area where only forensic 

biology staff and the evidence receiving department 

have access; and it takes two of us to access the vault 

so that it is secured at all times.  

Q. Okay.  You said there were multiple vaults at 

DPS? 

A. Yes.  We're a multidiscipline lab at the DPS 

Houston location.  So, in the vault for forensic 

biology, you wouldn't find drug evidence; or you 

wouldn't find trace analysis evidence unless it was 

being tested for biology, for DNA first.  But no, our 

disciplines have separate vaults with separate access.  

Q. Okay.  And the vaults, they are not 

refrigerated; is that correct? 

A. No.  There are refrigerators in the vaults for 

certain types of evidence.  Most evidence that is in 

the vault is non-refrigerated, and that's usually how 

it comes to the laboratory.  

Q. And so, when you describe in your note that 

you pulled it from a regular shelf, that's referring to 

an unrefrigerated area; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. So, as far as you know, the cooler sat 
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unrefrigerated from the time it was dropped off, 

October 1st, 2013, until the time you retrieved it for 

your analysis at the end of October; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And it's fair to say that you have no 

firsthand knowledge of what exactly happened inside the 

cooler before you retrieved it for your analysis at the 

end of October; is that fair? 

A. No, I would have no way of knowing that.  

Q. But you describe in your note the conditions 

of the cooler when you found it, right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And specifically, you note that the ice packs 

were at room temperature, right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. The Fed Ex envelope was damp and soggy? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And there was a foul-smelling water/liquid at 

the bottom of the container? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Move to the next page, Page 2.  This top item 

listed here is the white Fed Ex envelope that was 

inside the cooler with the ice packs, correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. So, following this FTC convention, it's true, 
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then, that within this white Fed Ex envelope there were 

four 9 by 12 yellow envelopes, one 6 by 9 yellow 

envelope and one clear plastic bag; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And when you say a yellow envelope, we're 

talking like a paper envelope? 

A. Yes.  Like almost -- almost a manila color but 

a little bit darker.  Just a paper envelope.  

Q. And if you look at the second piece of 

evidence on this page, this is one of the 9 by 12 

yellow envelopes that was inside of the damp and soggy 

Fed Ex envelope, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Now, this 9 by 12 yellow envelope is labeled 

01-01-AA, this contained a glove; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And if I go to the next page, Page 3, this 

first piece of evidence, the black glove is the glove 

that was in that 9 by 12 yellow envelope? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Let me go to Page 5.  The second item on 

Page 5 is another 9 by 12 yellow envelope labeled A1 -- 

or excuse me, 01-01-AC.  Do you see that?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And so, this is another one of the 9 by 12 
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yellow envelopes that was inside the damp and soggy  

Fed Ex envelope? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And inside of this 9 by 12 yellow envelope was 

a cutting of a baby blue towel; is that right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And that baby blue towel is described at the 

top of Page 6; is that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And at the top of Page 7, the top item is a   

6 by 9 yellow envelope.  Do you see that? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. This is the 6 by 9 yellow envelope that was 

inside of the damp and soggy Fed Ex envelope, correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. It's true that inside of this 6 by 9 yellow 

envelope there was a 3 1/2 by 6-inch manila envelope? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And inside of that 3 1/2 by 6-inch manila 

envelope was a cutting from a black sleeveless 

undershirt from the suspect; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And that cutting of the black sleeveless 

undershirt is listed here at the bottom of Page 7, 

correct? 
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. So, the glove, towel, and the t-shirt cutting, 

they were all in paper envelopes inside of the Fed Ex 

envelope inside of the cooler, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And this Fed Ex envelope, as your note 

describes, was damp and soggy from an unidentified 

foul-smelling liquid; is that right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. If we look at the description for the Fed Ex 

envelope on Page 2, it doesn't describe for this 

particular piece of evidence here that the envelope was 

damp and soggy, does it? 

A. That's because it's not.  

Q. You are saying the white Fed Ex envelope was 

not damp and soggy? 

A. No, sir, or else it would have been described 

as such. 

Q. But if we look at your note on the first page, 

you describe the Fed Ex envelope is damp and soggy; 

isn't that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. But it's your testimony today that the white 

Fed Ex envelope was, in fact, not damp and soggy? 

A. Yes.  And if you could go back to the outer 
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packaging for a moment, my description -- if you go up 

even a little more, this item that I've described is 

the outside of the envelope that I've described.  I'm 

not describing the inside of the envelope at this time.  

And I don't know if you're familiar with Fed Ex 

envelopes; and if we even have a picture of it, that 

would be -- that would be great.  Most of them are -- 

have a non-porous outside since they get mailed through 

the mail, various people touching them; and they are 

lined on the inside.  

Now, the items on the inside of this 

package were not wet.  They were not damp.  There was 

no mold observed or else I would have clearly noted 

that in my bench notes.  

Q. Okay.  I want to talk a little bit more about 

that in a moment; but nonetheless, your description 

here describes that the Fed Ex envelope is damp and 

soggy.  Am I understanding that correctly? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And is -- I think you noted there's no 

pictures of the inside of the cooler; is that right? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And your recollection of whether or not the 

interior items were damp and soggy is based solely on 

the description within your bench notes; is that fair? 
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that's not independent memory you have 

today, correct?  

A. No.  And I wouldn't testify off of independent 

memory.  Like, these are -- this is why I take very 

detailed notes, so I can review them in the future if I 

need to.  

Q. You also noted there was a foul-smelling 

liquid found in the Styrofoam cooler; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And is it fair to say that you noted the 

liquid was foul-smelling because that's an unusual 

occurrence? 

A. Yes, it really is.  

Q. You would expect that evidence that was stored 

properly would not be soaked in a foul-smelling liquid, 

right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And under normal circumstances, water does not 

smell foul; is that fair? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is it also fair to say that you described 

it as a water/liquid because you were uncertain exactly 

what the fluid was? 

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. Now, you described in the final lines of your 

note here on Page 1, that you (reading) will inquire as 

to why the storage instructions clearly indicated on 

the outside of Item 01 were ignored and the liquid will 

be soaked up with paper towels and discarded.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And did you end up soaking up the liquid with 

paper towels and discarding those towels? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. You didn't take any photographs first, right? 

A. No.  

Q. Did you preserve any of the foul-smelling 

liquid for future analysis? 

A. No, and I would not have.  

Q. Did you test the foul-smelling liquid to 

determine if it contained DNA? 

A. No, and I would not have.  

Q. Your notes didn't say anything about where the 

foul-smelling liquid came from, correct? 

A. No, except for inside of the cooler.  And I'll 

note that this was along the bottom of the container.  

The Fed Ex envelope was not submerged in this liquid.  

It was on the bottom of the container.  

Q. The Fed Ex envelope was also resting along the 
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bottom of the container; is that right? 

A. No, sir.  When these things are packed, people 

put ice packs on the bottom of a cooler; and the 

evidence was on top.  So, this water was on the bottom 

of the container.  Now, the Fed Ex envelope itself 

wasn't submerged in this liquid.  The envelope was just 

soggy.  

Q. Right.  The envelope itself was damp and soggy 

from the liquid, correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And you never identified the source of that 

liquid; is that correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And your notes don't say anything about how it 

ended up on the bottom of the cooler, correct? 

A. No.  

Q. And for example, your notes don't describe 

anything about where the foul-smelling liquid traveled 

from or what it encountered first before it arrived in 

the bottom of the cooler; is that correct? 

A. No, and I wouldn't have access to that 

information.  

Q. What do you mean, you wouldn't have access to 

that information? 

A. I can only control the testing that I perform 
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when the evidence gets to me.  I can't control how it's 

packaged by another laboratory.  I can't control how 

it's handled by Fed Ex, UPS or department's personnel, 

how they transfer evidence; and I can't control how the 

evidence is stored in our vault.  I can simply note 

what I see and process it accordingly.  

Q. Understood.  

A. I'm not -- I'm not an expert on these things, 

but I've definitely used ice packs in coolers before; 

so, I understand what happens when a cold ice pack goes 

to room temperature, you know.  Moisture is released.  

So, I could make an educated guess on where the liquid 

came from being sealed up in a cooler.  

Q. But to be fair, educated guesses aside, you 

didn't ever confirm the source of the liquid, correct? 

A. No.  No, sir.  And I would not have been able 

to.  

Q. At the time that you processed the evidence in 

this case, DPS lab had policies and procedures in place 

that govern how evidence should be handled, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Do you recognize the document that I've shared 

on my screen? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. And I would like to introduce this as 
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Exhibit 153.  Does this appear to be the standard 

operating procedures for DNA? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Objection, by the way.  

A. It's a list of the standard operating 

procedures. 

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  Do you understand this 

document to list the standard operating procedures in 

place at DPS in October, November of 2013? 

A. Yes.  

Q. To the best of your knowledge, does this 

appear to be a fair and accurate copy of DPS's standard 

operator procedures at that time? 

A. I believe so.  

Q. Okay.  I move to admit what's been marked as 

Exhibit 153? 

(APPLICANT'S EXHIBIT NO. 153 OFFERED) 

MR. THOMPSON:  No objection.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  If you will turn to 

Page 49 of this document, do you see the heading on 

this page that says Evidence Handling? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Are you familiar with this procedure? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Is this something that you were trained on in 

your time with DPS? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And this section concerns collecting and 

packaging of evidence; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Specifically, the standard operating procedure 

for evidence handling says that (reading) The purpose 

of collection and packaging of biological evidence is 

to preserve it for future analysis, protect it from 

contamination and maintain the integrity of the 

evidence.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And is it also true that DPS' standard 

operating procedures said that, for temporary storage, 

cuttings and swabs must be kept cold? 

A. Yes, and they are.  

Q. If we look at the heading 3 here, Storage of 

Evidence in the middle of the page, the first item, A, 

states that (reading) Biological evidence must be 

preserved -- excuse me -- must be properly stored to 

preserve biological constituents.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. What does that mean? 

A. That could mean various different things.  A 
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lot of our evidence is stored at room temperature and 

in paper items because paper is a breathable material 

and does not foster mold growth.  So, it depends on 

what the item is.  Say, a -- a vial of blood that you 

are trying to preserve that you are trying to keep cold 

would not be appropriate to store on a shelf, it would 

be appropriate to store in a refrigerator.

And I'll refer to cuttings or swabs.  

These are items that the analyst collects.  So, while I 

can't control how it is submitted to the laboratory, my 

cuttings of the evidence that get processed through the 

DPS laboratory are stored in our walk-in freezer until 

DNA analysis is performed on those items.  

So, again, I can control how I handle the 

evidence once it gets to me; but I can't control the 

process of how it got to me.  

Q. No.  I understand.  And we'll focus on the 

cuttings and swabs for a moment.  If you look at 3F on 

that same page, it says, (reading) For temporary 

storage, the evidence must be stored frozen and 

protected from freezer moisture by a layer of plastic.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And it's fair to say that the cooler with the 

cuttings that contained a cutting of the blood 
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undershirt from the suspect, that was not stored in a 

refrigerated environment?  Is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And it wasn't protected from a -- from freezer 

moisture by a layer of plastic either; is that right? 

A. I did not see a layer of plastic, no, sir.  

Q. If you had, it would have been in your bench 

note; is that correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Turn to Page 54 of this document.  Do you see 

the heading, 6.2 Evidence Examination?  

A. Yes. 

Q. No. 8 on this page describes, (reading) Note 

instances where packaging or handling of the evidence 

creates a potential for contamination.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. You would agree that an evidence envelope that 

is damp and soggy from a foul-smelling liquid does not 

appear to have been kept free of contamination? 

A. I would disagree with you.  While the outer 

evidence was soggy, was damp, the inner items were dry 

in the Fed Ex envelope; and there was no mold growth on 

the evidence to suggest that moisture had affected the 

evidence in any such way.  Again, this was just the 
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outer packaging.  This is not the evidence itself.  

Q. Okay.  I want to talk about mold in a moment.  

But as far as the interior contents are concerned, your 

testimony today that those contents were dry is based 

solely on the fact that your lab notes do not describe 

any moisture on those items; is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.  And had they not been 

dry, it would have been documented as such. 

Q. Certainly, though, for the packaging to be 

soaked in a foul-smelling unidentified liquid, that at 

least indicates the potential for contamination; isn't 

that fair? 

A. I disagree.  This is the outer packaging, not 

the inner packaging of this item.  

Q. So, you agree, though, that based on your 

opinion that it wasn't necessary, you did not note in 

your notes any potential for contamination? 

A. No, and I still do not believe there was. 

Q. No. 8 on that same page further states that 

instances of potential contamination (reading) should 

be brought to the attention of the supervisor, other 

involved examiners and the investigator.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you didn't make any record of having 
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brought the foul-smelling liquid or the soggy envelope 

to the attention of the supervisor, correct? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Because you didn't bring it to the attention 

of the supervisor, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. No, you didn't; or no, that's wrong? 

A. No, I didn't.  

Q. There's no record of an incident report 

regarding the foul-smelling liquid or the soggy 

envelope, right? 

A. No.  

Q. And that's because you didn't file an incident 

report; is that correct? 

A. That's correct.  

Q. And there's also no record of an incident 

report that the cooler had been stored contrary to the 

specific instructions to refrigerate; is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And that's because you did not file an 

incident report that the cooler was stored improperly, 

correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. I would like to introduce what's been marked 

as Exhibit 155.  Mr. Vinson, do you recognize this 
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document? 

A. I believe so.  

Q. Are these the Laboratory Operations Guide for 

DPS? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And these were the procedures in place at DPS 

in October and November of 2013; is that fair? 

A. Could you scroll down to the bottom of your 

page?  

Yes.  

Q. And to the best of your knowledge, does this 

appear to be a fair and accurate copy of those 

procedures? 

A. Yes, sir.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  I would move to admit 

Applicant's Exhibit 155.  

(APPLICANT'S EXHIBIT NO. 155 OFFERED) 

MR. THOMPSON:  No objection.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  Turn to Page 65 of this 

document.  Do you see the heading, Quality Action Plan? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Are you familiar with this procedure? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Is this saying you were trained on at your 

time at DPS? 
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A. That's not really something I'm trained on but 

something I'm familiar with.  

Q. Do you see where it says "nonconforming 

event"? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. It defines the nonconforming event (reading) 

is when one or more characteristics or conditions are 

observed that do not conform to required specifications 

and standards, procedures or policies.  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. They provide some examples, including 

contamination or sample preparation error or 

unsupported conclusions.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Would you agree that it was not DPS's policy 

that coolers of evidence should be left unrefrigerated 

when the labels instruct to refrigerate? 

A. You would really have to ask that to our 

evidence receiving department.  If I was in charge of 

receiving the evidence, I would have refrigerated an 

item that said to refrigerate; but I was -- I was not.  

Q. But it would be fair to say that it would not 

be DPS policy to store an item unrefrigerated when it 

should be refrigerated; is that fair? 
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A. Yes.  

Q. Under Heading 2.1 on the same page, it states 

that (reading) When a nonconforming event has been 

identified, the individual responsible for the work 

must halt testing and/or calibration until the scope of 

the incident has been determined.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Am I correct that when you encountered the 

cooler and the foul-swelling unidentified liquid, you 

did not take any further steps to determine the scope 

of the incident? 

A. No, I did not.  

Q. And the second item under the same heading 

states to (reading) briefly describe the event and 

initiate a quality action plan.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes.  

Q. And am I correct that when you found the 

foul-smelling liquid in the unrefrigerated cooler, you 

did not initiate a quality action plan? 

A. No, sir.  And again, that is not the evidence 

items themselves.  This is talking about outer 

packaging.  This is not talking about a scope of my 

testing.  Just how the evidence was received at the 
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laboratory.  

Q. To be clear, you are saying that this policy 

in Section 2.1 only pertains to outer packaging? 

A. No, sir.  This would pertain to my work that I 

am performing in this case, which myself and the 

technical reviewer who reviewed my work did not believe 

that this was a quality action plan.  There would have 

been no reason for me to pursue this further.  

Q. Did you discuss with others whether or not to 

initiate a quality action plan? 

A. No, and I would not have.  

Q. I understand that it was not your 

responsibility that the cooler was left unrefrigerated; 

but again, it's fair to say that when you encountered 

the unrefrigerated cooler, you did not initiate a 

quality action plan? 

A. No, and I -- again, I would not have. 

Q. It's also correct that you didn't provide the 

details to the technical or quality management chain of 

command? 

A. No, sir, because this is not a contamination 

event.  

Q. You didn't start a quality action plan to note 

the potential for contamination, correct? 

A. No, and I believe that there is no potential 
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for contamination here.  

Q. It's true you did not include in your report 

the presence of a foul-smelling liquid; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir; and I would not have included that 

in my report.  

Q. Because, in your opinion, it didn't present a 

quality issue; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. But you didn't take any photographs of the 

cooler? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. You didn't discuss this with anybody else? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. You didn't include in your report that the  

Fed Ex envelope was damp or soggy either? 

A. No, and I would not have.  Again, these are 

items contained in my bench notes and do not pertain to 

the technical nature of my report.  

Q. Even understanding that your opinion is that 

it was not necessary to include that information, you 

certainly could have included that information in your 

report under DPS policy; isn't that correct? 

A. I do not report on the nature of outer 

packaging items in my report.  Now, had there been a 

quality incident and I deemed that there was potential 
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for contamination, none of these items would have 

proceeded through analysis.  And there would be a 

quality report, and there wouldn't be any biological 

screening results associated with these items.  

Q. I understand it's your opinion that it was not 

necessary to take these steps, but certainly DPS policy 

would have allowed you to include that information in 

your report; is that fair? 

A. I don't believe we ever would have included 

that information in my report.  My report is a summary 

of the testing performed, and this is not testing.  

This is simply a description of the item.  I've issued 

a lot of reports through DPS, and we don't include 

bench notes for the outer packaging on our reports.  

Simply a description of the item.  

Q. But to be clear, that information never 

actually made it into your report, correct? 

A. No, sir.

Q. No, it didn't; or no, that's not correct?  

A. No, it did not.  

Q. I'll go to Page 90 of the same document.  Do 

you see the heading, Laboratory Case Reports? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And this is the procedure for laboratory case 

reports, correct? 
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A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And it's true that the report communicates to 

law enforcement officers, to attorneys, prosecutors, 

others a description of the items received and tested; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. But as we just discussed, your report did not 

include a description of the items received; is that 

correct? 

A. Actually, it did involve description of the 

items received.  There is the outer packaging, the 

heading, and then the item of evidence that was tested.  

And that is standard for the laboratory reports in our 

section.  

Q. And the description of the outer packaging in 

your laboratory report did not note that the Fed Ex 

envelope was damp or soggy, correct? 

A. Correct.  

Q. And it did not note that there was an 

unidentified foul-smelling liquid, correct? 

A. Correct.  

Q. And so, if the DPS procedure for laboratory 

case reports includes descriptions of the outer 

packaging, it is fair to say that it would have been 

consistent with DPS procedure had you included that 
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description in your laboratory report? 

A. No, that is incorrect.  We do not report on 

the condition of our outer packaging, inner packaging 

on our laboratory reports.  

Q. So, do you think including that information 

would have been inconsistent with DPS procedure? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. If I turn to the second page here, do you see 

Item 2 on this page, states (reading) The following 

elements may be included in the report but are not 

required to be (sic)? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And C of that same section states (reading) 

deviations from, additions to, or exclusions from the 

procedures.  

Do you see that?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Would you agree that the failure to 

refrigerate the cooler where the instructions 

specifically state to refrigerate it, would be a 

deviation from procedure? 

A. Well, that depends on -- it depends on the 

nature of that question.  Had the evidence been 

compromised and moldy, wet in any sort of way, then I 

would have said yes; but as it stands in my report, I 
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would say no.  

Q. But my question is a little more focused on 

the actual condition of the cooler in terms of how it 

should have been stored.  And my question is:  Wouldn't 

you agree that a failure to refrigerate the cooler when 

the instructions say to refrigerate it, that would be a 

deviation from procedure? 

A. Again, you would have to ask the people who 

take in this evidence and who store it routinely as to 

why it would have been done that way.  And perhaps this 

isn't an isolated incident.  Perhaps this is something 

that happens.  I'm not sure.  I don't work for the 

evidence receiving department, and I never did when I 

was at DPS.  

Q. Right.  I understand you weren't responsible 

for maintaining the evidence before you accessed it for 

your analysis; but you wouldn't expect that storing 

evidence contrary to the instructions on it would be 

consistent with DPS procedure, would you? 

A. No, I don't believe so.  

Q. That would be a deviation from what was 

required; is that fair? 

A. Perhaps.  

Q. And I know that you were not the one 

responsible for not refrigerating the cooler, but it's 
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true that your report did not note that the evidence 

was stored contrary to its instruction; is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. We discussed before that you had testified in 

Mr. Colone's trial, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And we said that was around May 1st, 2017; is 

that right? 

A. Yes, sir, I believe, if that's what you said.  

Q. How many times have you testified before? 

A. Many.  I can't -- I can't recall the exact 

number of times.  I've testified many times in court.  

Q. How many times have you been deposed before? 

A. Never.  This is a first for me.  

Q. In your testimony during Mr. Colone's trial, 

you were asked about the evidence you handled and 

sampled in this case, including the contents of the 

cooler; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. I'm going to introduce what's been marked as 

Exhibit 156.  This is also Respondent's Exhibit 12.  

Mr. Vinson, do you recognize this 

document?  

A. Yes.  

Q. This is your affidavit from October 10, 2019; 
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is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. In this second paragraph, you state that you 

came to the Jefferson County criminal DA's office on 

October 10th, 2019, to meet with Investigator Kemp 

about your testimony in the Joseph Colone trial; 

correct?  

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was this your first meeting with Investigator 

Kemp about your testimony at Mr. Colone's trial? 

A. Yes.  This is the first time I ever met her.  

Q. Had you previously met with anyone else from 

the Jefferson County criminal DA's office about your 

testimony during the Joseph Colone trial? 

A. I think through brief calls.  I was aware 

that -- I was aware that this was happening; but other 

than that, no.  

Q. And if we look at the second page here, this 

is your signature; is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And this is dated the same day as your meeting 

with Investigator Kemp, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Did you write this voluntary statement, or was 

it provided to you during your meeting with 
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Investigator Kemp? 

A. I wrote this voluntary statement.  

Q. Did anyone else help you to write it? 

A. No.  I spoke with Investigator Kemp to make 

sure that I covered the -- the points that I needed to; 

otherwise, I wouldn't have made this statement at all.  

But the statement is mine.  

Q. And had you discussed the contents of this 

statement with anyone at the Jefferson County criminal 

DA's office at any time before you met with them on 

October 10th to sign it? 

A. No.  This is -- this is my words.  So, it's my 

statement.  

Q. All right.  Now, if you look at this large 

paragraph in the middle -- this is the fifth 

paragraph -- you state that you were recently contacted 

by Ashley Molfino in the Jefferson County DA's office 

and indicated she wanted to meet with you about your 

testimony; is that right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And was that before or after you spoke with 

Investigator Kemp on October 10th? 

A. Well, I typed this in the presence of 

Investigator Kemp but this -- I was contacted by her 

before.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CRISTY BURNETT SMITH, CSR, RPR
252ND DISTRICT COURT (409)835-8579

45

Q. Was ADA Molfino in your meeting with 

Investigator Kemp? 

A. No, she was not.  I did see her that day.  She 

works -- she works in the building.  

Q. And what specifically about your testimony did 

they want to discuss? 

A. They wanted to discuss this bench note about 

the cooler.  

Q. Now, your affidavit says that for your 

testimony you testified just based on your report; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And by that statement, you mean you did not 

testify from your -- from your bench notes, right? 

A. No.  I do not testify from bench notes.  My 

report is the summary of the testings that I performed 

in the case.  I can always be asked questions about my 

bench notes, which I gladly answer.  I have many times 

on the stand but it's also fair to say that I can 

testify directly from my report and it summarizes all 

the testing performed in the case.  

Q. It summarizes the testing you performed, 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But as we discussed previously, it doesn't 
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necessarily summarize the conditions of the packaging 

of the evidence, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. Before you testified in Mr. Colone's case, 

were you provided your bench notes to review? 

A. No, sir; and I did not think to ask for them.  

Q. So, it's safe to say that before you testified 

in Mr. Colone's case, you had not reviewed the bench 

note that we talked about before that noted the 

foul-smelling liquid in the cooler -- 

A. No, sir.  

Q. -- Is that correct?  And as we also talked 

about, it had been three years at the time of your 

testimony, and even more, since your original analysis 

in this case; right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And understandably, your memory of that 

analysis after three plus years was not as fresh? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Under those circumstances, wouldn't it have 

been prudent for the prosecutors to have you review 

your bench notes? 

A. I'm not a prosecutor, and I can't answer that 

statement.  

Q. You're aware that this was a death penalty 
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case at that time, correct? 

A. I'm not sure that I was aware it was a death 

penalty case; but that, honestly, doesn't matter to me.  

I'm there to talk about a testing of the evidence.  Not 

what happens after I test it.  

Q. But I believe that you said a moment ago it 

didn't occur to you to even request your bench notes; 

is that right? 

A. No, sir.  Now, had there been a quality 

report, if there was some sort of cause for concern of 

contamination, that would have been expressed in my 

laboratory report; and then, of course, I would have 

requested something to review because I would have 

wanted to make sure I knew what was going on.  There is 

nothing of that in this case.  

Q. But because none of that information made it 

into your laboratory report, you didn't think it 

necessary to request your bench note; is that fair? 

A. Yes, sir.  And again, it wouldn't have made it 

into my laboratory report because there was no cause 

for concern of contamination.  

Q. But we don't have any photographs of the 

inside of the cooler -- 

A. No, sir.  

Q. -- correct?  We never learned where the liquid 
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came from, correct? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. We don't know why it was foul smelling? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you test the interior envelopes for water? 

A. I believe I stated earlier, if I noted damp 

envelopes, if I noted mold, any sort of staining, that 

would be clearly detailed in my bench notes, which I 

did not.  

Q. But you never determined why the liquid was 

foul smelling, correct? 

A. Again, I can -- I can extrapolate to that 

based on liquid being contained in a closed container 

for a long period of time.  I can't imagine that would 

smell good.  I've worked a lot of very nasty evidence 

in my time from decomp to other things.  I'm sure this 

was not as bad as a dead body.  

Q. Did you test any of the interior envelopes for 

DNA? 

A. No, and that's not something that I would ever 

do at DPS.  

Q. You said you didn't note the presence of mold, 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Did you test for mold beyond just a visual 
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inspection? 

A. No, and we don't have a test for mold at DPS.  

It is purely visual.  

Q. Would you agree that DNA contamination or 

degradation is not necessarily visible to the naked 

eye? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. If the prosecutors had asked for your bench 

notes from DPS, do you have any reason to think that 

DPS wouldn't have provided them? 

A. Oh, no.  I've testified many times as I worked 

at the Houston Forensic Science Center and I have had 

folders and notes requested and those have been 

provided to me for testimony.  While I don't have 

personal access to it, I believe DPS would absolutely 

provide materials to me if I needed them.  And I've 

testified enough to know that most materials are 

provided to the prosecutor and the defense upon 

discovery.  So, that should have been included in a 

discovery request.  

Q. Okay.  So, it's your understanding that if you 

or the prosecutors had wanted to review your bench 

notes, you simply could have asked, correct? 

A. Oh, absolutely.  DPS is -- they don't have 

anything to -- anything to hide.  I mean, they are 
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very -- very transparent.  As you can see, we take very 

detailed notes of what we do.  All that is -- all that 

would have been provided.  

Q. In the next paragraph in your affidavit, you 

state that (reading) On review of my transcript, I may 

have failed to directly answer ADA Molfino's 

questioning about irregularity in the outer packaging.

A. Yes.  

Q. Do you see that? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What are you referring to here? 

A. I believe she asked something to the effect of 

in the testimony, if I had noted anything irregular in 

the case, would I have noted it, which I believe I 

testified yes.  And I believe that is an accurate 

statement, as I did note an irregularity in the case. 

Q. And the irregularity that you are referring to 

there is the fact that the cooler wasn't stored 

according to the instructions, correct? 

A. Well, it's not that the cooler wasn't stored 

according to the instructions.  I'm not -- I'm not 

entirely sure how that cooler was meant to be stored.  

It clearly states on the outer -- outer on the package 

to store refrigerated; but again, I don't know where 

all that cooler had been and, perhaps, it had 
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previously been unrefrigerated, which would, perhaps, 

not make sense to put it back into the refrigerator 

after it was already at room temp.  These are things 

that I don't know because I wasn't involved in. 

Q. Right.  You have no firsthand knowledge of 

what happened to the cooler before you accessed it at 

the end of October, 2013? 

A. No, sir.  All can I do is describe what I see 

and go from there.  

Q. But you would expect that if the cooler had 

instructions explicit labeled on it to refrigerate, 

that the cooler should be refrigerated; correct? 

A. Most likely.  

Q. And so, the irregularities you are referring 

to in your affidavit, this is the fact that there is a 

foul-smelling unidentified liquid in the cooler; 

correct? 

A. I'm not entirely sure.  I'd have to see my 

word for word on what she asked in my testimony, and I 

can go over that with you. 

Q. I'm going to introduce what has been marked as 

Exhibit 154.  Do you recognize this document, 

Mr. Vinson? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And we turn to Page 30 of this document.  This 
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is the beginning of your testimony in Mr. Colone's 

case?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And this is the transcript -- have you 

reviewed this transcript before? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. You reviewed it in your October 19th meeting 

with Investigator Kemp; is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. I'm going to turn to Page 32.  Do you see the 

beginning of the question here regarding the white 

cardboard box? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And if we turn to the following page, I'll 

give you a moment to review this page.  Just let me 

know when you've had a chance.  

A. Yes. 

Q. Is this the testimony you are referring to in 

your affidavit where you state that you may have failed 

to directly answer ADA Molfino's questions about 

irregularities in the outer packaging? 

A. Yes, because she asked (reading) Had there 

been something awry with it, had it not been sealed or 

something like that, would you have noted that, you did 

not in the case?  
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I don't believe I ever answered that 

question clearly.  

Q. Okay.  So, the part you are referring to 

begins at Line 9 on this page, correct, where she says, 

(reading) Had there been something awry with it, had it 

not been sealed or something like that, you would have 

noted that, but you did not in this case; correct? 

A. Yes.  That was the question asked of me.  

Q. And then starting in Line 18 through 24 here, 

she switches to the Styrofoam cooler and says the same 

principle applies to this piece of evidence; correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Did you understand Mrs. Chase to only be 

asking, with respect to this Styrofoam cooler, whether 

you would have noted any irregularities? 

A. No.  My line before went over that it was a 

properly sealed state when it was admitted to the 

laboratory.  

Q. Did you understand Mrs. Chase to be asking 

that you did not note anything awry with the Styrofoam 

cooler in this case? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. No, you did not understand her question to be 

whether anything was awry with the cooler? 

A. I mean, just from this transcript, it's hard 
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to say exactly what I was thinking at the time.  That 

was years ago.  But no, I -- I don't believe so.  

Q. Did you only think she was asking you whether 

you would have noted irregularities? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you -- 

A. Which I did note irregularities. 

Q. You noted irregularities in your bench note; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  They are clearly noted in this 

case.  

Q. But you hadn't seen your bench notes in 

preparing for this testimony, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. Did you -- you didn't recall from your own 

memory that you had made a note about the cooler and 

the foul-smelling liquid, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. Did you understand Mrs. Chase to be asking 

whether anything was awry with the cooler at all or 

just that you noted it? 

A. Just that I noted it.  

Q. So, you are saying she only cared about 

whether or not irregularities were noted, not whether 

any actually existed? 
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A. Well, if they are noted, then they did exist.  

So, those two are the same things, I believe.  Maybe 

I'm not understanding your question. 

Q. Is it your understanding she only cared 

whether or not you noted irregularities? 

A. Yes, I believe so.  

Q. You didn't think she wanted to discuss any of 

those irregularities in front of the jury? 

A. No.  And we had not discussed any 

irregularities, as I think I made it clear, I did not 

review my bench notes before testimony.  

Q. Right.  You didn't review your bench notes, 

and you didn't remember the foul-smelling liquid in the 

cooler? 

A. No.  And again, that didn't affect the body of 

my report for which I was testifying from.  

Q. And I understand it's your opinion that it 

didn't affect the condition of the evidence but I'm 

focusing now on what you remembered at that time and 

you didn't remember there was a foul-smelling liquid in 

the cooler when you testified, correct? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. And you didn't remember that the Fed Ex 

envelope was damp and soggy at the time, correct? 

A. No, sir.  
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Q. And so, we can agree that during your 

testimony in Mr. Colone's trial, you did not testify 

about the irregularities that you noted; correct? 

A. No, I did not testify about any of my bench 

notes.  

Q. Are you aware of the Texas Code of 

Professional Responsibility for forensic analysts and 

crime laboratory management? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. I'm going to introduce what's been marked as 

Exhibit 159.  Outside of, perhaps, preparing for your 

deposition today, have you seen this section before? 

A. Briefly.  

Q. And you're aware that under this code, 

(reading) Each forensic analyst shall -- I'm looking at 

Part B here.  

A. Yes.  

Q. And then Nos. 12 and 13, (reading) present 

accurate and complete data and reports, oral and 

written presentations and testimony based on good 

scientific principles -- practices and valid methods.  

Excuse me.  

A. Yes.  And my scientific practices and methods 

were valid.  They are accurately and completely 

expressed in my report for the testing that I conducted 
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in this case.  

Q. And it also states that (reading) Analyst 

shall testify in a manner which is clear, 

straightforward and objective and avoid phrasing 

testimony in an ambiguous, bias or misleading manner; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  And I believe I appropriately 

answered that if something was awry, I would have noted 

it, which I believe I did in my notes.  

Q. You noted something awry in your bench notes 

specifically, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  And again, this was the outer 

packaging.  This was not the evidence items that I was 

testifying to themselves.  

Q. And before you mentioned that the bench notes 

should have been provided along with other lab 

materials during discovery, correct? 

A. Well, I don't know if I can say they should 

have been provided; but they could have been provided.  

Q. If they had been requested, correct? 

A. If they had been requested.  

Q. Is it fair to say that when you testified at 

trial, you had assumed the prosecutors and defense 

lawyers had access to your bench notes and other lab 

records? 
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A. I don't believe I assume anything when I 

testify.  It's -- that's outside of the scope of my 

expertise, to prepare the defense or the prosecution.  

Q. Would you understand that laboratory case 

files are commonly produced in discovery to prosecutors 

and defense lawyers? 

A. I believe so.  It's been -- for the 

testimonies that I've given, my case files -- entire 

case records have usually been subpoenaed.  

Q. In addition to the statute that we're 

discussing now -- 

A. Yes. 

Q. -- would you agree it's also DPS policy that 

requires analysts to testify in a manner that's clear 

and straightforward? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Did you address these standards anywhere in 

your affidavit? 

A. I don't believe so, and I don't believe that I 

would have.  

Q. Right.  Your affidavit doesn't acknowledge the 

professional standards that require analysts to present 

accurate and complete data in their testimony; correct? 

A. No, because I believe I did present accurate 

data in my testimony.  
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Q. And your affidavit doesn't acknowledge the 

professional standards that require analysts to avoid 

ambiguous or misleading statements when they testify in 

court, correct? 

A. No, I did not note that.  

Q. And we can agree that your testimony did not 

clearly communicate that there had been, in fact, 

something awry that you noted with the cooler; correct? 

A. Could you rephrase that?  

Q. Of course.  

We can agree that when you testified in 

Mr. Colone's trial, your testimony did not include that 

you noted something awry with the cooler; correct?  

A. Correct.  

Q. And any -- 

A. -- it did include, I would have noted that, if 

it was there, which I did.  

Q. And it was -- it was there in your notes, 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  It was in my notes.  

Q. Well, based on your testimony at trial, it's 

fair to say that the jury never heard about the cooler 

being left unrefrigerated for 30 days, despite the 

label that says "refrigerate upon arrival"; correct?  

A. Correct. 
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Q. And you would agree that the jury never heard 

about the evidence being found in an unidentified 

liquid, correct? 

A. No.  The evidence wasn't in the liquid.  The 

evidence itself was dry.  

Q. The evidence itself was inside of a Fed Ex 

envelope that was damp and soggy from this unidentified 

liquid, correct? 

A. Yes.  Yes.  

Q. And the jury never heard that that liquid was 

foul-smelling, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. The jury never heard about the soggy envelope 

at all, right? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And because you didn't test the envelopes 

inside the Fed Ex envelope for DNA, the jury didn't 

hear that you tested for DNA; correct? 

A. No.  And I didn't test them for DNA, and 

that's not something that I have been trained to do at 

DPS.  We don't test inner packaging for the presence of 

DNA.  It's simply to preserve the evidence.  

Q. And the jury never heard that you tested the 

liquid in the cooler to identify what it was; correct? 

A. No.  And again, that would not have been 
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performed at DPS.  

Q. The jury never saw photographs of the cooler.  

That's fair, correct? 

A. Correct.  

Q. Because none exist? 

A. No, and we don't commonly photograph evidence 

at DPS.  

Q. The jury never heard that within the damp and 

soggy envelope, items of evidence were maintained in 

paper envelopes; correct? 

A. I don't believe so.  

Q. Would you agree that if you had reviewed a 

copy of your case notes prior to your testimony, the 

jury could have been provided the most complete and 

accurate testimony about the condition of the evidence? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Objection, calls for 

speculation. 

A. Had I reviewed my case notes before, I don't 

believe I would have any reason to mention the outer 

packaging in my testimony as it didn't reflect or 

affect the results of the items that were packaged in 

the inner envelopes.  I don't believe I would have 

mentioned it at all.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  So, it's your 

understanding that when Mrs. Chase asked you if 
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anything was awry with the evidence that you 

encountered, you would not have mentioned that there 

was a foul unidentified -- foul-smelling unidentified 

liquid in the cooler? 

A. No, because that -- again, this is not the 

evidence.  This is the outer packaging -- layered outer 

packaging for the evidence; and the evidence itself was 

preserved in a dry state, clearly packaged and 

separated with no apparent mold growth.  I would have 

had no reason to note that out of context.  

And had I had any concern for 

contamination, mold growth, again, there would have 

been a quality report filed; and I would not have 

released results for these items. 

Q. I understand it's your opinion that there 

wasn't a quality issue or that you didn't visually 

observe mold with the naked eye.  But when Mrs. Chase 

asked you if anything was awry, there was something 

awry with the cooler; isn't that correct? 

A. With the cooler, yes.  And I believe I was 

very clear that I noted it in my bench notes -- or I 

would have noted it if something existed.  

Q. And the jury never heard the contents of your 

bench notes at trial, correct? 

A. No, sir.  And again, I don't testify from my 
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bench notes; and I have no reason to.  

Q. So, it's your understanding -- I'll rephrase. 

But you would still agree with me that if 

you had reviewed a copy of your bench notes, the jury 

could have been provided the most complete and accurate 

testimony about the condition of the evidence; is that 

fair?  

A. I would disagree with you.  You are talking 

about packaging, not the evidence that I actually 

testified to.  There is nothing in my notes that noted 

something wrong with the evidence itself. 

Q. I would like to introduce what's been marked 

as Exhibit 157.  Mr. Vinson, have you seen this 

document before? 

A. Briefly, it was emailed to me the other day.  

Q. And you understand this is a declaration from 

Andrew McWhorter?  

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And you said he was a technical supervisor 

that you reported to in your time at DPS, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. If we look at the second page, the second full 

paragraph here, the final line, do you see where 

Mr. McWhorter states, (reading) However, because 

Mr. Vinson did not ask for a copy of the case notes, he 
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was not able to provide the most complete and accurate 

testimony regarding the condition of the evidence?  

A. Yes, I see that. 

Q. Do you disagree with Mr. McWhorter's 

statement? 

A. I do, and that is Mr. McWhorter's statement to 

make.  Perhaps, Mr. McWhorter testifies from his case 

notes.  I testify from my laboratory report.  All of 

which my laboratory report and case notes have been 

technically reviewed.  

Q. And setting aside the technical review of 

those case notes, you agree the jury never heard about 

the contents of your bench notes; correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And as we discussed and as I believe you would 

agree with Mr. McWhorter's next statement here, 

(reading) There is no documented follow-up by 

Mr. Vinson on the note in the case record concerning 

the damaged envelope.  

Correct?  

A. No, I didn't document a follow-up on the case 

record.  

Q. Okay.  With that -- 

A. I had a personal conversation.  We don't 

record personal conversations at DPS, and I would have 
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no way to track down what may or may not have been said 

years ago.  

Q. Because it's -- it's fair to say you wouldn't 

remember now, correct? 

A. Exactly.  Correct.  

Q. And there's no documented record of any of 

those conversations now? 

A. No.  

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  Okay, with that, I have 

no further questions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Want to take a bathroom 

break, guys?  

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, that will be great.

THE REPORTER:  That sounds good.  We'll 

take ten minutes?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sounds good to me.    

(RECESS FROM 10:53 A.M. TO 11:10 A.M.) 

EXAMINATION

BY MR. THOMPSON: 

Q. All right.  I'm going to be pretty brief with 

you.  

A. Okay.  

Q. I'm just trying to find a good starting point.  

You didn't testify falsely, did you?  

A. No, sir.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CRISTY BURNETT SMITH, CSR, RPR
252ND DISTRICT COURT (409)835-8579

66

Q. The -- the way Mr. Grayson asked you some of 

the questions, he kept talking about the internal 

packaging as being paper envelopes, right?  Do you 

remember that? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. We're not talking here -- and I think you even 

clarified that at one time, you weren't talking about 

just paper envelopes but Fed Ex type envelopes; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. That's a very different creature, isn't it? 

A. Now, that was the -- the outer envelope.  

Inside the envelope were just regular paper envelopes 

and that's -- that's what most forensic evidence is 

packaged in that I worked over my time at DPS but --  

Q. Okay.  But those paper envelopes were --

THE REPORTER:  Hold on.  I missed the 

last of your question -- the zoom or something messed 

up -- The last of your answer.  I'm sorry.    

MR. THOMPSON:  I think she's talking to 

you, Adam.  

A. Oh.  Sorry.  

Yes.  So, the Fed Ex envelope was there 

to protect the inner envelopes, which are paper 

envelopes.  Those paper envelopes contained the 
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evidence items, and it's common for multiple items of 

evidence to be submitted together in an outer package 

because they're packaged in inner packages.  So, the 

evidence doesn't touch itself; and it's just simply to 

contain it all together.  

Q. (BY MR. THOMPSON)  That cooler is nothing more 

than a convenience type packaging in order to get 

everything together and send it over to the lab, right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Inside that is the Fed Ex envelope, right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And the Fed Ex envelope is very different from 

just the simple paper envelope; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. I don't think you had an opportunity, when you 

were being questioned, to elaborate maybe a little more 

on the difference between a paper envelope and these 

Fed Ex packaging.  

A. Yes. 

Q. Could you elaborate a little bit more? 

A. Yes.  Fed Ex packaging, which I'm sure most of 

y'all are aware of or have seen, that I've encountered 

in the laboratory has almost like a waxy outside, may 

or may not be paper on the inside.  But we're talking 

about two different materials, and usually things are 
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sent in those to protect it from the rain.  Those are 

things that I've encountered in the past.  

And again, that envelope that I noted was 

properly sealed with tape, evidence tape.  I think I 

might have even noted some staples on it, but the item 

was sealed up pretty good.  

Q. Is there any indication that the Fed Ex 

envelope with the actual evidence inside of it had any 

integrity issues that would have impacted, in your 

professional opinion, the testing that was to follow? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. No signs that it had been penetrated at all 

with sogginess or mold, correct? 

A. No.  And again, I didn't observe -- I didn't 

observe any mold; and you know, had mold been present 

on some of the items, I would have expected it to 

simply degrade the DNA -- or any possible DNA that 

could have been on those items.  So, if anything, that 

would have helped to, perhaps, weaken the DNA. 

Q. Which brings me to -- Mr. Sundermeir was 

asking you to reference something from Andrew 

McWhorter's affidavit.  You read that thing, didn't 

you? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Do you agree with Mr. McWhorter's assertion in 
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that affidavit that degradation, if there were any at 

all -- not saying that there is -- 

A. I'm not saying that there is. 

Q. And even if there had been, degradation, he 

said, (reading) can cause a contributor's DNA to not be 

detected in a mixture profile; but it would not cause 

the opposite, a person's profile, to appear in a 

mixture.  

Do you agree with that?  

A. I 100 percent agree.  

Q. And do you agree when he says that 

degradation, if any, (reading) would only have 

benefitted the defendant as the reported inclusion 

numbers would have actually been lower? 

A. I absolutely agree.  

Q. But nevertheless, there was no contamination 

of those inner items inside that cooler, was there? 

A. No, sir.  There was no cause to believe that a 

contamination event had occurred.  

Q. So, I think what I'm trying to ask you is:  In 

your professional opinion, the condition of the 

cooler -- well, let me back up a minute.  You examine 

the cooler, and you have to decide whether or not this 

evidence goes on for testing; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. Okay.  And that's what you did, right? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Did you find -- would it be safe to say that 

you considered the condition of the cooler and the lack 

of contamination penetration of the inner contents, 

envelopes scientifically irrelevant to any test 

results, then? 

A. Oh, yes.  Absolutely.  

Q. And if you felt otherwise, you would have 

noted that; and it would not have gone on for further 

testing because it has to get through you first, right? 

A. Yes.  If I felt otherwise, there would have 

been a quality incident associated with this case; and 

I would not have proceeded with testing the evidence.  

Q. Was refrigeration, in your professional 

opinion, even necessary for preservation of these 

particular exhibits? 

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  Objection, calls for 

speculation.  

MR. THOMPSON:  It's his professional 

opinion.

A. In my professional opinion, I don't believe 

so.  

Q. (BY MR. THOMPSON)  Can you tell us why? 

A. Almost all items of clothing, particularly the 
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things submitted in this case -- it was cloth items 

that I believe I screened and these items -- those are 

items that are not commonly refrigerated.  

Now, I believe what was contained in that 

cooler were some DNA extracts that were also in a 

sealed condition; but those were not used for testing.  

Those were not a part of my testing.  If memory is 

serving me correct, those were included in the same 

cooler, which may be why the evidence was refrigerated 

in the first place.  

Q. Would I be correct in -- if the prosecutors 

assert, would I be correct in saying that the bench 

note was not necessarily a part of the discussions with 

the DA's office pretrial regarding your role in the 

handling of evidence? 

A. No, it was not. 

Q. It was not discussed? 

A. No.  

Q. With the prosecutor? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. Is that because you did not believe that it 

was scientifically significant to the test results 

themselves? 

A. Well, to that point, I didn't review my notes 

before the testimony.  But during the testimony, I 
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reviewed my report, testified directly from my report.  

So, had there been a contamination concern in this 

case, it would have been referenced on the body of my 

report.  

Q. But you don't recall ever having conversations 

with Ms. Molfino or any other members of the 

prosecution team about the bench note itself and the 

condition of the cooler, do you? 

A. No, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  I pass the witness.

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  Just a few questions, 

Mr. Vinson.  

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.  

RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. SUNDERMEIR: 

Q. Mr. Thompson was talking with you about the 

nature of the Fed Ex envelope in the cooler.  

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall that?

And today you are describing the nature 

of that Fed Ex envelope, specifically, how it's made; 

correct? 

A. Yes.  

Q. You note that there is a waxy outside, today 

in your testimony? 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CRISTY BURNETT SMITH, CSR, RPR
252ND DISTRICT COURT (409)835-8579

73

A. Yes, and I'm making a generalization.  That 

item is not in front of me.  And again, if we would 

like to recall these items, we can open it all up; and 

I can tell you exactly the finish of that envelope.  

Q. But sitting here today, you don't recall, from 

your own memory, the finish of that envelope; correct? 

A. No, just speaking in generalizations.  

Q. And we don't have any photographs of that 

envelope to refer to today, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And Fed Ex makes multiple types of envelopes; 

isn't that true? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And in your bench notes about the envelope, 

you don't describe a waxy outside, correct? 

A. No.  

Q. In your bench notes you didn't describe what 

that Fed Ex envelope was made of, correct? 

A. No. 

Q. All we know about the Fed Ex envelope that was 

in the cooler was that it was damp and soggy from an 

unidentified foul-smelling liquid, correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Now, Mr. Thompson asked you whether the 

contents of that cooler required refrigeration; and I 
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believe you said there were some items that required 

refrigeration inside the cooler, correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And we agreed that the cooler was specifically 

labeled that it should be refrigerated, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. And there were ice packs in the cooler at one 

point, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Now, it's your opinion, as you've said today, 

that there were no integrity issues with the envelope, 

correct?  

A. Yes, sir, just the outside of the envelope.  

The envelope was in a sealed condition, as noted by my 

bench notes, had not been opened; and the evidence 

inside was dry.  

Q. Setting aside the envelope was sealed, we 

agree that the envelope was still damp and soggy; 

correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Doesn't that indicate that some level of 

moisture had been absorbed into that envelope? 

A. From the outside, yes.  But again, not 

necessarily from the inside; and I didn't describe the 

inside of the packaging, just that the inner contents 
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were dry.  

Q. Right.  We have no description of what the 

interior of the Fed Ex envelope looked like in your 

bench notes, correct? 

A. Yes.  If it would help, I would love to have 

that evidence; and we can go over it.  

Q. Unfortunately, we don't have that today; but 

we also don't have any photographs to work off of 

today, correct? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Asked and answered and 

repetitive.  Just becoming argumentative, Grayson, 

please.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  Is that correct? 

A. No, I don't have the evidence.  

Q. Your bench notes don't describe the interior 

contents as being dry, correct? 

A. No, and it wouldn't.  That's the normal state 

of evidence, is dry.  

Q. Now, I believe Mr. Thompson had asked you 

whether or not mold would degrade a DNA sample, and you 

answered that it would; is that right? 

A. I believe it would.  

Q. Now, your inspection for mold in this 

particular case was just a visual inspection; correct?  

A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. And you didn't do any other procedures to test 

for the presence of mold? 

A. No, and I wouldn't have.  

Q. And we agree that during your testimony at 

trial the jury never heard about the damp and soggy  

Fed Ex envelope, correct? 

A. No, they did not.  

Q. And they never heard that the cooler wasn't 

refrigerated when it shouldn't have been, correct? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Asked and answered. 

A. They did not hear that.  It was not brought up 

in trial.  

Q. (BY MR. SUNDERMEIR)  In your role as a 

forensic analyst, do you actually test DNA? 

A. Yes, I do.  

Q. You perform testing on DNA mixtures, as well? 

A. Yes, I do.  

Q. Okay.  

A. But not in this case.  

Q. And finally, the interior envelopes that we've 

been discussing inside of the Fed Ex envelope -- 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. -- those were, indeed, paper envelopes; 

correct? 

A. Yes.  And I think I described that evidence 
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should be packaged in paper envelopes.  That allows 

breathability while keeping the evidence items separate 

from one another. 

Q. And what do you mean by "breathability"? 

A. When an item can breathe, when it gets air, 

that does not foster mold growth.  That's why evidence 

is usually packaged in paper materials.  

Q. So, paper envelopes are permeable; is that 

fair? 

A. It depends on what you are asking.  

Q. Liquid is capable of seeping through a paper 

envelope; is that correct? 

A. Absolutely correct.  

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  All right.  I have no 

further questions.  Thank you. 

RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. THOMPSON:  

Q. Mr. Vinson, you testified that -- when I asked 

you a few minutes ago -- that only the extracts which 

were not tested would required refrigeration.  Do you 

recall that? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. The glove was not an extract, was it? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. If that Fed Ex envelope was compromised in any 
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way, you testified that it's not getting past you.  Do 

you remember that? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But it was secure and intact and wasn't 

compromised in any way, was it? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Nor were the contents inside, correct? 

A. No. 

Q. There was no sign of any mold or wetness to 

the exhibits inside the Fed Ex envelope that were found 

inside the cooler, regardless of the condition of the 

cooler itself? 

A. Yes, sir.  

MR. THOMPSON:  I pass the witness. 

FURTHER RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. SUNDERMEIR: 

Q. Just to be clear, Mr. Vinson, your testimony 

that there was no mold inside of any of the interior 

envelopes is based solely on your visual inspection, 

correct? 

A. Yes.  And as a forensic analyst, that's the 

only tool I have to assess for mold.  We don't test for 

molds; and I can't see mold if it's microscopic, of 

course.  But if it's enough to be visual, that's 

something I can note; and a visual exam is part of my 
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screening. 

Q. And you would agree that there is a 

difference -- if we're speaking about the Fed Ex 

envelope, there is a difference between being wet and 

being soggy; correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Thank you.  

MR. SUNDERMEIR:  No further questions. 

FURTHER RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. THOMPSON: 

Q. Were they wet?  If we're going to play with 

the word "soggy" and "wet," were the contents inside 

that Fed Ex envelope wet? 

A. The contents inside the envelope were not wet; 

and if they were, that would have been clearly noted in 

my bench notes. 

Q. Okay.  And you've been doing this how long? 

A. I'm coming up on 11 years.  

Q. And you are not blind, are you? 

A. No.  No, sir.  

Q. You've seen wet things before, right? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And you've seen soggy things before, right? 

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you've seen moldy things before, right? 
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A. Yes, sir. 

Q. But not in this case, right? 

A. No, sir.  The evidence packages inside that 

envelope were not visually moldy.  They were not wet to 

the touch.  

Q. In your professional opinion, based upon your 

visual observations and the fact that you passed it 

along for further testing, the scientific integrity of 

those items of evidence remained intact, correct? 

A. Absolutely, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I pass the witness. 

FURTHER RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. SUNDERMEIR:  

Q. It is just your opinion that the evidence 

inside of the Fed Ex envelope were -- were not 

contaminated, correct? 

A. Yes, sir.  That is my opinion.  

Q. We have no record documentation to -- for any 

testing of the liquid, correct? 

A. No, sir.  

Q. And you have no personal understanding of what 

happened inside that cooler in the 30 days before you 

opened it before your analysis, correct? 

A. No, sir.  And that cooler was sealed.  So, 

nobody does.  
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MR. SUNDERMEIR:  No further questions.  

Thank you.  

MR. THOMPSON:  No questions.  Thank you 

Mr. Vinson. 

(THE DEPOSITION CONCLUDED AT 11:28 A.M.) 



EXHIBIT G



 Laboratory Operations Guide DRN: LOG-03-12 
  Version: 04 
 Subject: Quality Action Plan Page 1 of 5 

Effective Date: 03/11/2013 
Issued by: QA Coordinator 

QUALITY ACTION PLAN (QAP) 
1 Scope 
This document addresses the process for initiating, implementing, and checking the 
effectiveness of corrective actions or quality improvements of laboratory nonconformance, 
deficiencies, and/or work product of an unacceptable quality.   

Nonconforming event is when one or more characteristic(s) or condition(s) are observed 
that do not conform to required specifications in standards, procedures, or policies.  
Examples of nonconforming events may include: contamination, failed control, observations 
recorded inaccurately, incorrect conclusions/interpretations, sample switch, sample 
preparation error, and unsupported conclusions.   

Corrective Action is an quality assurance activity or response to bring about continuous 
improvement; immediate resolution of incorrect results; remediation of nonconforming 
event(s) in similar work, as appropriate; and minimize recurrence. The intent is to prevent 
unintended delivery or use of nonconforming work.  

Preventive Action is a proactive approach to preventing possible problems or potential 
nonconformity, preventing the recurrence of problems, managing risk, and improvement. 

The Quality Action Plan may also serve as documentation of Preventive Action (PA). 

2 Practice 
2.1 Quality Action Plan Process  

A. Incident Description 

1. When a nonconforming event has been identified, the individual responsible for 
the work must halt testing and/or calibration (and withhold test or calibration 
reports as necessary) until the scope of the incident has been determined.  The 
Technical Point of Contact, Technical Leader, supervisor, manager, and/or 
Quality Manager also have the responsibility to identify nonconformance and halt 
testing. 

2. Briefly describe the event and initiate a Quality Action Plan (LAB-QA-04), and 
provide details to the technical and quality management chain of command about 
the unsatisfactory condition that needs to be corrected including: 

a) Related policy/procedure/specification  

b) Time-frame of the condition 

c) Area(s) of impact 

d) Affected work (case, batch, and/or instrument numbers)  

e) If laboratory data/results could have been compromised   

B. Evaluation and/or Root Cause 

1. Evaluate and define the scope and significance of the potential 
nonconforming event (e.g. nature of incident, risk, significance, impact to 
completed and in-progress work).  Identify the potential stake holders and assess 
the potential impact to them.  Determine to what extent casework must cease.   
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a) Suspend the procedure/method/process in the laboratory. The 
Technical Point of Contact, Technical Leader, supervisor, manager, and/or 
Quality Manager has the authority to suspend work in the laboratory if the 
event appears broader than the immediate event. 

b) Temporarily limit work duties of individual(s) in the laboratory. The 
Technical Leader, supervisor, manager, and/or Quality Manager have the 
authority to limit the duties of individual(s) if the event was determined to 
be a result of unacceptable performance by the scientist/technician. 

c) Other items that should be documented as part of the evaluation, as 
applicable:  

i. If customer was notified to recall evidence or results;  

ii. If results may be conditionally accepted;  

iii. If nonconforming event could recur; or  

iv. If there is concern about compliance to standards/policies/procedures. 

2. Root Cause Investigation should go beyond the symptoms to the underlying 
events or problems. Investigate and identify the potential root cause(s) for the 
nonconformity.  The investigation should seek to detect and correct systemic 
problems.  

C. Action Plan 

1. Procedures Resumed or Resumption of Work. If work was halted or limited for 
the laboratory or scientists, authorization to resume testing activities must be 
given by the Quality Manager, and/or Director. 

2. Consider recall of previous work. A review and evaluation should be 
conducted of previous work to determine if any work needs to be recalled or 
reworked. 

3. Notify customer(s) as applicable to the following conditions.  Documentation of 
the customer’s notification shall be included in the record.   

a) If reexamination of work in progress is necessary and no results have 
been released to the customer, then it is not necessary to notify the 
submitting agency of the additional work or technical issue, so long as it 
has been fully resolved. 

b) If reexamination occurs and the results of analysis for those samples are 
different than what has already been released to the submitting agency, 
an amended report must be issued, which identifies the affected samples, 
results, and opinions. 

c) If reexamination of evidence is not possible because the evidence had 
been lost, consumed by analysis, or returned to the customer, then it is 
necessary to notify the submitting agency of the issue. 

4. Correction to the Nonconforming Work. Rework, regrade (revise or re-state 
acceptable specifications or conditions for results), or repair of nonconforming 
work should be taken immediately and documented.  

5. Remedial Actions. The remedial actions taken and plan should be listed, 
including who is to perform the action and the associated milestones for 
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completion, in order to correct the issue and ensure that the issue is not 
recurring.  It is expected that the action plan and supporting documentation will 
be reviewed to provide both immediate containment of the problem, and to 
resolve the issue. When individuals are identified as participants to the action 
plan, they should specifically sign the action plan item(s) to acknowledge their 
responsibility for them. If an amended or supplemental report was a required 
action, then include the report as supporting documentation. 

Note: Supporting documentation of the completion of action items and relevant 
communications should be included.  Communications such as email and 
minutes of meetings are objective documentation of when discussions occurred 
with key stakeholders and what was discussed.  

6. The Quality Manager shall approve the Quality Action Plan and any supporting 
documentation, and submit it to System Quality Assurance for review and 
approval. 

7. New action items or progress/completion of action items after the submission of 
the original Quality Action Plan should be submitted on a Quality Action Plan 
Supplement form (LAB-QA-04A) and include relevant milestones towards 
remediation of the nonconformity. 

D. System Quality Assurance Review 

1. Review the Quality Action Plan for completeness and assignment of final level of 
concern.  A determination of the status of the Quality Action Plan will be made 
(e.g. closed vs. open). Additional reviews may be required by management and 
the respective advisory boards to achieve satisfactory resolution.  Additional 
documentation or information may be requested to clarify or support the plan and 
it will be documented with a Quality Action Plan Supplement form (LAB-QA-04A). 

2. Determine which action plans will require monitoring for effectiveness and direct 
the review and its documentation. The extent and nature of the monitoring will be 
based on the likelihood the nonconforming event could recur or that there is 
doubt about the compliance of the laboratory's operations with its own policies 
and procedures. Corrective actions require monitoring such as those related to 
audits, inspections, assessments, or complaints, and those that involve 
restrictions to examiner(s)/technician(s)/procedure(s).  

2.2 Levels of Concern for Nonconforming Work 
1. Level 1 – The nature or cause of the nonconformance directly affects and has a 

fundamental impact on the work product of the laboratory; or there is a concern 
that if the nonconformance continues for an extended period, the work product of 
the laboratory or integrity of evidence/test item/calibration item could be 
negatively affected. 

a) Examples:  
i. Inaccuracy was a result of information entered on the report by the 

laboratory and is significant to the test result (technical amended or 
supplemental report issued, level 1 or 2 depending on significance to 
outcome);  
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ii. The information contained within the report is accurate and complete but is 
inadequately supported by documentation in the records (level 1 or 2 
depending on significance to policy/standards);  

iii. Compromised evidence, sample, or calibration instrument integrity (level 1 or 
2 depending on significance to outcome);  

b) Such instances require that the Quality Assurance Coordinator and Quality 
Manager be notified of the potential nonconforming event immediately 
upon its discovery. 

c) Subsequent notification of the nonconforming event must be issued to the 
relevant customers as appropriate. 

d) Requires disclosure of such occurrences in writing within 30 calendar days 
to the accrediting body and must include a summary of the occurrence(s) 
and a statement of actions taken or being taken by the laboratory to: 

i. Determine the root cause of the problem 

ii. Determine who may have been impacted by the occurrence(s) 

iii. Notify those who are potentially impacted by the occurrence(s), and 

iv. Appropriately correct and/or eliminate the cause of the occurrence(s). 
2. Level 2 – The nature or cause of the nonconformance does not, to any 

significant degree, affect the fundamental reliability of the work product of the 
laboratory or the integrity of evidence, and does not appear to be a persistent 
issue. 

a) Examples:  
i. Isolated contamination event, instrument inefficiency, failed controls, failed 

process (depends on the severity of the departure) 

ii. Inaccuracy as a result of information entered on the report by the laboratory 
significant to the test result (technical amended report issued, level 1 or 2 
depending on significance to outcome);  

iii. Compromised evidence, sample, or calibration instrument integrity (level 1 or 
2 depending on significance to outcome);  

iv. The information contained within the report is accurate and complete but is 
inadequately supported by documentation in the records (level 1 or 2 
depending on significance to policy/standards);  

v. Incomplete or incorrect analytical work, which may impact other cases 
(depends on its nature and significance to outcome) 

b) Such instances require that the Quality Assurance Coordinator/Quality 
Assurance Specialist/Quality Manager be notified of the event within 30 
days from the date of discovery of the potential non-conformity.   

3. Level 3 Situation, condition, and/or discrepancy have minimal effect or 
significance and do not significantly affect the fundamental reliability of the 
laboratory's work. 
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a) Examples:  
i. A typographical or transcriptional error depending on its relationship to the 

test/calibration results;  

ii. Inaccuracy was a result of information reported by the laboratory insignificant 
to the test result (technical amended report issued, insignificant to the 
outcome such as insignificant misspelled words, omission of a disposition, 
and other insignificant clerical oversights)   

b) Such instances require that the Quality Assurance Coordinator/Quality 
Assurance Specialist/Quality Manager be notified of the event within 30 
days from the date of discovery of the potential non-conformity. 

4. Level 4 does not constitute a significant concern to the quality system. Typically 
does not require either a Quality Action Plan or notification.  Exception: corrective 
actions related to systemic, pervasive or recurring issues. 

a) Examples:  
i. Non-substantive transcriptional mistakes in the examination record that have 

been corrected;  

ii. Correction of notes or draft reports as a result of the review process;  

iii. Non-technical amended report issued where inaccuracy was a result of 
incorrect information provided by customer and had no bearing on laboratory 
conclusions. 

3 Records 
Quality Action Plan (LAB-QA-04) 

Quality Action Plan Supplement (LAB-QA-04A) 

QAP/Customer Complaint LOG (LAB-QA-19) 
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Minor revision with respect to reference of Quality 
Assurance Coordinator 

Modification Section 2 with respect to Technical Leader 
responsibility given same responsibility as Quality 
Manager 
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Entire document modifications 

03 05/29/2012 
Major revision – Sections 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 

Minor revision - Title 

04 03/11/2013 Major revision 
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April 29, 2022 
 

 
Via e-mail to adam_vinson@alumni.baylor.edu and via Federal Express No. 7767 2045 7792 
  
Mr. Stephen Adam Vinson 
5121 Elysian Street 
Houston, Texas 77009 
  

Re:  FSC Self-disclosure No. 22.18 – Houston Forensic Science Center (Forensic 
Biology/DNA)  

  
Dear Mr. Vinson,  
  

At its April 22, 2022, quarterly meeting, the Commission voted to investigate the 
referenced self-disclosure filed by the Houston Forensic Science Center.  The investigation will 
address whether you committed professional negligence or professional misconduct with respect 
to testimony regarding forensic biology screening you performed as a Texas Department of Public 
Safety (DPS) Houston Regional Crime Laboratory employee during Joseph Colone’s capital 
murder trial and post-trial proceedings. The Commission will also review related issues with 
respect to evidence handling and quality assurance at DPS. The Commission’s review will include 
an assessment of whether any of the issues raised by the self-disclosure constitute violations of the 
Texas Code of Professional Responsibility for Forensic Analysts and Crime Laboratory 
Management.1 A copy of the self-disclosure is enclosed with this letter. (Exhibit A). 

 
Dr. Bruce Budowle, Dr. Nancy Downing, and Brazos County District Attorney Jarvis 

Parsons are the members of the Commission appointed to the investigative panel that will 
evaluate the referenced self-disclosure. Commission investigations of laboratory self-disclosures 
may include collection and review of documents, case records, review by subject matter experts, 
interviews with individuals involved and other action as appropriate.2  
  

The investigative panel may request to interview you regarding the events and 
circumstances described in the laboratory self-disclosure.  Commission staff will contact you 
regarding this request in the upcoming weeks.  You may also submit written information 
electronically or via regular mail to the address on this letterhead.  

 
The Commission’s investigative process will take several months to 

complete.  A final written report will be published on the Commission’s website 
at www.fsc.texas.gov after conclusion of the investigation.  Please be advised the outcome of the 

 
1 37 Tex. Admin. Code § 651.219 (2018). 

mailto:adam_vinson@alumni.baylor.edu
http://www.fsc.texas.gov/
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=37&pt=15&ch=651&rl=219
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investigation may impact the status of your forensic analyst license, as described in the 
Disciplinary Action section of the Commission’s enabling statute.2  
  

 Thank you and please feel free to contact the Commission’s office with any questions or 
concerns you may have about the investigative process.  
  

Sincerely,  
 
Leigh M. Tomlin 
 
Leigh M. Tomlin 
Associate General Counsel 

  
encl. 
  

 

 
2 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4-c. 



TEXAS FORENSIC SCIENCE COMMISSION• LAB DISCLOSURE FORM (Cont.) 

1. PERSON COMPLETING THIS FORM

Nanie: Peter Stout

Laboratory: Houston Forensic Science Center

Address: 500 Jefferson Street, 13th floor 

City: 
State: TX 

Houston 

Home Phone: 
Zip Code: 77002 

Work Phone: 713-929-6760 
Email Address 6f any): pstout@hfsctx.gov 

2. SUBJECT OF DISCLOSURE
List the full nanie, address of the laboratory, facility
or individual that is the subject of this disclosure:

Individual/Laboratory: Stephen Adam Vinson 

Address: 500 Jefferson Street, 13th floor 

City: Houston 

State: TX Zip Code: 77002 
Year Laboratory Accreditation Obtained: 2014 

Name of National Accrediting Agency: ANAB

Date of Examination, Analysis, or Report: multiple 

Type of Forensic Analysis: DNA

Laboratory Case Number Of known): N/A

Is the forensic analysis associated with any law enforce­
ment investigation, prosecution or criminal litigation? 
Yes l.8JI No D 

* If you answered "Yes" above, provide the following
information (if possible):

* Name of Defendant: Joseph Kenneth Colone Jr.

* Case Number/Cause Number: 10-10213/AP-77,073
(iJ unknown, leave blank)

* Nature of Case: Capital Murder
(e.g burglary, murder, etc.)

* The county where case was investigated,
prosecuted or :filed: Jefferson County 

* The Court: 252nd District Court

* The Outcome of Case:

The defendant was sentenced to death for capital murder. 

* Nanies of attorneys in case on both sides Of known):

3. WITNESSES
Provide the following about any person with factual
knowledge or expertise regarding the facts of the
disclosure. Attach separate sheet(s), if necessary.

First Witness Of any): 

Nanie: Stephen Adam Vinson 

Address: N/A 

Daytime Phone: 817-773-6865 (personal) 
Evening Phone: 817-773-6865 (personal) 
Fax: N/A 

Email Address: Adam_ Vinson@alumni.baylor.edu (personal)

Second Witness Of any): 

Address: 
Daytime Phone: 
Evening Phone: 
Fax: 
Email Address: 

Third Witness Of any): 

Address: 
Daytime Phone: 
Evening Phone: 
Fax: 
Email Address: 

Prosecution: Pat Knauth, Ashley Chase Molfino, Lance Long and Rachel Grove Defense: Robert Loper and Gerald Bourque 
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TEXAS FORENSIC SCIENCE COMMISSION• LAB DISCLOSURE FORM (Cont.) 

4. DESCRIPTION OF DISCLOSURE

Please write a brief statement of the event(s), acts or omissions that are the subject of the disclosure. See Page 6 of 
this form for guidance on what information should be disclosed to the Commission. 

While employed at the Houston Forensic Science Center Stephen Adam Vinson provided testimony 
for a Texas Department of Public Safety case (cause# 10-10213) that he had screened in 2013 while 
he was still an employee of Texas DPS. During the review of his testimony, affidavit and deposition, 
HFSC identified concerns regarding testimony given by Stephen Adam Vinson as it pertains to his 
stated practice to testify solely from his lab report without reviewing his bench notes. 

During llis 201 i testimony Mr. Vinson is asked "Do you recall - - llave you llad an opportunity to 
review your report?" to which he responds "I have not seen my report in a while." Later in the 
testimony, v,hen told to "gi·,e the jury some idea of the amount of time that it would take to do that 
work" Mr. Vinson replies "I'm not sure the amount of time on that. I'd have to reference the case file 
with my lab notes " When asked "There's same notes somewhere that wrn 1ld shaw what ach 1al - -
what actual work you did on what actual day?" Mr. Vinson replies "Yes, it would be in our case file. 
But I'm no longer an employee of the State, so I do not have access to that information". 

In his 2019 voluntary statement Mr. Vinson states "It is common practice for me to testify from my 
report alone, and only reference notes 1f spec1f1cally instructed to do so by the prosecution or the 
defense." In reference to a specific bench note from this case he states "I appropriately testified that 
aI ry i11 egula1 ities would I rave beer I captu1 ed i11 111y I rotes" aI rd fu11I1e1 states "t lad I I eviewed 11 ry case 
file prior to testimony, I would not have brought up the note to ADA Molfino, as the note does not 
afmct the evidence that I screened and pertains only to the outer packaging in which the evidence 
was received" He also states "I can say with certainty, if ibis specific bench note was brought to roy 
attention prior to testimony, I would have explained the insignificance of this bench note to both 
parties. This explanation would have surely eliminated any concern regarding the integrity of the 
evidence". 

In the September 2020 depos1t1on Mr. Vinson states "I do not testify from bench notes. My 
report Is the summary of the testings that I performed In the case. I can always be asked questions 
about IIIy be1 rel 1 1 roles, wl licl I I gladly aIIsweI. I I rave IIIaI ry ti, 1 res 011 ti re star rd bat it's also fail lo say 
that I can testify directly from my report and it summarizes all the testing performed in the case." 
When Mr. Vinson is asked "Did you understand Mrs. Chase to be asking whether anything was awry 
with the cooler at all oc j11st that yo, 1 noted it?" be responds " II 1st that I noted it" And later be is 
asked "Is it your understanding she only cared whether or not you noted the irregularities" to which 
Mr. Vinson responds "Yes, I believe so." He is then asked "You didn't think she wanted to discuss 
any of those irregularities in front of the jury?" to which Mr. Vinson replies "No. And we had not 
discussed any irregularities, as I think I made clear, I did not review my bench notes before 
testimony". He Is later asked "And 1t also states that (reading) Analyst shall testify in a manner which 
Is clear, straightforward and obJect1ve and avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, bias or 
111isleadi119 11Ia1111eI, crn1ecl?" lo wllicll M1. Vi11srn11eplies "Yes, si1. And I believe I app1oplialely 
ans,Nered that if something 'INas a·wry, I 'INould have noted it, 'INhieh I believe I did in my notes". 
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5. DESCRIPTION OF COR RECTIVE ACTION TAKEN

Please describe any corrective actions or corrective action plans the laboratory has developed to address the 
issues discussed in this disclosure. Please attach copies of the actions taken and/ or future corrective plan 
to this disclosure form. 

Please let the Commission know if any other agencies (e.g., Texas R angers, local district attorney, Inspector 
General's Office, etc.) are also conducting an investigation of the matter in question. If possible, provide 
a contact name and phone number for the individual responsible for any other investigation(s). 

This matter is also being evaluated by the Texas Department of Public Safety. The following 
information was provided by Texas DPS: In October 2013, a cooler labeled "refrigerate upon 
arrival" was submitted to the laboratory containing evidence for DNA analysis and was 
subsequently place into a non-refrigerated section of the DNA vault. When the case was retrieved 
for biological screening approximately one month later, the analyst noted the contents of the 
cooler included one Fed-Ex envelope (containing 5 yellow envelopes and one clear plastic bagg1e 
eacl'i containing ev1aence) ana four ice packs. It was furtl'ier notea tl'iat tl'ie ice packs ins1ae tl'ie 
cooler were al room temperature, lt1e Fed-Ex envelope inside was damp and soggy, and ltlere 
was foul s111elli119 ovateI /liquid at botto111 of co11tai11e1. All of ti lis i11fo1111atio11 was I ecoI ded i11 ti Ie 
case notes by the analyst. The analyst then proceeded with biological screening of the evidence. 
There is no further indication in the case notes that the Technical Leader, Section Supervisor, 
Laboratory Manager, or Quality Assurance Specialist were made a\ivare of the condition of the 
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TEXAS FORENSIC SCIENCE COMMISSION• LAB DISCLOSURE FORM (Cont.) 

6. EXHIBITS AND ATTACHMENT(S)

Whenever possible, disclosures should be accompanied by readable copies (NO ORIGINALS) of any 
laboratory reports, relevant witness testimony, affidavits of experts about the forensic analysis, or other 
documents related to your disclosure. Please list and attach any documents that might assist the Commission 
in evaluating the disclosure. Documents provided will NOT be returned. List of attachments: 

- Reporter's Record Volume 47 of 52 for Trial Court Cause No. 10-10213 for The State of Texas
vs Joseph Kenneth Colone Jr.
- Reporter's Record Volume 24 of 37 Cause No 10-10213A CCA No. WR-89,538-01 (including
Applicant's Exhibit No 156 Voluntary Statement of Stephen Adam Vinson)
- Cause No 10-10213-A CCA Cause No WR-89,538-01 Agreed Findings of Fact and Conclusions
of Law Relating to Article 11.u 71 Writ Application
- No VVR-89,538-0'I On Application for Writ of Habeas Corpus m Cause No ·I0-·I02·I3-A m the
252nd District Coar t Jefferson Courtly
- Perso11al state1nent p1ovided by Stepl1e11 Adan, Vi11s011 011 March 21, 2022

7. YOUR SIGNATURE AND VERIFICATION

By signing below, I certify that the statements made by me in this disclosure are true. I also certify that any 
documents or exhibits attached are true and correct copies, to the best of my knowledge. 
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TEXAS FORENSIC 

SCIENCE COMMISSION 
Justice Through Science 

1700 North Congress Ave., Suite 445 

Austin, Texas 78701 

June 1, 2022 

Via email to adam_vinson@alumni.baylor.edu and via First Class Mail

Mr. Stephen Adam Vinson 

5121 Elysian Street 

Houston, Texas 77009 

Re:  FSC Disclosure No. 22.18 – Houston Forensic Science Center 

(Forensic Biology/DNA) 

Dear Mr. Vinson, 

As you know, pursuant to Article 38.01 §4(a)(2) and (3) of the Texas Code of 

Criminal Procedure, the Commission is investigating a self-disclosure filed by the 

Houston Forensic Science Center concerning possible professional negligence or 

misconduct with respect to your testimony in the Joseph Colone capital murder trial and 

post-trial proceedings.   

The investigative panel requests an opportunity to interview you with respect to the 

events and circumstances described in the disclosure.  Currently the Commission has 

access to your trial testimony, your post-conviction affidavit in the Colone matter dated 

October 10, 2019, your post-conviction deposition testimony, and an undated personal 

statement executed by you in connection with the internal HFSC investigation.  The 

Commission has also reviewed the findings of fact and conclusions of law entered by the 

trial judge in the Colone matter dated July 12, 2021.  

Absent other information, the Commission may accept the laboratory’s findings 

which may result in disciplinary action by the Commission, up to and including 

disciplinary action against your forensic analyst license.  If you wish to respond, in writing 

or otherwise, the Commission requests that you do so by June 17, 2022. 

To schedule an interview, you may reach me directly at (512) 936-0729 or via 

email at Robert.smith@fsc.texas.gov.  You may submit written responses to me 

electronically or via regular mail to the address on this letterhead. 

Sincerely, 

Robert Smith 

Robert Smith 

Staff Attorney 

Texas Forensic Science Commission 

[P] 1.888.296.4232 • [F] 1.888.305.2432 • [E] info@fac.texas.gov

, 

mailto:adam.vinson@alumni.baylor.edu
mailto:Robert.smith@fsc.texas.gov
mailto:info@fac.texas.gov
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CONDUCT EXPECTATIONS 
 

 

Policy Statement 

Houston Forensic Science Center (HFSC) has certain workplace conduct expectations of its staff 

members. The Conduct Expectations Policy summarizes the most critical of those expectations.  The list 

of conduct requirements in the policy should not be considered all-inclusive.  All staff members must use 

critical thinking skills when deciding appropriate workplace conduct. If clarification is needed, staff 

members are expected to discuss concerns with their supervisor or a member of the Human Resources 

department.  

 

Purpose 

The purpose of the Conduct Expectations Policy is to summarize practices and guidelines that promote 

professional workplace conduct for all staff members.  Although each individual case may vary, and no 

set of guides or rules will precisely fit every occasion, these practices and guidelines represent general 

standards which each staff member is expected to follow.  Critical conduct requirements are addressed in 

more detail in specific HFSC policies such as Code of Ethics, Workplace Discrimination and Harassment, 

Prevention of Workplace Violence, Drug Free Workplace, Electronic Communications, Gifts to Staff 

Members and Financial Conflict of Interest.  If there is a conflict between the Conduct Expectations 

Policy and a policy providing details of the issue, the detailed policy prevails.   

 

Applicability 

This policy applies to all staff members of HFSC.  Student interns, temporary employees, independent 

contractors and vendors are also expected to follow the procedures set out in this policy.   

 

Definitions 

 
Civilian -- a person providing services under the management responsibility of HFSC but employed by 
the City of Houston in a job classification other than a sworn peace officer. 

 

Classified -- a person providing services under the management responsibility of HFSC but employed 

by the City of Houston in a sworn peace officer job classification.  

  

Disparate Treatment -- discrimination in which one individual is treated less favorably than another in the 

workplace because of their gender, race, color, national origin, religion, age, sexual orientation, or 

disability. 

 

Employee -- a person directly employed by and on the payroll of HFSC. 

 

Human Resources and Human Resources Director -- refers to the Human Resources Division and the 

Human Resources Director of HFSC. 
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Misconduct -- workplace behavior that is not in keeping with HFSC expectations, policies and practices. 
(For specific requirements and practices related to unlawful workplace conduct; i.e. disparate treatment, 
workplace harassment, sexual harassment, and retaliation, see Workplace Discrimination and Harassment 
Policy.) 
 
Sexual Harassment -- includes, but is not limited to, unwelcome sexual advances, unwelcome requests 
for sexual favors, unwelcome verbal comments of a sexual nature, unwelcome physical contact or 
touching, or unwelcome displays or distribution of sexually-oriented material.   
 
Staff Member -- any person who is a Civilian, Classified, or Employee. 

 

Supervisor -- any staff member with responsibilities that include supervision and management of other 

staff members.    

 

Workplace Discrimination -- includes, but is not limited to, decisions regarding employment that adversely 

impact a staff member’s pay, status, position, or assignment, including decisions regarding recruitment, 

appointment, compensation, promotion, corrective action, transfer, termination and training opportunities; 

opportunities for overtime pay and advancement may also be included. 

  

Workplace Harassment -- consists of unwelcome conduct, whether verbal, physical or visual, that is 

based on a person’s gender, race, color, national origin, religion, age, sexual orientation, or disability.  

Workplace harassment may include derogatory remarks, epithets, offensive jokes, the display or 

circulation of offensive printed, visual or electronic material; or offensive physical actions.  

 

Responsibilities 

A. Staff Members – All staff members are responsible for ensuring personal behavior that supports a 

professional scientific workplace environment and prevents retaliation for reporting perceived 

misconduct.  A staff member who perceives he/she is being subjected to violation of this policy 

or a staff member who witnesses a perceived violation of this policy is expected to report the 

misconduct at the earliest possible stage so that HFSC may take appropriate action.  Delay in 

reporting may impair the ability of HFSC to conduct a thorough investigation or take appropriate 

action.   

B. Supervisors -- All supervisors are accountable for timely, fair and consistent administration of this 

policy.  Any supervisor who receives a complaint of perceived misconduct or who observes 

perceived misconduct shall take prompt and appropriate action reasonably necessary to ensure 

compliance with the policy.  At a minimum, the supervisor shall report the perceived misconduct 

to Human Resources as soon as possible.  No supervisor has the authority to agree to not report an 

allegation or observation of perceived misconduct or to delay a report.   

C. Human Resources –The Human Resources Director and/or Human Resources Generalist are 

responsible to provide advice and counsel to staff members and supervisors regarding this policy 

and any perceived violation of the policy.  Human Resources may also be responsible to 

investigate allegations of misconduct.   
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Procedures  

General Conduct 

A. To maintain public confidence, it is important that all staff members adhere to the highest 

standards of professionalism in their dealings with members of the public, stakeholders, and one 

another.  

B. Staff members shall not discriminate or engage in disparate treatment toward any current or 

prospective employee.  

C. Workplace harassment in any form is strictly prohibited and will not be tolerated in the workplace.  

D. Any intentional act of intimidation, threat of violence, act of violence or other interference with the 

job performance of co-workers or visitors is prohibited.  

E. HFSC electronic media is intended for business related matters only.   

F. Staff members are expected to understand their individual job duties, and to ask for clarification 

as needed. (Please note that the supervisor has the discretion to change a staff member’s job 

duties based upon business needs.) 

G. Staff members are expected to report to work as scheduled or to notify their supervisor in a timely 

manner when unable to do so.    

H. Staff members shall not misrepresent expertise or credentials in any professional capacity. 

I. Any conflict of interest concerns and/or any situation that may adversely affect the quality of the 

work shall be brought to the attention of the staff member’s supervisor immediately.  (See HFSC 

Quality Manual: Section 9 - Conflict of Interest/Undue Influence.)   

J. Staff members are to treat clients or prospective clients professionally, with respect and dignity.  

K. Staff members are expected to clearly distinguish HFSC statements from those that are statements 

of personal opinion when interacting with the media or the general public. Only authorized staff 

members may officially represent Houston Forensic Science Center.   

L. Staff members shall not report to work under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs or other 

illegal substances; in addition, they shall not report to work under the influence of legally 

prescribed or over-the-counter drugs which may impair alertness, motor function or the ability to 

perform the job or create a situation that may adversely affect the safety of others.  

M. Staff members are expected to disclose personal relationships with customers to their supervisor 

so that the supervisor may determine the appropriateness of such relationships, seeking advice 

from corporate administration or the Legal Department as needed.   

N. Staff members are expected to disclose personal relationships with other staff members to their 

supervisor or a member of Human Resources so that the impact, if any, on the work relationship 

may be determined. 

O. Staff members shall not steal, intentionally destroy the personal or professional property of the 

corporation or co-workers, or engage in any conduct that may be considered criminal conduct at a 

Class B Misdemeanor or above.      

P. Staff members shall inform their supervisor or a member of Human Resources of any pending 

litigation that may impact the staff member’s ability to do his/her job effectively or of any arrest.     

Q. Staff members are expected to dress professionally, with specific requirements determined by the 

section/department on the basis of job responsibilities.    

R. Staff members who smoke must do so only in designated areas.  

S. Willful or flagrant violation of workplace rules, policies or conduct expectations of HFSC may be 

so serious that removal from service with HFSC is warranted.   
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Opinions and Conclusions  

A. Tests are designed to disclose true facts and all interpretations by staff members shall be consistent 

with that purpose and staff members shall not knowingly distort conclusions/interpretations.  

B. Where test results are capable of being interpreted to the advantage of either side of a case, test 

results and opinions shall be reported in an objective and scientific manner, without regard to the 

fact that one side of the case has requested the test. 

 

Court Presentation  

A. Staff members shall not offer opinions or conclusions in testimony which are untrue or are not 

supported by scientific data.  

B. Staff members shall avoid the use of terms and opinions which could be assigned greater weight 

than are due them. Where an opinion requires qualification or explanation, it is not only proper 

but incumbent upon the staff member to attempt to offer such qualification or explanation. 

C. Staff members have a moral obligation to see to it that others in the criminal justice system 

understand the evidence as it exists and to present it in an impartial manner.  

D. Staff members testifying as expert witnesses shall make every effort to use understandable 

language in their explanations and demonstrations in order that the jury/judge will obtain a true 

and valid concept of the testimony. The use of unclear, misleading, circuitous, or ambiguous 

language with a view of confusing an issue in the minds of the court or jury is unethical and 

prohibited.  

E. Staff members shall answer all questions asked in a clear, straight-forward manner and shall 

refuse to extend themselves beyond their field of competence. 

 

Compliance 

A. Compliance with this policy is an on-going requirement; each staff member shall ensure his/her 

compliance with the policy.  

B. Perceived misconduct may be reported to a member of Human Resources who will facilitate an 

informal or formal resolution process.  Allegations by civilians or classified officers may be 

referred to the appropriate facilitator for the City of Houston.   

C. Allegations of disparate treatment, workplace harassment, sexual harassment, and/or retaliation 

shall be addressed following the procedures outlines in the Workplace Harassment and 

Discrimination Policy.   

D. Retaliation against anyone for making a complaint of misconduct based upon an honest 

perception of the events or for cooperating in the investigation of such a complaint is strictly 

prohibited.   

E. A violation of this policy may result in progressive corrective action, up to and including removal 

from service with HFSC.  The progressive corrective action followed shall be appropriate to the 

staff member’s classification as employee, civilian or classified.   
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 Standard Operating Procedures DRN: DNA-03-01 
 DNA Version: 02 
 Subject: Evidence Handling Page 1 of 2 

Effective Date: 07/01/2009 
Issued by: QA Coordinator 

0BEVIDENCE HANDLING 
1 Scope 
The purpose of collection and packaging of biological evidence is to preserve it for future 
analysis, protect it from contamination, and maintain the integrity of the evidence.   

2 Collection and packaging 
A. Dry evidence items must be kept dry.  This may be accomplished by packaging 

the evidence in breathable containers, e.g., paper envelopes or sacks.  The 
DPS Crime Lab Service Physical Evidence Handbook details specific collection 
techniques. 

B. Wet evidence items should be dried at the crime scene when practical.  Wet 
items should not be folded in such a way as to transfer stains to other areas of 
the item. 

C. Collected items should be packaged separately. 
D. The evidence package must be marked with the case number and properly 

sealed. 
E. Special information should be written on the evidence package or outer 

container to ensure safety of the handler or integrity of the evidence.   
F. Any external evidence container knowingly containing biohazard materials must 

be marked with a universal biohazard sticker or placed into an appropriately 
labeled storage area/container. 

3 Storage of evidence 
A. Biological evidence must be properly stored to preserve biological constituents.  
B. Store sexual assault kits in the refrigerator or at room temperature.  If the 

sexual assault kit is stored at room temperature, the liquid blood specimen must 
be removed and stored in the refrigerator, or a sample of the specimen must be 
dried on FTA paper or cloth substrate.  Blood and urine specimens requiring 
toxicological screening will be stored in the refrigerator. 

C. Small, dried evidentiary items may be stored frozen depending on available 
space. 

D. Refrigerate, do not freeze, liquid whole blood specimens. 
E. Store larger items such as clothing, bedding, weapons, and other physical 

evidence containing stains at room temperature until examined. 
F. Collected cuttings or swabs are considered evidence.  For temporary storage, 

this evidence should be stored frozen and protected from freezer moisture by a 
layer of plastic. For long-term storage, this evidence may be stored at room 
temperature.  A portion of collected cuttings and swabs and DNA extracts will 
be retained by the laboratory whenever possible.  

G. DNA extracts are considered evidence and will be retained by the laboratory 
whenever possible. 

H. Amplification products and/or slides prepared by the laboratory are considered 
work product and not considered evidence unless it is the only remaining 
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 Standard Operating Procedures DRN: DNA-03-01 
 DNA Version: 02 
 Subject: Evidence Handling Page 2 of 2 

Effective Date: 07/01/2009 
Issued by: QA Coordinator 

sample from that piece of evidence.  Amplification products should be properly 
discarded after analysis has been completed.  

I. All items considered evidence by the laboratory will be handled according to 
LOG-05-01. 

4 Intra-agency transfer 
A. Reference LOG-05-01 for intra-agency transfer procedures. 
B. If screening and evaluation of the evidence has been performed, the evidence 

will be forwarded according to these procedures: 
1. All known and evidentiary samples should be submitted as dried stains. Known 

blood standards should be spotted onto FTA paper.   
2. Select a sufficient portion of the evidentiary stain for submission.  
3. All probative swabs and stains should be submitted.  
4. In the event that hairs, bone, teeth, muscle, or other tissues are required for DNA 

analysis, arrangements should be made between laboratories before transfer.  
Mounted hairs should remain mounted until transfer to the laboratory to prevent 
possible contamination.  Soft tissues should be transferred frozen. 
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 DNA Version: 07 
 Subject: Physical Evidence Examination Page 3 of 6 

Effective Date: 10/16/2012 
Issued by: QA Coordinator 

14. Possibility and effect of cross-contamination. 
6.2 Evidence Examination 

1. For cases with a large volume of evidence (excluding sexual assault kits), a 
maximum of ten probative items of evidence should be screened.  

2. It may be necessary to consult with another qualified examiner, the Technical 
Leader, and/or the supervisor to determine the appropriate analytical approach.  
How far the examiner proceeds in a particular case will depend on the available 
sample and what is necessary to answer the question(s) posed. 

3. Retrieve evidence from evidence storage, evidence custodian or another 
examiner.  Verify that the LAB-06 Laboratory Submission Form is appropriately 
completed and a chain of custody maintained. Any changes or additions to the 
form should be initialed and dated. Identify the pertinent forensic question(s). 
Plan the approach to the case.  Evaluate the potential value of evidence relative 
to the items of evidence submitted for examination.   

4. Wear a lab coat, disposable gloves, and mask as appropriate and change as 
necessary to insure safety and to avoid contamination of evidentiary items. 

5. Clean and then cover the work surface with clean, unused paper.  
6. At all times during the examination, items from any suspect(s) are kept separate 

from those of associated victim(s). Whenever possible, items from suspect(s) 
and items from associated victim(s) are examined in different locations and/or 
times. Always keep known materials separated from the questioned materials to 
be searched. 

7. No more than one item of evidence in an unpackaged state is allowed on an 
examination table at one time unless the items were submitted in the same 
package. 

8. Note instances where packaging or handling of the evidence creates a potential 
for contamination. These instances should be brought to the attention of the 
supervisor, other involved examiners and the investigator. Such instances may 
preclude the examination of the evidence. 

9. The case number, item number and examiner initials should be labeled on the 
packaging. Open the container (avoid breaking previous seals, if possible). Mark 
inner evidence packages as encountered.   

10. Label or tag each item with unique case number and examiner initials. If the 
evidence is too small to mark, place the evidence in a package then seal and 
mark the package. Any markings and notations on the evidence should not 
interfere or obstruct forensically significant areas (e.g. bloodstains).  

11. Document the individual items of evidence. Note whether other items were 
packaged together with the selected item. Visually examine the evidence and 
document as appropriate:  

a) A description of the outer evidence packaging and condition of the 
evidence, especially relevant factors to the preservation of the biological 
material 
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 Standard Operating Procedures DRN: DNA-03-02 
 DNA Version: 07 
 Subject: Physical Evidence Examination Page 4 of 6 

Effective Date: 10/16/2012 
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b) Physical description such as color, size, material, holes and tears, broken 
parts, missing parts, or other modifications that make the item appear 
unusual  

c) Manufacturer’s identification, serial numbers, or other marks 

d) The collection of trace evidence 

e) Significant stains, patterned marks, or impressions should be documented 
in a manner which clearly indicates the location, physical characteristics, 
relationship to other stains, and results of screening tests   

f) Use of microscopes or alternate light sources 

12. Perform and record results of presumptive tests conducted based on the 
respective Analytical Approaches as described below.  

13. A sufficient number of samples should be collected from an item to represent 
stains of probative value. 

14. Collected samples must be protected from loss or contamination by individually 
packaging and labeling with case number, item number, unique identifier as 
applicable, and initials. 

15. Any collected trace evidence may be packaged separately or with the original 
item, as long as it is uniquely labeled, sealed, initialed and dated. All original 
exhibits will be re-packaged in the original container, if possible. The evidence is 
re-sealed in a manner that would detect tampering. 

16. Upon completion of screening, the evidence should be transferred to the 
submitting agency, evidence storage area, evidence custodian or appropriate 
examiner. 

6.3 Analytical Approaches 
The analyst will evaluate the case synopsis, scene, and collected evidence to determine the 
appropriate course of analysis that should be taken to address the request. The most 
probative evidence items will be examined first. 

A. Body fluid identification – Blood Examinations 
1. A typical analysis scheme for a bloodstain may include: 

a) visual examination 

b) presumptive testing 

c) presumptive human origin testing 

d) preserve the stain, cutting or swab 

e) test for other body fluids if indicated 

2. How far the examiner proceeds in a particular case will depend on the available 
sample and on what is necessary to answer the question(s) posed. 

B. Body fluid identification – Semen Examinations 
1. When screening evidence for semen, an alternate light source can be helpful, 

especially for larger items of clothing or bedding.  An alternate light source also 
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Tweezers, scalpel, scissors, probe and other implements as necessary 
Plastic bags, paper envelopes, or appropriate evidence containers 

5 Standards and Controls 
Respective positive and negative controls will be conducted and documented as required by 
specific analytical procedures.   

6 Procedure 
6.1 Case/Evidence evaluation 

A. The results of the examinations may either implicate or exonerate a suspect 
from involvement in a crime.  Because each case is different, only guidelines 
can be prescribed; the case evaluation should include consultation with the 
investigator/prosecutor as necessary.  

B. An offense report is very helpful in assessing the probative value of the 
evidentiary material.   

C. All communications pertinent to the case evaluation must be documented.   
D. Cases should be evaluated to: 

1. Determine the quality and quantity of the evidence to be analyzed, 
2. Prevent the loss of potentially valuable information, 
3. Maximize the meaningful information obtained from the evidence, and 
4. Determine if the requested examinations can be performed with the submitted 

evidence and with the available resources. 
E. Some considerations in evaluating the evidence should include: 

1. The age of the evidence/case,  
2. The storage conditions of the samples prior to submission, 
3. Whether stain/smear samples, such as blood, semen, saliva were dried before 

submission, 
4. Whether the evidence is moldy and/or putrefied, 
5. Possible dilution of the samples, 
6. Whether weapons or other objects require fingerprinting or have been 

fingerprinted, 
7. Whether all pertinent evidence has been submitted, 
8. Whether the victim(s), suspect(s), or potential witnesses were injured, 
9. The relationship between victim(s), suspect(s), and potential witnesses, 
10. The availability and adequacy of suspect and/or victim known samples, 
11. The extent of screening required to obtain a search warrant for suspect known 

samples, 
12. The analyses that should be run if sample is limited, 
13. Possibility of sample remaining after analysis, and 
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14. Possibility and effect of cross-contamination. 
6.2 Evidence Examination 

1. For cases with a large volume of evidence (excluding sexual assault kits), a 
maximum of ten probative items of evidence should be screened.  

2. It may be necessary to consult with another qualified examiner, the Technical 
Leader, and/or the supervisor to determine the appropriate analytical approach.  
How far the examiner proceeds in a particular case will depend on the available 
sample and what is necessary to answer the question(s) posed. 

3. Retrieve evidence from evidence storage, evidence custodian or another 
examiner.  Verify that the LAB-06 Laboratory Submission Form is appropriately 
completed and a chain of custody maintained. Any changes or additions to the 
form should be initialed and dated. Identify the pertinent forensic question(s). 
Plan the approach to the case.  Evaluate the potential value of evidence relative 
to the items of evidence submitted for examination.   

4. Wear a lab coat, disposable gloves, and mask as appropriate and change as 
necessary to insure safety and to avoid contamination of evidentiary items. 

5. Clean and then cover the work surface with clean, unused paper.  
6. At all times during the examination, items from any suspect(s) are kept separate 

from those of associated victim(s). Whenever possible, items from suspect(s) 
and items from associated victim(s) are examined in different locations and/or 
times. Always keep known materials separated from the questioned materials to 
be searched. 

7. No more than one item of evidence in an unpackaged state is allowed on an 
examination table at one time unless the items were submitted in the same 
package. 

8. Note instances where packaging or handling of the evidence creates a potential 
for contamination. These instances should be brought to the attention of the 
supervisor, other involved examiners and the investigator. Such instances may 
preclude the examination of the evidence. 

9. The case number, item number and examiner initials should be labeled on the 
packaging. Open the container (avoid breaking previous seals, if possible). Mark 
inner evidence packages as encountered.   

10. Label or tag each item with unique case number and examiner initials. If the 
evidence is too small to mark, place the evidence in a package then seal and 
mark the package. Any markings and notations on the evidence should not 
interfere or obstruct forensically significant areas (e.g. bloodstains).  

11. Document the individual items of evidence. Note whether other items were 
packaged together with the selected item. Visually examine the evidence and 
document as appropriate:  

a) A description of the outer evidence packaging and condition of the 
evidence, especially relevant factors to the preservation of the biological 
material 
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